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The tragic events
of Séptemher 11,
2001 had a dramat-
ic effect on all

).S.'businesses.
On behalf of all its
employees, Nortek
extends its heart-
felt condolences to
the-

Nortek donated
over $200,000 to
the New Yor_k Ci y

'/ hether you visit a shopping mall in

the United States, live in a home in the
; Pacific Rim, work in a factory in Europe,
or visit a museum in China, the chances are good
that a product manufactured by a Nortek-owned
company will impact your environment. The quality
products you see featured on the cover and on the
inside pages of this annual report are now avail-
able in more than 80 countries around the globe.
During 2001, Nortek continued to develop
and implement a diverse brand strategy that has
propelled the enterprise to a prominent position as
one of the world’s top building products compa-
nies. As a key player in this multi-billion dollar
industry, Nortek continues to deliver on price, vari-
ety, quality and performance. With approximately
30 operating companies under its corporate
umbrella, Nortek has assembled subsidiaries in
three major lines of business that encompass cer-
tain of the broadest, fastest-growing building prod-
uct segments in the world. Well-known Nortek
brands, such as Broan® NuTone?® Variform® Napco?®

Net Sales '
ONS OF §)

EBITDA’

IONS OF §)

Westinghouse? Frigidaire® Philco? Tappan® Temtrol®
Mammoth® and Venmar® span the markets for air
conditioning and heating products, bath fans and
range hoods, and exterior and interior residential
building products inctuding windows, doors, siding
and vinyl fencing.

At the end of 2001, Nortek continued to hold
the number one position in the world in the manu-
facture of kitchen range hoods and bath fans, and
the leading position in North America for the manu-
facture of residential indoor air quality products,
custom-designed commercial HVAC equipment, and
HVAC equipment for the manufactured housing mar-
ket. In the area of vinyl siding and fencing, the
company has grown to be one of the top four pro-
ducers in North America. These are enviable mar-
ket positions that enable Nortek to build on its
many past successes and seek further growth.

Going forward through 2002 and in the
years thereafter, product diversity and branding
will continue to be central themes of Nortek’s
business vision.

Operating Earnings'
¢(MILLIONS OF 8)

1,500

750

SN ST
ZODON O

! Frigidaire$ Philco$ Tappan5 Kelvinator® and Gibson® are trademarks of White Consolidated Industries Inc. and are used under license.
" From Continuing Operations
it is suggested that the Message from the Chairman and other information in this report be read in conjunction with Nortek's reports and filings with the

Securities and Exchange Commission. This document may contain “forward-looking statements” expressly qualified in their entirety by the cautionary
statements set forth under “Forward-Looking St ” in the encl d Form 10-K.




MessagejfromithelChaisman

ﬂEAR FELLOW STOCKHOLDERS:

a | i Considering the weak economy in 2001, the cool, wet spring, which reduced
J_J demand for residential air conditioning, the continued malaise in the manufac-
tured housing industry and the tragic events of September 11, [ am very pleased with

Nortek’s results.

For the full year, Nortek results from continuing operations included net sales of
$1.86 billion, up slightly from the previous year’s results; EBITDA of $217 million, which
was on par with 2000; earnings of $34.5 million; and diluted earnings per share of $3.09.

I am also gratified to report that the Company ended the year with a strong
balance sheer that included $256 million in unrestricted cash and marketable

securities.

We also achieved other significant objectives, which included:
* Divestiture of the domestic wood-window and door operations.

* Expansion of facilities including a 445,000-square-foot facility in

Poplar Bluff, Missouri for growth of our residential air condition-
ing business and a 200,000-square-foot vinyl extrusion plant in
Fair Bluff, North Carolina.

* Expansion of our European manufacturing base with the acquisi-

tion of Senior Air Systems.
* Licensing of the widely recognized Westinghouse® brand name for residential RICHARD L.BREADY
heating and air conditioning products. Chairman &
* Refinancing of our 9 7/8% senior subordinated notes due 2004 with a new Chief Executive Officer

issue of 9 7/8% senior subordinated notes due 2011.

THREE STRONG, BALANCED OPERATING GROUPS

As 2002 dawned, Nortek remained extremely well positioned with three strong,
balanced operating groups. The Residential Building Products Group, which represented
36 percent of net sales during 2001, continued to benefit from recent product introductions
such as the Allure® and the Best by Broan® range hoods. The group is launching several new
product introductions including the GuardianPlus™ whole-house air fileration system, new
garage door operators, the Gallery series of upscale medicine cabinets, several new
versions of Best by Broan® and Rangemaster® chimney hoods and a new line of economy-

priced chimney hoods for builders.




Net Sales

Sales of Residential
Building Products
continue to benefit
from recent product
introductions such as
the Allure® and Best

by Broan® rangehoods.
The Group has leading

brand names such as
Broan? NuIone® and
GuardianPlus™
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This group also has a growing presence in market segments such as home
networking, entertainment systems and security. Also of note, our 139,000-square-foot
manufacturing facility in Xixiang, Boa'an, China is now producing wireless security systems
and radios, home network and audio/video components and garage door operators. This

off-shore manufacturing helps us to remain price competitive and to grow market share.

During the past year, the Air Conditioning and Heating Products Group
represented 34 percent of net sales. In residential markets, Nortek remains the number one
supplier of HVAC systems to the manufactured housing industry. However, we continue to
be impacted by the decline in that market, but it appears the market is close to bottoming
out. In the residential site-built market, by offering such brand names as Frigidaire?
Tappan? Philco® and Westinghouse® we have significantly increased our market share and

strengthened our replacement business.

As mentioned above, we opened a 445,000-square-foot facility
in Poplar Bluff, Missouri to manufacture residential air conditioning, heat
pumps and furnaces. Investing capital in new facilities supports NorteK’s
growth strategy and helps Nortek control costs and better respond to market

conditions.

Nortek is the top supplier in North America for custom commercial
HVAC applications. A strong sales channel and key brand names like Mammoth?
Temtrol? Ventrol? and Webco™ help make our products the number one choice of specify-

ing-engineers and architects. Even with our strong position in this market, in the fourth

quarter we began to see some softening in demand.

Variform® Napco® and Georgia-Pacific® (sold under private label) are some of
the major brand names that lead our Windows, Doors and Siding Group’s product lineup,
which contributed approximately 27 percent of net sales for the year. With multiple chan-
nels of distribution, including home centers, lumberyards, distributors, dealers and builders
of manufactured housing, Nortek has become the number three producer of vinyl siding in
North America. Operating companies in this group have benefited from lower costs which

have, in turn, reduced the cost of resin, a significant part of our product cost structure.

Kroy Building Products continues to roll out new vinyl product offerings that are
generating sales enthusiasm for vinyl decking, railing and fencing. This represents a significant
growth market for Nortek. As stated above, to accommodate growing demand, the Company

opened a new 200,000-square-foot vinyl extrusion plant in Fair Bluff, North Carolina.

DISPOSITIONS AND ACQUISITION
In September, the Company took an important action to improve overall prof-
itability when it sold two Ply Gem subsidiaries, Peachtree Doors and Windows, Inc. and

SNE Enterprises, Inc. The move was prompted by a strategic decision to exit the domestic
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Nortek’s Residential
Building Products Group
consists of companies in
the U.S., Canada, Europe
and Asia. This Group manu-
factures and distributes
built-in products primarily
for the residential new con-

struction, do-it-yourself and
professional remodeling and
renovation markets. The
principal preducts sold are
kitchen range hoods, built-

in exhaust

o
fans (such é;‘ l//\" o 3.
asbathfans
and fan, "B
heater and !
light combi-

nation units), *

E T

0 electric heaters,

indoor air quality
products, radio
intercoms and
central vacu-
um sys-
tems. It is
one of the leading
suppliers in Western
Europe, South America and
the Middie East of luxury
“Eurostyle” range hoods.
In addition, the Residential
Building
Products Group
also selis medi-
cine cabinets,
garage door
operators, HEPA
filtration sys-
tems, sur-
round-sound speaker
systems, door
chimes, residential
maifboxes, trash
compactors, iron-
ing centers, attic
and whole-house
ventilators,

T
o

ceiling fans and
bulb heaters.
The Group’s

TANNANRARRARY,
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products are sold
under such
internationally
known brand
names as: Broany
NuTone? Nautilus?
Venmar? Jensen, Best by
Broan; Rangemastery
Allure? and GuardianPlus;
among others, to distribu-
tors and dealers of electri-
cal and lighting products,
kitchen and hath
dealers, retail
home centers and
original equip-
ment manufactur-
ers (OEMSs).
Distribution is through

well-known retail channels
that include Home Depot,
Lowe’s, Menards, Sears,

and Tru-Serv, as well as
wholesalers such
as W.W.Grainger,
Hughes Supply,
Ferguson
Enterprises, and
Graybar. Products
are also private labeled for
OEWMs such as Whirlpool,
G.E., Maytag, Viking,
Wolf-Sub Zevo, Bosch and
In-Sink-Erator, t¢ name
just a few.




Operating Earnings
The HVAC Products
Group has signifi-
cantly increased
market share in the
traditional site-buil}
business by offering
brand names like
Frigidaire? Tappan®
and Philco® Nortek
recently announced

an agreement to manu-
facture and distribute
products using the
widely recognized
Westinghouse® brand

name.
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wood-window business and focus our financial and management resources on our other,
more profitable businesses. This sale generated $45 million in net cash proceeds of which
$20.5 million was used to pay down debt. The sale of these assets is consistent with our

commitment to continually review and strengthen our core businesses.

As previously mentioned, the Company acquired the Senior Air Systems (SAS)
business from a wholly owned subsidiary of Senior Ple, of Stoke-on-Trent, England. A
manufacturer of air conditioning equipment primarily for commercial markets, SAS has
been integrated into Eaton-Williams Group Limited, a UK-based Nortek operating compa-
ny. This acquisition immediately extended Eaton-Williams’ product line and added manu-
facturing capabilities that enabled us to eliminate more expensive outsourcing of certain

equipment components.

RESPONDING TO EcoNnoMIC CONDITIONS

As the economy slowed, Nortek took many prudent steps to

improve its operating efficiencies and reduce costs wherever possible.

In some businesses, we have reduced staffing levels and refrained from new

hires to better align revenues with costs. In addition, we are aggressively
managing our working capital and tightening up expenditures throughout

the Company.

One major program has been our strategic sourcing initiative that saved between
$4 and $6 million in 2001 (before costs of implementation) and should reduce costs by
more than $15 million annually when fully implemented. As part of this program, we are
continually identifying and aggregating spend categories across all operating companies and
groups to leverage the Company’s purchasing power, upgrading NorteK’s internal procure-

ment resources, and reducing cost and time-to-market by utilizing e-procurement tools.

Nortek’s long-term strategic financial position was also strengthened during the
year when the Company sold $250 million principal amount of 9 7/8% senior subordinated
notes due 2011. The net proceeds of the offering were approximately $242 million. Nortek
used $215 million of the proceeds to redeem its outstanding 9 7/8% senior subordinared
notes that were due in 2004. The remaining net proceeds are being used to augment work-

ing capital and for other general corporate purposes.

LOOKING AHEAD
While many segments of the U.S. economy have been significantly impacted by
the recession, the site-built residential housing market has proven to be much more resilient
than most analysts had expected. In fact, existing home sales during 2001 exceeded 5.2
million units, the highest total on record. New home sales also came in at a record level of
approximately 900,000 units. Housing starts, another important barometer, grew to 1.6

million units.
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The Air Conditioning and
Heating Products Group
manufactures and sells
heating, ventilating and air
conditioning systems
{“HVAC”) for custom-
designed commercial
appiications and for
residential, light com-
mercial and manufac-
tured housing.

This Group's commer-
cial products consist of
HVAC systems, which are
custom-designed to meet
customer specifications for
offices, manufacturing

and educational facilities,
hospitals, retail stores and
governmental buildings.
Such systems are primarily
designed to operate en
building rooftops or on indi-
vidual fioors within a build-
ing. This Group’s products
are marketed under the

Governair® Mammoth?
Temtrol? Aston, Venmar®
Yentrol? and Webco™ brand
names. in Westem Europe,
some of this Group's prod-
ucts are marketed under
the Vapacy Colman,
Moducel, Cubit? Qualitair®
"+, and Edenaire® brand-
o names. The

Group’s com-
mercial prod-
ucts are market-
ed through
independently
owned manufac-
turers’ represen-
tatives and an
in-house sales,

marketing and engineering
Eroup, primarily to contrac-
tors, owners and developers
of facilities.

BTE TR

This Group’s resadentsaﬁ
products include air condi-
tioners, heat pumps and fur-
naces for the residentiai
and light commercial mar-
kets. For site-built homes

and light commercial struc-
tures, the Group markets
its products under the
licensed names of Gibson?*
Kelvinator? Tappan® Philco?
Frigidaire? and most recent-
ly Westinghouse® Resident-
ial HVAC products for use in
site-buiit homes are sold
through independentiy
owned distributors
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who sell to HVAC con-
tractors. {n the manu-
factured housing mar-
kets, the Group mar-
kets its products under
the intertherm® and
Miller® brand names.
This Group seils its
manufactured homes
products to builders of
manufactured housing
and through distributors to
manufactured housing
retailers and consumers.
The after-market channel
of distribution inciudes
sales of both new and
replacement air cendition-
ing units and heat pumps
and replacement furnaces.
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Segment Assets
The Windows, Doors
and Siding Products
Group continues to
introduce new vinyl
product offerings. In
2001 the Company
opened a new 200,000~
square-foot vinyl

extrusion plant.
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Additionally, the remodeling industry, which is closely tied to Nortek’s opera-
tions, remains solid with strong backlogs being reported by large contractors. As the econo-

my improves, there is a potential for incremental business during 2002.

Demographic trends also point to housing as a preferred investment over other
financial vehicles that have proven more volatile in a shifting economy. The so-called “nest-
o, ) . )
ing instinct,” to which I have referred on past occasions, appears to remain strong across
North America. Also, homeowners continue to choose larger homes with more amenities

and more Nortek products.

Although last year’s results did not equal the record level of sales and profit
recorded in 2000, I believe our Company is stronger than ever. We sell many of the best
brands in the world in our markets. We have excellent quality and favorable pricing. We
have multiple channels of distribution. We have a pipeline filled with ideas for
exciting new products. Lastly, we have veteran leadership in place to optimize
future performance. Additionally, the revenues in the first two months of

2002 indicate a first-quarter performance above last year’s.

In closing, I would like to pay tribute to Mr. Richard J. Harris,
who recently retired as Senior Vice President-Administration. Mr. Harris has
served Nortek as a loyal and dedicated employee for nearly 30 years, and fortu-

nately will continue as a valuable member of the Nortek Board of Directors.

And finally, I would like to personally thank the approximate 10,000 Nortek
employees who have worked diligently to help our company grow and prosper. Without
their efforts, our success would not be possible. I look forward to updating you several times

during the remainder of 2002.
Sincerely yours,

Lt 716

Richard L. Bready
Chairman and Chief Execurtive Officer
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The Company alsc manufac-
tures, through these groups,
additional products that
complement or enhance the
core product offerings.
These Iinciude a full range of

sophisticated and effective
security systems for homes,
telephone entry systems,
smoke and fire-detection
systems and medicai-
emergency products. The
Company manufactures inte-
grated home networking
products to provide video,
voice and data networking

for the entire
home, as well as
infrared remote
control systems
for extending
control of VCR,
cable, satellite
and stereo
systems to muitiple rooms
for additionai convenience.
Gourmet
cooking
ranges,

vidually by hand, are buiit
exclusively to order
and have a reputa-
tion for beauty and
excelience.
Additional products
include a complete
line of specialty sid-
ing components
including mounting

crafted indi-

blocks, gable
M vents and dryer
vents, designed to
match most of
the available vinyi
siding colors.

The Company’s diverse prod-
uct offerings span the mar-
kets for air conditioning and
heating products, bath fans
and range hoods, and exteri-
or and interior residential
building products inciuding

windows, doors, siding and
vinyl fencing. The Company
is focused on strategically
branding within these mar-
kets and on continuing to
expand the market share of
each product group through
new-product deveiopment,
product-line extension,
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improving margins on its
products through technologi-
cal innovation, product dif-
ferentiation, cost efficiency,
customer service and atten-
tion to quality. The Company
has a spirit of innovation to
create simpler, better, longer
tasting, more energy-effi-
cient products, and has buiit
a reputation of trust and
quality with thousands of
builders, distributors, retail-
ers and consumers. This
ability to provide service
excelience and value,
superior product design and
guality in our products will
ensure the Company’s con-
tinued success as it works
to improve the comfort,
security, convenience, air
quality and value of homes
and workplaces everywhere.
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NORTEK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
December 31, 2001

PART |
ITEM 1. BUSINESS

General

The Company is a diversified manufacturer of residential and commercial building products, operating within three principal
segments: the Residential Building Products Segment; the Air Conditioning and Heating Products Segment; and the Windows,
Doors and Siding Products Segment. Through these segments, the Company manufactures and sells, primarily in the United
States, Canada and Europe, a wide variety of products for the residential and commercial construction, manufactured housing,
and the do-it-yourself (“DIY”) and professional remodeling and renovation markets. As used in this report, the terms “Company”
and “Nortek” refer to Nortek, Inc., together with its subsidiaries, unless the context indicates otherwise. Such terms as
“Company” and “Nortek” are used for convenience only and are not intended as a precise description of any of the separate cor-
porations, each of which manages its own affairs.

The Company’s performance is dependent to a significant extent upon the levels of residential replacement and remodeling, new
residential construction and non-residential construction, which are affected by such factors as interest rates, inflation, seasonality,
consumer spending habits and unemployment.

In 2001, the Company sold certain subsidiaries of its wholly-owned subsidiary, Ply Gem Industries, Inc. (“Ply Gem”). The sale of
these subsidiaries and their related operating results have been excluded from earnings from continuing operations and are classi-
fied as discontinued operations for all periods presented. See Notes 1 and 9 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements, Item 8 of part II of this report, incorporated herein by reference.

Additional information concerning the Company’s business is set forth in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condidon and Results of Operations, Item 7 of Part II of this report, incorporated herein by reference. Information on foreign
and domestic operations is set forth in Note 10 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, Item 8 of Part II of this
report, incorporated herein by reference.

Residential Building Products Segment

The Residential Building Products Segment manufactures and distributes built-in products primarily for the residential new con-
struction, DIY and professional remodeling and renovation markets. The principal products sold by the Segment are kitchen range
hoods, built-in exhaust fans (such as bath fans and fan, heater and light combination units), indoor air quality products, bath cab-
inets, radio intercoms and central vacuum systems. The Segment is the largest supplier in North America of range hoods, bath
fans and combination units, indoor air quality products (such as continuous-ventilation systems and energy-recovery ventilators)
and one of the leading suppliers in Western Europe, South America and the Middle East of luxury “Eurostyle” range hoods.
Products are sold under the Broan® NuTone® Nautilus® Venmar® vanEE® and Best® brand names, among others, to distributors
and dealers of electrical and lighting products, kitchen and bath dealers, retail home centers and original equipment manufactur-
ers (OEMs). Customers for the Segment’s products include residential and electrical contractors, professional remodelers and do-
it-yourself homeowners. Other products sold by this Segment include, among others, door chimes, trash compactors, attic and
whole house ventilators, air quality and HEPA filtration systems, ceiling fans, as well as, wireless security products, surround sound
speaker systems, multi-room video distribution equipment and infrared control equipment (marketed under the Linear® Channel
Plus® Open House® and Xantech® brand names). This segment also manufactures and markets premium, hand crafted cooking
ranges and accessories under the La Cornue name. The Company’s sales of kitchen range hoods and exhaust fans accounted for
approximately 11.8% and 11.9%, respectively, of the Company’s consolidated net sales in 2001, 11.7% and 11.3%, respectively, of
the Company’s consolidated net sales in 2000 and 12.1% and 12.5%, respectively, of the Company’s consolidated net sales in 1999.

A key component of the Segment’s operating strategy is the introduction of new products which capitalize on the strong Broan®
NuTone? Nautilus? Venmar® vanEE® and Best® brand names and the extensive distribution system of the Segment’s businesses.
Products sold under these brand names include the Broan Allure® and Rangemaster® range hoods, Sensaire?® Solitaire® and
Solitaire Ultra Silent® fans and fan lights, LoSone Select® fans, Best by Broan® “Eurostyle” luxury range hoods, the Venmar®

Guardian Plus™ Air Systems and vanEE® Super Compact line of indoor air quality systems, NuTone SenSonic™ stereo speakers,
Whispaire® range hoods and the Broan 12" wide trash compactor.
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With respect to certain product lines, several private label customers account for a substantial portion of net sales. In 2001,
approximately 19.9% of the total sales of the Segment was made to private label customers.

Production generally consists of fabrication from coil and sheet steel and formed metal utilizing stamping, pressing and welding
methods, assembly with components and subassemblies purchased from outside sources (motors, fan blades, heating elements,
wiring harnesses, controlling devices, glass, mirrors, lighting fixtures, lumber, wood and polyethylene components, speakers,
grilles and similar electronic components, and compact disc and tape player mechanisms) and painting, finishing and packag-
ing. See the discussion on Raw Materials under General Considerations below.

The Segment offers a broad array of products with various features and styles across a range of price points. The Company
believes that the Segment’s variety of product offerings helps the Segment maintain and improve its market position for its prin-
cipal products. At the same time, the Company believes that the Segment’s status as a low-cost producer, in large part as a result
of advanced manufacturing processes, provides the Segment with a competitive advantage.

The Segment’s primary products compete with many domestic and international suppliers in their various markets. The Segment
competes with suppliers of competitive products primarily on the basis of quality, distribution, delivery and price. Although the
Segment believes it competes favorably among other suppliers of the Segment’s products, certain of these suppliers have greater
financial and marketing resources than the Segment.

The Segment had 17 manufacturing plants and employed approximately 3,700 full-time people as of December 31, 2001, 352
of whom are covered by collective bargaining agreements which expire in 2002 and 2003 and 690 of whom are covered by col-
lective bargaining agreements which expire in 2004 and 2005. The Company believes that the Segment’s relationships wich its
employees are satisfactory.

Air Conditioning and Heating Products Segment

The Air Conditioning and Heating Products Segment manufactures and distributes heating, ventilating and air conditioning
systems and products (“HVAC”) for custom-designed commercial applications and for residential, light commercial and manu-
factured structures.

Commercial Products

The Segment’s commercial products consist of HVAC systems which are custom-designed to meet customer specifications for
commercial offices, manufacruring and educational facilities, hospitals, retail stores and governmental buildings. Such systems
are primarily designed to operate on building rooftops (including large self-contained walk-in-units) or on individual floors with-
in a building, and range from 40 to 600 tons of cooling capacity. The Segment markets its commercial products under the
Governair® Mammoth® Temtrol® Aston, Venmar? Ventrol® and Webco™ brand names.

The market for commercial HVAC equipment is segmented between standard and custom-designed equipment. Standard equip-
ment can be manufactured at a lower cost and therefore offered at substantially lower initial prices than custom-designed equip-
ment. As a result, suppliers of standard equipment generally have a larger share of the overall commercial HVAC market than
suppliers of custom-designed equipment, including the Segment. However, because of certain building designs, shapes or other
characteristics, the Company believes there are many applications for which custom-designed equipment is required or is more
cost effective over the life of the building. Unlike standard equipment, the Segment’s commercial HVAC equipment can be
designed to match the exact space, capacity and performance requirements of the customer. The Segment’s packaged rooftop and
self-contained walk-in equipment rooms maximize a building’s rentable floor space because they are located outside the build-
ing. In addition, factors relating to the manner of construction and timing of installation of commercial HVAC equipment can
often favor custom-designed rather than standard systems. As compared with site-built and factory built HVAC systems, the
Segmen’s systems are factory assembled according to customer specifications and then installed by the customer or third parties,
rather than assembled on site, permitting extensive testing prior to shipment. As a result, the Segment’s commercial systems can
be installed later in the construction process than site-built systems, thereby saving the owner or developer construction and labor
costs. The Segment sells its commercial products primarily to contractors, owners and developers of commercial office buildings,
manufacturing and educational facilities, hospitals, retail stores and governmental buildings. The Segment seeks to maintain
strong relationships nationwide with design engineers, owners and developers, and the persons who are most likely to value the

benefits and long-term cost efficiencies of the Segment’s custom-designed equipment.
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The Company estimates that about one-third of the Segment’s commercial sales in 2001 were attributable to replacement and retro-
fit activity, which typically is less cyclical than new construction activity and generally commands higher margins. The Segment con-
tinues to develop product and marketing programs to increase penetration in the growing replacement and retrofit market.

The Segment’s commercial products are marketed through independently-owned manufacturers’ representatives and approxi-
mately 235 sales, marketing and engineering professionals as of December 31, 2001. The independent representatives are typical-
ly HVAC engineers, a factor which is significant in marketing the Segment’s commercial products because of the design intensive
nature of the market segment in which the Segment competes.

The Company believes that the Segment is among the largest suppliers of custom-designed commercial HVAC products in the
United States. The Segment’s three largest competitors in the commercial HVAC market are Carrier Corporation, McQuay
International (a subsidiary of OYL Corporaticn), and The Trane Company (a subsidiary of American Standard Inc.). The
Segment competes primarily on the basis of engineering support, quality, flexibility in design and construction and total installed
system cost. Although the Company believes that the Segment competes favorably with respect to certain of these factors, most
of the Segment’s competitors have greater financial and marketing resources than the Segment and enjoy greater brand aware-
ness. However, the Company believes that the Segment’s ability to produce equipment that meets the performance characteris-
tics required by the particular product application provides it with advantages not enjoyed by certain of these competitors.

The Company’s subsidiary Eaton-Williams Group Limited (“Eaton-Williams”) manufactures and markets custom and standard
air conditoning and humidification equipment throughout Western Europe under the Vapac? Cubit® Qualitair® Edenaire?
Colman™ and Moducel™ brand names.

Residential Products

The Segment manufactures air conditioners, heat pumps and furnaces for the residential and light commercial markets. For site-
built homes and light commercial structures, the Segment markets its products under the licensed names, Frigidaire? Tappan?
Philco® Kelvinator? Gibson® and, beginning in 2002, Westinghouse® Within the residential market, the Segment is one of the
largest suppliers of these products for manufactured homes in the United States and Canada. In the manufactured housing mar-
ket, the Segment markets its products under the Intertherm® and Miller® brand names.

The principal factors affecting the market for the Segment’s residential HVAC products are the demand for replacement and mod-
ernization of existing equipment and the levels of manufactured housing shipments and housing starts. The Company anticipates
that the replacement market will continue to expand as a large number of previously installed heating and cooling products become
outdated or reach the end of their useful lives. This growth may be accelerated by a tendency among consumers to replace older
heating and cooling products with higher efficiency models prior to the end of such equipment’s useful life. The market for resi-
dential cooling products, including those sold by the Segment, is affected by spring and summer temperatures. The Segment does
not sell window air conditioners, a segment of the market which is highly seasonal and significantly impacted by spring and sum-
mer temperatures. The Company believes that the Segment’s ability to offer both heating and cooling products helps offset the
effects of seasonality of the Segment’s sales.

The Segment sells its manufactured housing products to builders of manufactured housing and through distributors, to manu-
factured housing retailers and owners of such housing. The majority of sales to builders of manufactured housing consist of fur-
naces designed and engineered to meet or exceed certain standards mandarted by federal agencies, including HUD. These standards
differ in several important respects from the standards for furnaces used in site-built residential homes. The after market channel
of distribution includes sales of both new and replacement air conditoning units and heat pumps and replacement furnaces. The
Company believes that the Segment has one major competitor in the furnace segment of this market, York International
Corporation, which markets its products primarily under the Coleman name. The Segment competes with most major industry
manufaceurers for the air conditioning segment of the marker.

Residential HVAC products for use in site-built homes are sold through independently-owned distributors who sell to HVAC con-
tractors. The site-built residential HVAC market is very competitive. In this market, the Segment competes with, among others,

Carrier Corporation, Rheem Manufacturing Company, Lennox Industries, The Trane Company, York International Corporation
and Goodman Manufacturing. The Segment competes in both the manufactured housing and site-built markets on the basis of
breadth and quality of its product line, distribution, product availability and price. Although the Company believes that the
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Segment competes favorably with respect to certain of these factors, most of the Segment’s competitors have greater financial and
marketing resources than the Segment and enjoy greater brand awareness.

The Company estimates that more than half of the Segment’s sales of residential HVAC products in 2001 were attributable to
the replacement market, which tends to be less cyclical than the new construction market.

The Segment had 15 manufacturing plants and employed approximately 3,400 full-time people as of December 31, 2001, 193
of whom are covered by a collective bargaining agreement which expires in 2005. The Company believes that the Segment’s rela-
tionships with its employees are satisfactory.

Windows, Doors and Siding Products Segment

The Windows, Doors and Siding Products Segment, principally manufactures and distributes, for use in the residential construc-
tion, DIY and professional renovation markets: (i) vinyl siding, skirting, soffit and accessories, (ii) vinyl and composite windows,
(iii) vinyl patio and steel entry doors, (iv) vinyl blocks, vents, shutters, sunrooms, fencing, railing and decking and (v) aluminum
trim coil, soffit and accessories. The Company’s sales of siding and skirting products accounted for approximately 15.3%, 15.1%
and 13.4% of the Company’s consolidated net sales in 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively. The Segment competes with many other
manufacturers in the sale of its products. Several of the Segment’s competitors have greater financial and marketing resources than
the Segment.

Windows and Doors

The Segment manufactures and sells wood, clad and vinyl windows and patio doors, steel entry doors, skylights, and sunrooms
under the Great Lakes Gold,” PLY GEM,” Uniframe® Monitor; Napco® Napco® Premium, Napco® Prime Series, Thermal-Gard®
CWD;" Ambassador,™ Regency,” Diplomat,™ Envoy™ and Consul™ brand names. The products are marketed to both the home
improvement and new construction markets through wholesale, millwork and specialty distributors, large contractors, home
centers and lumber yards.

The Segment differendiates itself from its competition with a multiple brand strategy, multiple channels of distribution, an estab-
lished distribution network utilizing custom design and manufacturing capabilicies and a trained field sales and service support
network. The Segment’s ability to offer a broad product line is also important to the Segment’s sales and marketing strategy.

Siding and Exterior Products

The Segment also manufactures vinyl siding, skirting, soffit and accessories, aluminum trim coil, soffit and accessories and vinyl
fencing, railing and decking. These products are available in a variety of colors and/or woodgrains. Aluminum trim coil is a prod-
uct thart is used to cover wood products on the exterior areas of a home in which there is no vinyl substitute available. The
Segments products are used in both remodeling and new construction applications, including manufactured housing and light
commercial. Vinyl siding’s share of the overall exterior market continues to grow due to its low maintenance, durability, high
performance and ease of installation compared to alternative siding materials (including wood, metal and masonry). The
Segment’s products are marketed under the Variform? Timber Oak® Varigrain Preferred® Camden Pointe® Victoria Harbor?
Duragrain? Hampton III® Contractors Choice® Nostalgia Series® Varitek® Varibest® Pro Guard® Chateau® Chateau Legacy?
Chateau Nobility? Napco® Monticello® American Tradition,™ American Splendor® American Herald® American ‘76 Collection®
Sunnybrook® Olde Providence? Richwood® Kroy® Timberlast® and Classic Manor® brand names.

Vinyl siding and accessories are sold to specialty distributors (one-step distribution) who, in turn, sell directly to remodeling con-
tractors and builders, or to wholesale distributors of building materials (two-step distribution), who sell to home centers and
lumberyards who, in turn, sell to remodeling contractors, builders and consumers. The Company believes that it is able to com-
pete on favorable terms as a result of its distribution coverage, high quality, innovative products and production efficiency.

The Segment also manufactures a line of injection molded siding components for the remodeling and new construction mar-
kets. Siding components include blocks, which allow for the flush mounting of items like light fixtures to the exterior of a home,
and gable vents that provide attic ventilation. These products are sold to home centers, lumberyards and wholesale distributors

of building materials.
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The Segment operates 13 manufacturing plants and employed approximately 2,500 full-time people as of December 31, 2001,
326 of whom are covered by collective bargaining agreements which expire in 2003 and 2005. The Company believes that the
Segment’s relationships with its employees are satisfactory.

Other Operations

The Company manufactures and distributes preservative and fire retardant treated lumber and plywood products. These products
are marketed to cooperative buying groups, lumberyards and independent wholesale distributors for use in mainly commercial
applications such as stores, office buildings, hospitals, utility buildings, hotels, recreation facilities and schools, and are also mar-
keted 1o original equipment manufacturers such as boat manufacturers.

GENERAL CONSIDERATIONS

Employees
The Company employed approximately 9,900 persons at December 31, 2001.

Backlog

Backlog expected to be filled during 2002 was approximately $179,500,000 at December 31, 2001 ($185,400,000 at December
31, 2000). Backlog is not regarded as a significant factor for operations where orders are generally for prompt delivery. While
backlog stated for December 31, 2001 is believed to be firm, the possibility of cancellations makes it difficult o assess the firm-
ness of backlog with certainty.

Research and Development

The Company’s research and development activities are principally new product development and represent approximately 1.1%,
1.0% and 1.0% of the Company’s consolidated net sales in 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

Patents and Trademarks

The Company holds numerous design and process patents that it considers important, but no single patent is material to the
overall conduct of its business. It is the Company’s policy to obtain and protect patents whenever such action would be benefi-
cial to the Company. The Company owns or licenses numerous trademarks that it considers material to the marketing of its
products, including Broan? NuTone® Nautilus® Venmar® Guardian Plus™ Air Systems, vanEE? Best? Variform? Timber Oak?
Varigrain Preferred? Camden Pointe® Victoria Harbor® Duragrain® Hampton III® Contractors Choice?® Nostalgia Series®
Varitek® Varibest® Pro Guard® Chateau® Chateau Legacy? Chateau Nobility® Napco?® Durabuilt® Monticello? American
Splendor? American Herald® American ‘76 Collection® Sunnybrook® Olde Providence? Richwood?® Kroy? Timberlast® Classic
Manor® Great Lakes Gold” PLY GEM[* Uniframe® Monitor,” Napco® Premium, Napco® Prime Series, Thermal-Gard® CWD
Ambassador,” Regency” Diplomat,” Envoy™ Consul;” Governair® Mammoth? Temtrol? Miller® Intertherm® Frigidaire?
Tappan® Philco? Kelvinator® Gibson? Westinghouse? Ventrol® Webco,™ Vapac® Cubit® Qualitair? Edenaire? Linear® Channel
Plus® and Xantech? The Company believes that its rights in these trademarks are adequately protected.

Raw Materials

The Company purchases raw materials and most components used in its various manufacturing processes. The principal raw
materials purchased by the Company are rolled sheet, formed and galvanized steel, copper, aluminum, plate mirror glass, PVC,
polypropylene, glass, vinyl extrusions, particle board, fiberboard, lumber, plywood, various chemicals, paints, resins, and plastics.

The materials, molds and dyes, subassemblies and components purchased from other manufacturers, and other materials and sup-
plies used in manufacturing processes have generally been available from a variety of sources. Whenever practical, the Company
establishes multiple sources for the purchase of raw materials and components to achieve competitive pricing, ensure flexibility and
protect against supply disruption. In 2001, the Company instituted a Company wide material procurement strategy designed to
reduce the purchase price of raw materials and purchased components. During 2001, the Company estimates that it has realized
between approximately $4,000,000 and $6,000,000, before implementation costs, of lower cost of sales related to the Company’s
material procurement strategy. This strategy is expected to result in approximately $15,000,000 in annualized savings when fully
implemented. See Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, Item 7 of Part IT of

this report, incorporated herein by reference. From time to time increases in raw material costs can affect future supply availabil-
ity due in part to raw material demands by other industries.
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On March 3, 2002, the United States government imposed tariffs and quotas on a wide range of steel imports for a three-year
period. Many of the Company’s products are made from steel or contain steel parts. While the Company has certain contracts
in place which set the price of steel purchases, not all purchases are covered by contract and the contracts do not extend through
the period the quotas and tariffs are imposed. Should price increases result from the imposition of these quotas and tariffs, gross
margins, net income and cash flows of the Company could decline.

Working Capital

The carrying of inventories to support customers and to permit prompt delivery of finished goods requires substantial working
capital. Substantial working capital is also required to carry receivables. The Company expects increases in working capital lev-
els in the year 2002 as its distribution of HVAC residential site-built products continues to expand in the Air Conditioning and
Heating Products Segment. The demand for the Company’s products is seasonal, particularly in the Northeast and Midwest
regions of the United States and in Canada where inclement weather during the winter months usually reduces the level of build-
ing and remodeling activity in both the home improvement and new construction markets. Many of the businesses in the
Company’s Windows, Doors and Siding Products Segment have in the past been more seasonal in nature than the Company’s
other businesses. As a result, the demnand for working capirtal of the Company’s subsidiaries is greater from late in the first quar-
ter until early in the fourth quarter. See “Liquidity and Capital Resources” in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations, incorporated herein by reference.

Executive Officers of the Registrant

Name Age Position

Richard L. Bready 57 Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer

Almon C. Hall 55 Vice President, Controller and

Chief Accounting Officer

Edward J. Cooney 54 Treasurer

Kevin W. Donnelly 47 Vice President, General

Counsel and Secretary

The Executive Officers have served in the same or substantially similar executive positions with the Company for at least the past
five years, except for Edward ]. Cooney, who served as Senior Vice President-Chief Financial Officer and Executive Vice President
Sales and Marketing at Amtrol Inc. and most recently, Chief Financial Officer at Speidel Inc. prior to joining the Company in
August 2001. Executive Officers are elected annually by the Board of Directors of the Company and serve until their successors
are chosen and qualified. Mr. Bready has an employment agreement with the Company entered into in 1998 providing for his
employment as Chief Executive Officer through January 1, 2003, and that at the end of each year during the term of his employ-
ment the agreement will be extended for an additional year until either party gives notice it will not be further extended. The
Company’s executive officers include only those officers of the Company who perform policy-making functions for the Company
as a whole and have managerial responsibility for major aspects of the Company’s overall operations. A number of other indi-
viduals who serve as officers of the Company’s subsidiaries perform policy-making functions and have managerial responsibili-
ties for the subsidiary or division by which they are employed, although not for the Company overall. Certain of these individ-
uals could, depending on earnings of such unit, be more highly compensated than some executive officers of the Company.

On August 22, 2001, Nortek, Inc. announced the appointment of Edward J. Cooney as Treasurer of the Company. Mr. Cooney
assumed the position of Treasurer from Richard J. Harris.



ITEM 2. PROPERTIES
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Set forth below is a brief description of the location and general character of the principal administrative and manufacturing facili-

ties and other material real properties of the Company, all of which the Company considers to be in satisfactory repair. All proper-

ties are owned, except for those indicated by an asterisk, which are leased under operating leases and those with a double asterisk,

which are leased under capital leases.

Location

Description

Approximate
Square Feet

Residential Building Products Segment:

Union, IL

Hartford, WI

Mississauga, ONT, Canada
Brea, CA

Sylmar, CA

Xixiang, Boa'an, PRC
Fabriano, Italy

Cerreto D’Esi, Italy
Montefano, Italy

Cleburne, TX

Los Angeles, CA
Drummondville, QUE, Canada
Cincinnati, OH

Saint-Ouen ’Aumone, France

Manufacturing/Warehouse/Administrative
Manufacturing/Warehouse/Administrative

Manufacturing/Administrative
Warehouse/Administrative
Manufacturing/Administrative
Manufacturing
Manufacturing/Administrative
Manufacturing/Administrative
Manufacturing/Administrative
Manufacturing/Administrative
Manufacturing/Administrative
Manufacturing/Administrative
Manufacturing
Manufacturing/Administrative

Air Conditioning and Heating Products Segment:
St. Leonard d’Aston, QUE, Canada Manufacturing/Administrative

O’Fallon, MO

St. Peters, MO

St. Louis, MO

St. Louis, MO
Boonville, MO
Tipton, MO

Poplar Bluff, MO
Chaska, MN
Oklahoma City, OK
Okarche, OK
Saskatoon, Canada
Springfield, MO
Montreal, QUE, Canada
Edenbridge, U.K.
Fenton, Stoke, U.K.

‘Warehouse/Administrative
Warehouse/Administrative
Manufacturing

Manufacturing
Manufacturing
Manufacturing
Manufacturing
Manufacturing/Administrative
Manufacturing/Administrative
Manufacturing/Administrative
Manufacturing

Manufacturing

Manufacturing
Manufacturing

Manufacturing/Administrative

197,000 (1)
498,000
110,000 (1)
34,000*
35,000*
139,000*
104,000
140,000
84,000
210,000
177,000
76,000
836,000
31,000"

95,000*
70,000%
250,000%
214,000
103,000*
250,000
50,000
445,0007%(1)
230,000*
127,000
210,000
49,000 (1)
77,000*
122,000
93,000* (1)
104,000*
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Description

Approximate
Square Feet

Windows, Doors and Siding Products Segment:

Calgary, Alberta, Canada Manufacturing/Administrative 301,000
Toledo, OH Manufacturing/Warchouse/Administrative 301,000 (1)
Kearney, MO Manufacturing/Administrative 175,000 (1)
Martinsburg, WV Manufacturing 163,000 (1)
Jasper, TN Manufacturing 270,0007%(1)
Butler, PA Manufacturing 110,000 (1)
York, NE Manufacturing/Administrative 94,000 (1)
Fair Bluff, NC Manufacturing/Administrative 200,000 (1)
Sarver, PA Manufacturing 119,000 (1)
Valencia, PA Manufacturing 175,000 (1)
Punxsutawney, PA Manufacturing/Administrative 133,000
QOther:

Pine Bluff, AR Manufacturing 35 Acres
Thomson, GA Manufacturing 29 Acres
Milford, VA Manufacturing 45 Acres
Detroit, MI Manufacturing 10 Acres
Providence, RI Administrative 23,900*

(1) These facilities are pledged as security under various subsidiary debt agreements. (See Note 5 of the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements, Item 8 of Part IT of this report, incorporated herein by reference).

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Company and its subsidiaries are subject to numerous federal, state and local laws and regulations, including environmental
laws and regulations that impose limitations on the discharge of pollutants into the air and water and establish standards for the
treatment, storage and disposal of solid and hazardous wastes. The Company believes that it is in substantial compliance with the
material laws and regulations applicable to it. The Company is involved in current, and may become involved in future, remedi-
al actions under federal and state environmental laws and regulations which impose liability on companies to clean up, or con-
tribute to the cost of cleaning up, sites at which their hazardous wastes or materials were disposed of or released. Such claims may
relate to properties or business lines acquired by the Company after a release has occurred. In other instances, the Company may
be partially liable under law or contract to other parties that have acquired businesses or assets from the Company for past prac-
tices relating to hazardous substances management. The Company believes that all such claims asserted against it, or such obliga-
tions incurred by it, will not have a material adverse effect upon the Company’s financial condition or results of operations.
Expenditures in 2000 and 2001 to evaluate and remediate such sites were not material. However, the Company is presently unable
to estimate accurately its ultimate financial exposure in connection with identified or yet to be identified remedial actions due
among other reasons to: (i) uncertainties surrounding the nature and application of environmental regulations, (ii) the Company’s
lack of information about additional sites to which it may be listed as a potentially responsible party (“PRP”), (iii} the level of clean-
up that may be required at specific sites and choices concerning the technologies to be applied in corrective actions and (iv) the
time periods over which remediation may occur. Furthermore, since liability for site remediation is joint and several, each PRP is
potentially wholly liable for other PRP’s that become insolvent or bankrupt. Thus, the solvency of other PRP’s could direcly affect
the Company’s ultimate aggregate clean-up costs. In certain circumstances, the Company’s liability for clean-up costs may be cov-
ered in whole or in part by insurance or indemnification obligations of third parties.

A subsidiary of the Company is a defendant in a number of lawsuits alleging damage caused by alleged defects in certain pressure
treated wood products. Many of the suits have been resolved by dismissal or settlement with amounts being paid out of insurance
proceeds or other third party recoveries. The subsidiary continues to vigorously defend the remaining suits. Cerrain defense and
indemnity costs are being paid out of insurance proceeds and proceeds from a settlement with suppliers of material used in the pro-
duction of the treated wood products. The subsidiary has engaged in coverage litigation with certain insurers and has settled cover-
age claims with several of the insurers. The Company believes that the remaining coverage disputes will be resolved on a satisfacro-
ry basis and additional coverage will be available. In reaching this belief, the Company analyzed insurance coverage and the status
of the coverage litigation, considered the history of settlements with primary and excess insurers and consulted with counsel.

9
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Nortek and its subsidiary MPDC, Inc. (“MPDC”) have been named, among a number of other defendants, in multiple lawsuits
involving a commercial airline fatal accident (most of the lawsuits have been consolidated in the U.S. District Court for the
Northern District of California, Civil Action No. MDL C 00-1343 CAL). Other defendants include the airline, the aircraft manu-
facturer and providers of maintenance supplies. The lawsuits allege that Nortek and MPDC manufactured and supplied a com-
ponent assembly originally installed in the MD-83 aircraft involved in the accident. Nortek denies any involvement in the accident
or with any component part of the aircraft and believes it should be dismissed from the lawsuits. MPDC denies any involvement
in the design, specification, installation or maintenance of the component assembly. While MPDC did machine component assem-
blies of the type involved, the work was done to the exact design, material and engineering specifications of the aircraft manufac-
turer. To the Company’s knowledge, the investigation to date by the National Transportation Safety Board has not identified any
deficiency in the manufacture of the component assembly. Although there can be no assurance, the Company believes that its lia-
bility, if any, with respect to this litigation will not have a material adverse effect on its financial position or results of operations
based upon information available to date and aircraft products liability insurance coverage.

In addition to the legal matters described above, the Company and its subsidiaries are named as defendants in 2 number of legal
proceedings, including a number of product liability lawsuits, incident to the conduct of their businesses.

The Company does not expect that any of the above described proceedings will have a material adverse effect, either individual-
ly or in the aggregate, on the Company’s financial position, results of operations, liquidity or competitive position. (See Note 8
of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, Item 8 of Part II of this report, incorporated herein by reference.)

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS
Not applicable.

PART [l

ITERM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON STCCK AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Stockholders of record of Nortek Common and Special Common Stock at February 22, 2002, numbered 2,355 and 1,998,
respectively. There were no dividends declared on the Common and Special Common Stock in 2001 or 2000. The high and low
sales prices of Nortek’s Common Stock traded on the New York Stock Exchange in each quarter of 2001 and 2000 were:

2001 2000

Quarter High Low Quarter High Low
First $30.50 $22.13 First $28.81 $19.69
Second 31.83 26.18 Second 25.44 18.25
Third 34.20 20.30 Third 22.00 17.06
Fourth 27.90 19.80 Fourth 26.00 14.50

See Note 6 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, Item 8 of Part II of this report, incorporated herein by reference.
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ITEM 6. CONSOLIDATED SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

For the Five Years Ended December 31,

2001 2000 1939 1938 1997

Consolidated Summary of Operations: {(In millions except ratios and per share amounts)
Net sales $1,855.5 $1,853.1 $1,671.5 $1,482.5 $1,034.1
Operating earnings 157.2 165.6 184.7 141.3 85.9
Gain on Businesses sold — _ _— 4.0 _
Earnings from continuing operations 34.5 41.7 53.3 39.3 28.3
Loss from discontinued operations (22.9) (0.1) (4.0) (4.1) (7.1)
Extraordinary loss from debt retirement (3.6) _ _ (0.2) _
Net earnings 8.0 41.6 49.3 35.0 21.2
Financial Position:
Unrestricted cash, investments and marketable securities  $ 255.8 $ 139.0 $ 1116 $ 206.5 $ 161.1
Working capital 376.2 409.6 377.6 366.8 376.7
Total assets 1,829.9 1,836.8 1,791.4 1,685.8 1,319.5
Total debt—

Current 64.5 21.4 14.0 17.7 17.7

Long-term 990.8 1,020.3 1,023.6 1,007.1 835.8
Current ratio 2.0:1 2.2:1 2.1:1 2.1:1 2.3:1
Debt to equity ratio 3.9:1 3.7:1 4.0:1 4.7:1 6.7:1
Depreciation and amortization expense

including non-cash interest 65.3 58.4 54.9 42.5 26.6
Amortization of goodwill included in

depreciation and amortization expense 16.4 16.5 15.6 12.4 4.4
Capiral expenditures 42.1 38.1 39.2 39.6 20.9
Stockholders’ investment 271.3 282.2 259.8 217.6 128.1
Common and Special Common

shares outstanding 11.0 10.9 11.5 11.7 9.5
Per Share:
Earnings from continuing operations

Basic $ 315 $ 3.72 $ 453 $ 3.60 $ 2.95

Diluted $ 3.09 $ 371 $ 4.44 $§ 354 $ 287
Net earnings

Basic $ 73 8 371 $ 419 § 3.20 $ 221

Diluted $ .72 $ 370 $ 4.11 $ 3.15 $ 215
Stockholders’ investment $ 2472 $ 2586 % 2260 $ 18.59 $ 13.48

See the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements and Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and

Results of Operations, included elsewhere herein, regarding the effect on operating results of acquisitions, discontinued opera-

tions and other matters. There have not been any cash dividends declared or paid on the Company’s Common or Special

Common Stock during the past five years.

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF

OPERATIONS

The Company is a diversified manufacturer of residential and commercial building products, operating within three principal

segments: the Residential Building Products Segment, the Air Conditioning and Heating Products Segment and the Windows,
Doors and Siding Products Segment. In the results of operations presented below, Other includes corporate related items, resules
of insignificant operations and certain income and expense not allocable to reportable segments. Through its principal segments,
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the Company manufactures and sells, primarily in the United Srates, Canada and Europe, a wide variety of products for the res-
idential and commercial construction, manufactured housing, DIY and professional remodeling and renovation markets.

In October 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.
144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” (“SFAS No. 144”). SFAS No. 144 addresses financial
accounting and reporting for the impairment or disposal of long-lived assets and does not apply to goodwill or intangible assets
that are not being amortized and certain other long-lived assets. The Company adopted SFAS No. 144 in the third quarter of 2001
and applied this accounting standard as of the beginning of the year. Adoption of this standard resulted in the accounting for the
loss on the sale of Peachtree Windows and Doors, Inc (“Peachtree”) and SNE Enterprises, Inc. ("SNE”), subsidiaries of the
Company’s Ply Gem Industries, Inc. subsidiary (“Ply Gem”) and their related operating results as discontinued operations.
Accordingly the results of Peachtree and SNE have been excluded from earnings from continuing operations and are classified sep-
arately as discontinued operations for all periods presented. (See Notes 1 and 9 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements included elsewhere herein).

The Residential Building Products Segment manufactures and distributes built-in products primarily for the residential new con-
struction, DIY and professional remodeling and renovation markets. The principal products sold by the segment include, kitchen
range hoods, built-in exhaust fans (such as bath fans and fan, heater and light combination units) and indoor air quality products.
The Air Conditioning and Heating Products Segment manufactures and sells heating, ventilating, and air conditioning systems
(“HVAC”) for custom-designed commercial applications and for residential, light commercial and manufactured structures. The
Windows, Doors and Siding Products Segment, principally manufactures and distributes: (i) vinyl siding, skirting, soffit and acces-
sories, (ii) vinyl and composite windows, (iii) vinyl patio and steel entry doors, (iv) vinyl blocks, vents, shutters, sunrooms, fenc-
ing, railing and decking and (v) aluminum trim coil, soffit and accessories for use in the residential construction, DIY and
professional renovation markets.

On June 15, 2001, the Company acquired Senior Air Systems (“SAS”) from a wholly-owned subsidiary of Senior Plc. The
acquired company is located in Stoke-on-Trent, England and manufactures and sells air conditioning equipment and is in the
process of being integrated into the operations of Eacon-Williams Holdings Limited (“Eaton-Williams”). The Company acquired
Eaton-Williams on July 3, 2000 and Webco, Inc. (“Webco”) on March 8, 1999. On April 23, 1999, the Company acquired three
businesses from Caradon plc of the United Kingdom: Peachtree Windows and Doors, Thermal-Gard and CWD Windows and
Doors (the “Caradon Acquired Companies”). Other 1999 acquisitions included Multiplex Technologies, Inc. (“Multiplex”) on
May 28, 1999, Kroy Building Products, Inc. (“Kroy”) on September 9, 1999 and Xantech Corporation (“Xantech”) on December
3, 1999. These acquisitions have been accounted for under the purchase method of accounting. Accordingly, the resules of SAS,
Eaton-Williams, Webco, the Caradon Acquired Companies, Multiplex, Kroy and Xantech are included in the Company’s con-
solidated results since the date of their acquisition. (See “Liquidity and Capiral Resources” and Note 2 of the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere herein).

Critical Accounting Policies

The Company’s discussion and analysis of its financial condition and results of operations are based upon the Company’s
Consolidated Financial Statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States. See the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Sratements included elsewhere herein. Certain of the Company’s
accounting policies require the application of judgment in selecting the appropriate assumptions for calculating financial estimates.
By their nature, these judgments are subject to an inherent degree of uncertainty. The Company periodically evaluates the judg-
ments and estimates used for its critical accounting policies to ensure that such judgments and estimates are reasonable for its inter-
im and year-end reporting requirements. These judgments and estimates are based on the Company’s historical experience, cur-
rent trends and information available from other sources, as appropriate. If different conditions result from those assumptions used
in the Company’s judgments, the results could be materially different from the Company’s estimates. The Company’s critical
accounting policies include:

Revenue Recognition and Related Expenses
The Company primarily recognizes sales based upon shipment of products to its customers and has procedures in place at each

of its subsidiaries to ensure that an accurate cut-off is obtained for each reporting period.

Allowances for cash discounts, volume rebates, cooperative advertising programs and gross customer returns, among others, are
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recorded as a reduction of sales ar the time of sale based upon the estimated future outcome. Cash discounts, volume rebates and
advertising programs are based upon certain percentages agreed to with the Company’s various customers, which are typically
earned by the customer over an annual period. The Company records periodic estimates for these amounts based upon the his-
torical results to date, estimated future results through the end of the contract period and the contractual provisions of the cus-
tomer agreements. For calendar year customer agreements, the Company is able to adjust its periodic estimates to actual amounts
as of December 31 each year based upon the contractual provisions of the customer agreements. For those customers who have
agreements that are not on a calendar year cycle, the Company records estimates at December 31 consistent with the above
described methodology. As a result, at the end of any given reporting period, the amounts recorded for these allowances are based
upon estimates of the likely outcome of future sales with the applicable customers and may require adjustment in the future if the
actual outcome differs. The Company believes that its procedures for estimating such amounts are reasonable and historically have
not resulted in material adjustments in subsequent periods when the estimates are adjusted to the actual amounts.

Customer returns are recorded on an actual basis throughout the year and also include an estimate at the end of each reporting
period for future customer returns related to sales recorded prior to the end of the period. The Company generally estimates cus-
tomer returns based upon the time lag that historically occurs between the date of the sale and the date of the return while also
factoring in any new business conditions that might impact the historical analysis such as new product introduction. The
Company believes that its procedures for estimating such amounts are reasonable and historically have not resulted in material
adjustments in subsequent periods when the estimates are adjusted to the actual amounts.

Provisions for the estimated costs for future product warranty claims and bad debts are recorded in cost of sales and selling, gen-
eral and administrarive expense, respectively, at the time a sale is recorded. The amounts recorded are generally based upon his-
torically derived percentages while also factoring in any new business conditions that might impact the historical analysis such
as new product introduction for warranty and bankruptcies of particular customers for bad debts. The Company also periodi-
cally evaluates the adequacy of its reserves for warranty and bad debts recorded in its consolidated balance sheet as a further test
to ensure the adequacy of the recorded provisions. Warranty claims can extend far into the future and bad debt analysis often
involves subjective analysis of a particular customer’s ability to pay. As a result, significant judgment is required by the Company
in determining the appropriate amounts to record and such judgments may prove to be incorrect in the future. The Company
believes that its procedures for estimating such amounts are reasonable and historically have not resulted in material adjustments
in subsequent periods when the estimates are adjusted to the actual amounts.

Inventory Valuation

The Company values inventories at the lower of cost or market with approximately 51% valued using the last-in, firse-out (LIFO)
method and the remainder valued using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method. In connection with both LIFO and FIFO invento-
ries, the Company will record provisions, as appropriate, to write-down obsolete and excess inventory to estimated net realizable
value. The process for evaluating obsolete and excess inventory often requires the Company to make subjective judgments and
estimates concerning future sales levels, quantities and prices at which such inventory will be able to be sold in the normal course
of business. Accelerating the disposal process or incorrect estimates of future sales potential may cause the actual resules to differ
from the estimates at the time such inventory is disposed or sold. The Company believes that its procedures for estimating such
amounts are reasonable and historically have not resulted in material adjustments in subsequent periods when the estimates are
adjusted to the actual amounts.

Prepaid Income Tax Assets and Deferred Tax Liabilities

The Company accounts for income taxes using the liability method in accordance with SFAS No. 109 “Accounting for Income
Taxes” (“SFAS No. 109”), which requires that the deferred tax consequences of temporary differences between the amounts
recorded in the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements and the amounts included in the Company’s federal and state
income tax returns be recognized in the balance sheet. As the Company generally does not file their income tax returns until well
after the closing process for the December 31 financial statements is complete, the amounts recorded at December 31 reflect esti-
mates of what the final amounts will be when the actual income tax returns are filed for that fiscal year. In addition, estimates
are often required with respect to, among other things, the appropriate state income tax rates to use in the various states that the
Company and its subsidiaries are required to file, the potential utilization of operating and capital loss carry-forwards for both
federal and state income tax purposes and valuation allowances required, if any, for tax assets that may not be realizable in the
future. The Company requires each of its subsidiaries to submit year-end tax information packages as part of the year end finan-
cial statement closing process so that the information used to estimate the deferred tax accounts at December 31 is reasonably
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consistent with the amounts expected to be included in the filed tax returns. SFAS No. 109 requires balance sheet classification
of current and long-term deferred income tax assets and liabilities based upon the classification of the underlying asset or liabil-
ity that gives rise to a temporary difference. As such, Nortek has historically had prepaid income tax assets due principally to the
unfavorable tax consequences of recording expenses for required book reserves for such things as, among others, bad debts, inven-
tory valuation, insurance, product liability and warranty that cannot be deducted for income tax purposes until such expenses
are actually paid. The Company believes that the amounts recorded as prepaid income tax assets will be recoverable either
through future taxable income generated by the Company or by the fact that the Company has deferred tax liabilities that exceed
the amount of the prepaid income tax assets although there can be no absolute assurance that all recognized prepaid income tax
assets will be fully recovered. The Company believes the procedures and estimates used in its accounting for income taxes are
reasonable and in accordance with established tax law. The income tax estimates used have historically not resulted in material
adjustments to income tax expense in subsequent periods when the estimates are adjusted to the actual filed tax return amounts,
although there may be reclassifications between the current and long-term portion of the deferred tax accounts.

Goodwill

Through December 31, 2001, the Company accounted for goodwill in accordance with APB 16 “Business Combinations” (“APB
16”) for acquisitions and SFAS No. 121 “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to Be
Disposed Of” (“SFAS No. 1217) for the periodic evaluation of goodwill impairment. Purchase accounting required by APB 16
involved judgment with respect to the valuadon of the acquired assets and liabilities in order to determine the final amount of
goodwill. For significant acquisitions, the Company would use third party appraisers to value items such as property, plant and
equipment and acquired intangibles and third party actuarial consultants to determine the value of assets and liabilities associat-
ed with pension and post retirement benefit plans. The Company believes that the estimates that it has used to record prior acqui-
sitions were reasonable and in accordance with APB 16.

The Company performs an annual evaluation for the impairment of Long Lived Assets, including goodwill, based on expecta-
tions of non-discounted future cash flows compared to the carrying value of the subsidiary. The Company’s cash flow estimates
are based upon historical cash flows, as well as future projected cash flows received from subsidiary management in connection
with the annual Company wide planning process, and include a terminal valuation for the applicable subsidiary based upon a
multiple of earnings before interest expense, net, depreciation and amortization expense and income taxes (“EBITDA”). The
Company estimates the EBITDA multiple by reviewing comparable company information and other industry data and, where
applicable, consultation with investment bankers. The Company believes that its procedures for estimating gross future cash
flows, including the terminal valuation, are reasonable and consistent with current market conditions. The Company historical-
ly has not had any material impairment adjustments.

Subsequent to December 31, 2001, the Company will account for acquired goodwill and goodwill impairment in accordance
with the new standards outlined later in this section and Note 1 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. These
new pronouncements will also require considerable judgment and may require that the Company use third parties to provide
pertinent information to assist in the Company’s evaluation of any future goodwill impairment.

Pensions and Post Retirement Health Benefits

The Company’s accounting for pension and post retirement health benefit liabilities requires the estimating of such items as the
long-term average return on plan assets, the discount rate, the rate of compensation increase and the assumed medical cost infla-
tion rate. Such estimates require a significant amount of judgment. As a result, the Company utilizes the expertise of third parey
actuarial consultants to perform the calculations of the amounts for pension and post retirement health benefit assers, liabilities,
expense and other comprehensive income (loss) required to be recorded in the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements as
of December 31 in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles currently in effect in the United States. As evi-
denced during 2001, items such as stock market declines, changes in interest rates and plan amendments can have a significant
impact on the assumptions used and therefore on the ultimate final actuarial determinations for a particular year. As a result, the
Company carefully reviews current market conditions in consultation with its actuarial consultants to determine the appropri-
ate assumptions to use for the fiscal year. The Company believes the procedures and estimates used in its accounting for pen-
sions and post retirement health benefits are reasonable and consistent with acceptable actuarial practices. In certain years, such
as 2001, revisions to actuarial assumptions caused by adverse financial market conditions have resulted in significant increases to
pension and post-retirement liabilities and other comprehensive loss from amounts recognized in prior years.
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Insurance Liabilities

The Company records insurance liabilities and related expenses for health, workers’ compensation, product and general liability
losses and other insurance reserves and expenses in accordance with either the contractual terms of its policies or, if self-insured,
the total liabilities that are estimable and probable as of the reporting dare. Insurance liabilities are recorded as current liabilities
to the extent they are expected to be paid in the succeeding year with the remaining requirements classified as long-term liabil-
ities. The accounting for self-insured plans requires that significant judgments and estimates be made both with respect to the
future liabilities to be paid for known claims and incurred but not reported claims as of the reporting date. The Company relies
heavily on historical trends and, in certain cases, the advice and calculations of third party actuarial consultants when determin-
ing the appropriate insurance reserves to record for a substantial portion of its workers’ compensation and general and product
liability losses. In certain cases where partial insurance coverage exists, the Company must estimate the portion of the liability
that will be covered by existing insurance policies to arrive at the net expected liability to the Company. The Company believes
that its procedures for estimating such amounts are reasonable and historically have not resulted in large material adjustments in
subsequent periods when the estimated amounts are adjusted to the actual insurance claims paid.

Contingencies

The Company is subject to contingencies, including legal proceedings and claims arising out of its businesses that cover a wide
range of matters, including, among others, environmental matters, contract and employment claims, workmen’s compensation
claims, product liability, warranty and modification, adjustment or replacement of component parts of units sold, which may
include product recalls. Product liability, environmental and other legal proceedings also include matters with respect to busi-
nesses previously owned.

The Company provides accruals for direct costs associated with the estimated resolution of contingencies at the earliest date at
which it is deemed probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of such liability can be reasonably estimated. Costs
accrued have been estimated based on consuleation with legal counsel and other experts and are based upon an analysis of poten-
tial results, assuming a combination of litigation and settlemenc strategies and outcomes.

While it is impossible to ascertain the ultimate legal and financial liability with respect to contingent liabilities, including law-
suits, the Company believes that the aggregate amount of such liabilities, if any, in excess of amounts provided or covered by
insurance, will not have a material adverse effect on the consolidated financial position or results of operations of the Company.
It is possible, however, that future results of operations for any particular future period could be materially affected by changes
in our assumptions or strategies related to these contingencies or changes out of the Company’s control.
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Results of Operations

The tables that follow present the net sales from continuing operations, operating earnings from continuing operations and
depreciation and amortization expense from continuing operations for the Company’s principal segments for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2001, the dollar amount and percentage change of such results as compared to the prior
year and the percentage to net sales of operating earnings and depreciation and amortization expense for the three years ended
December 31, 2001:

Net Change

Year-ended December 31, 2001 to 2000 2000 to 1999

2001 2000 1999 $ % $ %
Net Sales: (Dollar amounts in millions)
Residential Building Products $ 6600 $ 667.4 $ 6399 $ (7.4) (1.1)% $ 27.5 4.3%
Air Conditioning and Heating Products ~ 633.8 630.1 540.3 3.7 0.6 89.8 16.6
Windows, Doors and Siding Products 493.5 484.6 415.3 8.9 1.8 69.3 16.7
Other 68.2 71.0 76.0 (2.8) (3.9) (5.0) (6.6)

$1,855.5 $1,853.1 $1,671.5 § 24 0.1% $181.6 10.9%

Operating Earnings:

Residential Building Products $ 910 § 909 § 947 $ 0.1 0.1% $ (3.8) (4.0)%
Air Conditioning and Heating Products 51.0 74.8 67.0 (23.8) (31.8) 7.8 11.6
Windows, Doors and Siding Products 41.9 23.9 43.4 18.0 75.3 (19.5) (44.9)
Other (26.7) (24.0) (20.4) 2.7y (11.3) (3.6) (17.6)

$ 1572 $ 1656 $ 184.7 $ (8.4) (5.1)%  $(19.1) (10.3)%

Depreciation and Amortization Expense:

Residential Building Products $ 229 ¢ 203 $§ 206 $ 2.6 12.8% $ (0.3) (1.5)%
Air Conditioning and Heating Products 13.8 12.2 10.6 1.6 13.1 1.6 15.1
Windows, Doors and Siding Products 21.8 20.8 18.3 1.0 4.8 2.5 13.7
Other 1.4 1.4 1.7 —_— — 0.3) (17.6)

$ 599 $§ 547 § 512 § 52 9.5% $ 35 6.8%

Operating Earnings Margin:

Residential Building Products 13.8% 13.6% 14.8%

Air Conditioning and Heating Products 8.0 11.9 12.4

Windows, Doors and Siding Products 8.5 4.9 10.5
Consolidated 8.5% 8.9% 11.0%

Depreciation and Amortization
Expense as a % of Net Sales:

Residential Building Products 3.5% 3.0% 3.2%
Air Conditioning and Heating Products 2.2 1.9 2.0
Windows, Doors and Siding Products 4.4 4.3 4.4
Other 2.1 2.0 2.2
Consolidated 3.2% 3.0% 3.1%
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The tables that follow set forth, for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2001, (a) certain consolidated oper-
ating results, (b) the percentage change of such results as compared to the prior year, (c) the percentage which such results bear
to net sales and (d) the change of such percentages as compared to the prior year:

' Percentage Change

2001 2000
Year-ended December 31, to to
2001 2000 1899 2000 1989
(Dollar amounts in millions)
Ner sales $1,8555  $1,853.1 $1,671.5 0.1% 10.9%
Cost of products sold 1,364.4 1,381.1 1,212.8 1.2 (13.9)
Selling, general and administrative expense 311.2 283.9 253.8 9.6) (11.9)
Amortization of goodwill and intangible assets 22.7 22.5 20.2 (.9) (11.4)
Operating earnings 157.2 165.6 184.7 (5.1) (10.3)
Interest expense (101.9) (97.4) (96.5) (4.6) (0.9)
Investment income 10.7 7.6 8.0 40.8 (5.0)
Earnings from continuing operations
before provision for income taxes 66.0 75.8 96.2 (12.9) (21.2)
Provision for income taxes 31.5 34.1 429 7.6 20.5
Earnings from continuing operations 34,5 417 53.3 (17.3) (21.8)
Loss from discontinued operations (22.9) (0.1) (4.0) —_— 97.5
Extraordinary loss from debt retirement (3.6) — —_— —_— R
Net earnings $ 80 $§ 416 $ 493 (80.8)% (15.6)%
Percentage Change
Percentage of Net Sales 2001 2000
Year-ended December 31, to to
20017 2000 1998 2000 1999
Net sales 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% % %
Cost of products sold 73.5 74.6 72.6 1.1 (2.0)
Selling, general and administrative expense 16.8 15.3 15.2 (1.5) (0.1)
Amortization of goodwill and intangible assets 1.2 1.2 1.2 _— _
Operating earnings 8.5 8.9 11.0 (0.4) 2.1)
Interest expense (5.5) (5.2) (5.8) (0.3) 0.6
Investment income 0.6 0.4 0.5 0.2 (0.1)
Earnings from continuing operations before
provision for income taxes 3.6 4.1 5.7 (0.5) (1.6)
Provision for income taxes 1.7 1.8 2.5 0.1 0.7
Earnings from continuing operations 1.9 2.3 3.2 (0.4) (0.9)
Loss from discontinued operations (1.3) (0.1) (0.2) (1.2) 0.1
Extraordinary loss from debt retirements (0.2) —_— —_— (0.2) —_—
Net earnings 0.4% 2.2% 3.0% (1.8)% (0.8)%
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Year-ended December 31, 2001 as Compared to the Year-ended December 31, 2000

Consolidated net sales increased approximately $2,400,000 or approximately 0.1% for 2001 as compared to 2000 (and increased
approximately $11,000,000 or approximately 0.6% excluding the effect of changes in foreign currency exchange rates). The
acquisition on July 3, 2000 of Eaton-Williams in the Air Conditioning and Heating Products Segment contributed approxi-
mately $24,100,000 to net sales in the first half of 2001 as compared to 2000. Excluding the effect of this acquisition and the
effect of changes in foreign currency exchange rates, consolidated net sales decreased approximately $13,100,000 or approxi-
mately 0.7% for 2001 as compared to 2000 and is summarized by segment as follows:

Increase {decrease)

Amount %
Residential Building Products $ (1,800,000) (0.3)%
Air Conditioning and Heating Products (18,900,000) (3.0)
Windows, Doors and Siding Products 10,400,000 2.1
Other (2,800,000) (3.9)
$(13,100,000) (0.7)%

Overall, sales levels in 2001 were adversely affected by the general economic stowdown in the United States, a prolonged period
of cold and wet weather which hampered building and remodeling activity in the first quarter of 2001, cooler than normal weath-
er in the North American market during the late spring and prime summer selling months which reduced demand for residen-
tial air conditioning products and the general slowdown in the manufactured housing market. For the years ended December
31, 2001 and 2000, the Company’s net sales to customers serving the manufactured housing market, principally consisting of air
conditioners, furnaces, vinyl siding and skirting products, constituted approximately 9.4% and 11.9%, respectively, of the
Company’s consolidated net sales. The worldwide slowdown in expenditures for telecommunications infrastructure equipment
and the tragic events that occurred on September 11, 2001 caused a slowdown of incoming orders and order releases primarily
for commercial products in the Company’s Air Conditioning and Heating Products Segment. The decrease in net sales in the
Air Conditioning and Heating Products Segment, was principally as a result of the general economic slowdown, a continued
decline in sales to customers serving the manufactured housing industry; in line with the overall softness experienced in this
industry and cooler than normal weather in the North American market during the late spring and prime summer selling months
for residential air conditioning products, particularly in the second half of 2001. The decrease in net sales in this Segment was
partially offset by increased sales volume of commercial products sold by this segment’s Canadian operations. The increase in net
sales in the Windows, Doors and Siding Products Segment was principally due to higher sales prices of siding and related prod-
ucts and increased sales prices of certain window product lines, partially offset by lower sales volume of siding products. If devel-
opment in the trend of nert sales that occurred in December 2001 and January and February 2002 continues, the Company
expects that net sales and earnings in the first quarter of 2002 should be equal to or up slightly from 2001 on a comparable basis.
If this trend in net sales continues during the remainder of 2002, the Company believes the potential exists for incremental ship-
ments and expects that net sales and earnings for the full year 2002 would be up slightly over 2001. If economic conditions fail
to improve, or deteriorate, these results may not be achieved.

Cost of products sold, as a percentage of net sales, decreased from approximately 74.6% in 2000 to approximately 73.5% in 2001.
The effect of the acquisition of Eaton-Williams, which has a higher cost of products sold as a percentage of net sales than the over-
all group of businesses owned prior to the acquisition, was to increase the consolidated percentage of cost of products sold as a
percentage of net sales for 2001. Included in cost of products sold was approximately $3,000,000 of costs incurred in the start-up
of a residential HVAC manufacturing facility and a vinyl fence and decking facility. Excluding the effect of the Eaton-Williams
acquisition, the effect of changes in foreign currency exchange rates and the costs incurred in the starc-up of facilities, cost of prod-
ucts sold as a percentage of net sales decreased from approximately 74.6% in 2000 to approximately 73.2% in 2001. This decrease
in the percentages in 2001 principally resulted from reductions realized in the cost of certain purchased materials, particularly PVC
resin, aluminum and steel, in part due to declining prices and the effect of lower costs from cost reduction measures implement-
ed in late 2000 and early 2001. In addition, improved sales prices of siding and related products, increased sales prices of certain
window product lines in the Windows, Doors and Siding Products Segment, and to a lesser extent, lower manufacturing costs in
the Residential Building Products Segment were also a factor. The effect of higher cost levels of commercial HVAC products and
lower sales volume of residential products to customers serving both the manufactured and site-built housing markets without a
proportionate decrease in costs in the Air Conditioning and Heating Products Segment partially offset the effect of these cost
reductions. In 2001 the Company estimates that it has realized berween approximately $4,000,000 and $6,000,000, before imple-
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mentation costs, of lower cost of sales related to the Company’s material procurement strategy as discussed in the next paragraph.
This strategy is expected to result in approximately $15,000,000 in annualized savings when fully implemented. Had all year-end
inventory values been stated on a FIFO basis, year-end inventory would have been approximately $1,792,000 higher in 2001,
$2,209,000 higher in 2000 and $1,939,000 higher in 1999. Overall, changes in the cost of products sold as a percentage of net
sales for one period as compared to another period may reflect a number of factors including changes in the relative mix of prod-
ucts sold, the effect of changes in sales prices, material costs and changes in productivity levels.

Selling, general and administrative expense as a percentage of net sales, increased from approximately 15.3% in 2000 to approx-
imately 16.8% in 2001. The effect of the acquisition of Eaton-Williams, which has a higher level of selling, general and admin-
istrative expense as a percentage of net sales than the overall group of businesses owned prior to the acquisition, contributed
slightly to the increase in the consolidated percentages of selling, general and administrative expense to net sales. Selling, gener-
al and administrative expense in 2001 was reduced by approximately $3,200,000 related to a non-taxable gain from net death
benefit insurance proceeds related to life insurance maintained on former managers recorded in the first half of 2001. Selling,
general and administrative expense also included approximately $6,300,000 in 2001 of consulting fees and expenses related to
the Company’s material procurement strategy. Selling, general and administrative expense in 2000 was reduced by approximate-
ly $1,700,000 from the gain on the sale of land recorded in the first half of 2000. Excluding the effect of the Eaton-Williams
acquisition, the net life insurance proceeds, expenses related to the Company’s material procurement strategy, the gain on the
sale of land in 2000 and the effect of changes in foreign currency exchange rates, selling, general and administrative expense
increased from approximately $285,600,000 or 15.4% as a percentage of net sales in 2000 to approximately $303,500,000 or
16.6% in 2001. This increase in the percentages is principally as a result of lower sales volume of siding and related products in
the Windows, Doors and Siding Products Segment and lower sales volume of residential products to customers serving both the
manufactured and site-built housing markets in the Air Conditioning and Heating Products Segment without a proportionate
decrease in expense in both segments. In addition higher expense levels of commercial products in the Air Conditioning and
Heating Products Segment were also a factor.

Amortization of goodwill and intangible assets, as a percentage of net sales, remained unchanged at approximately 1.2% in 2000
and 2001. Effective January 1, 2002, goodwill will no longer be amortized in accordance with the adoption of SFAS No. 142 (see
below).

Consolidated operating earnings decreased approximately $8,400,000 from approximately $165,600,000 in 2000 to approxi-
mately $157,200,000 in 2001 as a result of the factors discussed above. The acquisition of Eaton-Williams on July 3, 2000 con-
tributed approximately $1,000,000 for 2001 to the decrease in operating earnings in the Air Conditioning and Heating Products
Segment.

Consolidated operating earnings have been reduced by depreciation and amortization expense (other than amortization of
deferred debt expense and debt discount) of approximately $59,900,000 and $54,700,000 for 2001 and 2000, respectively.

Excluding the effect of (a) the approximate $6,300,000 of consulting fees and expenses incurred in 2001, (b} the approximate
$3,200,000 non-taxable gain from net death benefit insurance proceeds in 2001, (c) approximately $700,000 of lower operat-
ing earnings from the effect of changes in foreign currency exchange rates, (d) the effect of the Faton-Williams acquisition and
(¢) the approximate $1,700,000 gain on sale of land in 2000 (as noted above), operating earnings decreased approximately
$1,900,000 from approximately $163,900,000 in 2000 to $162,000,000 in 2001 and is summarized below:

Increase (decrease)

Amount %
Residential Building Products $ 3,200,000 3.5%
Air Conditioning and Heating Products (19,800,000) (26.5)
Windows, Doors and Siding Products 18,700,000 78.3
Other (4,000,000) (16.7)
$ (1,900,000) (1.1)%

The decrease in operating earnings in the Air Conditioning and Heating Products Segment was principally due to a decline in
the sales level of residential products sold to customers serving (a) the manufactured housing market and, to a lesser extent, the
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site-built housing market, (b) higher cost levels of certain commercial products and (c) costs incurred in the start up of a resi-
dential HVAC manufacturing facility as noted above. The slowdown in the manufactured housing industry adversely effected this
Segment’s operating earnings during 2001 as compared to 2000. The increase in operating earnings in the Windows, Doors and
Siding Products Segment in 2001 was principally due to an increase in earnings from siding and related products which benefit-
ed from reduced material costs as a result of price and cost improvements as compared to 2000. Increased sales prices from siding
and window products were also a factor in the improvement in this Segment’s operating earnings.

Operating earnings of foreign operations, consisting primarily of the results of operations of the Company’s Canadian and
European subsidiaries, were approximately 6.7% and 7.0% of operating earnings (before corporate overhead) in 2001 and 2000,
respectively. Sales and earnings derived from international markets are subject to the risks of currency fluctuations.

Interest expense in 2001 increased approximately $4,500,000 or approximately 4.6% as compared to 2000. Duplicative interest
expense of approximately $1,750,000 was incurred in 2001 in connection with the refinancing of the Company’s 9 7/8% Senior
Subordinated Notes due 2004 since the redemption occurred subsequent to the financing (see Note 5 of the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere herein). The adoption of SFAS No. 133 in the first quarter of 2001 result-
ed in a non-cash increase in interest expense of approximately $1,200,000 in 2001 as compared to 2000 (see Notes 1 and 5 of
the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere herein). Higher average borrowings during 2001 also
contributed to the increase in interest expense.

Investment income increased approximately $3,100,000 or approximately 40.8% in 2001, as compared to 2000, primarily as a
result of (a) approximarely $1,700,000 of interest income resulting from the favorable abatement of state income taxes in 2001,
(b) additional interest income of approximately $500,000 in 2001, earned on the funds from the financing held in escrow for
the subsequent redemption of the 9 7/8% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2004 and (c) higher average invested balances, par-
tially offset by lower investment income rates.

The provision for income taxes from continuing operations for 2001 was approximately $31,500,000, as compared to approxi-
mately $34,100,000 for 2000. The income tax rates differed from the United States Federal statutory rate of 35% principally as
a result of non-deductible amortization expense (for tax purposes), non-taxable gain on life insurance policies (for tax purposes),
state income tax provisions and the effect of foreign income tax on foreign source income. The Company expects that its effec-
tive income tax rate will approximate 40% in 2002 as a result of the implementation of SFAS No. 142, since beginning January
1, 2002, goodwill and intangible assets determined to have an indefinite life will no longer be amortized (non-deductible for tax
purposes).

The loss from discontinued operations was approximately $22,900,000 for 2001 as compared to a loss of approximately
$100,000 for 2000. The loss in 2001 included an after tax loss on the sale of discontinued operations of approximately
$20,000,000, net of tax benefits of approximartely $14,000,000. The table that follows presents a summary of the operating
results of discontinued operations for 2001 and 2000. (See Notes 1 and 9 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
included elsewhere herein).

Year-ended
Dec. 31, Dec. 31,
20017 2000
(Amounts in thousands)
Net sales $ 225600 $ 341,800
Loss before income tax benefit (4,400) (200)
Income tax benefit (1,500} (100)
Loss from discontinued operations (2,900) (100)
Loss on sale of discontinued operations,
net of income tax benefits of $14,000,000 (20,000) —_—
Loss from discontinued operations $ (22,9000 §$ (100)
Depreciation and amortization expense $ 3,529 § 5,086

20




NORTEK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

On July 11, 2001, the Company redeemed $204,822,000 principal amount of the Company’s 9 7/8% Senior Subordinated Notes
due 2004, plus an approximate $2,900,000 redemption premium thereon. As a result of this redemption, the Company record-
ed an extraordinary loss of approximately $5,500,000 ($.32 per share, net of tax) in the third quarter of 2001. (See Note 5 of
the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere herein).

In July 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations” (“SFAS No.
1417). SFAS No. 141 requires all business combinations initiated after June 30, 2001 to be accounted for using the purchase
method.

In July 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” (“SFAS No. 142”). SFAS No. 142 applies
to goodwill and intangible assets acquired after June 30, 2001, as well as previously acquired goodwill and intangible assets.
Under SFAS No. 142, goodwill, as well as certain other intangible assets, determined to have an indefinite life, will no longer be
amortized. Instead, these assets will be reviewed for impairment on a periodic basis. SFAS No. 142 became effective July 1, 2001
for all goodwill and intangible assets acquired after June 30, 2001 and is effective for all other goodwill and intangible assets
beginning January 1, 2002. The Company is currently evaluating the impact that this statement may have with respect to its car-
rying value for goodwill, principally as it relates to the fair valuation of the Company’s reporting units. Goodwill amortization,
which ceased for the Company on January 1, 2002, was approximately $16,394,000, $16,505,000 and $15,593,000 for 2001,
2000 and 1999, respectively, as determined under the then applicable accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States. (See Note 1 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere herein).

In July 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations” (“SFAS No. 143”). SFAS No. 143
addresses financial accounting and reporting for obligations associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets and the
associated asset retirement costs. SFAS No. 143 requires that the fair value of a liability for an asset retirement obligation be rec-
ognized in the period in which it is incurred if a reasonable estimate of fair value can be made. The associated asset retirement
costs are capitalized as part of the carrying amount of the long-lived asset. SFAS No. 143 is effective for financial statements issued
for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2002 with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently assessing the impact, if
any, of adopting SFAS No. 143 on its Consolidated Financial Statements.

Comprehensive loss, included in stockholders” investment, was approximately $12,400,000 for 2001. Included in the loss for 2001
was a loss of approximately $15,800,000 (net of tax benefits of approximately $9,000,000) primarily as a result of actuarial losses
due to market declines in plan assets and increases in participancs benefits as a result of plan amendments of certain of the
Company’s employee retirement benefit plans, as well as, the change in the cumulative amount of currency translation adjustment
of approximately $4,400,000. (See Note 7 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere herein.)

Year-ended December 31, 2000 as Compared to the Year-ended December 31, 1999

Consolidated net sales increased approximately $181,600,000 or approximately 10.9% for 2000, (or increased approximately
$191,600,000 or approximately 11.5% excluding the effect of changes in foreign currency exchange rates) as compared to 1999.
Consolidated net sales increased in 2000 principally as a result of acquisitions, price increases and higher net sales volume.
Acquisitions contributed approximately $94,700,000 of the increase in consolidated net sales. In the Residential Building Products
Segment, ner sales increased approximately $27,500,000 or approximately 4.3% for 2000 (or approximately $37,500,000 exclud-
ing the effect of changes in foreign currency exchange rates) as compared to 1999, principally as a result of approximately
$20,900,000 of sales from acquisitions and higher sales volume of kitchen range hoods and bath fans. In the Air Conditioning
and Heating Products Segment, net sales increased approximately $89,800,000 or 16.6% as compared to 1999. The increase in net
sales in this segment is principally as a result of higher sales volume of products sold to customers serving the residential site-built
and commercial markers. (including sales contributed from acquisitions of approximately $30,800,000), partially offset by lower
sales of products to customers serving the manufactured housing market, in line with the overall softness experienced in the man-
ufactured housing industry. For the years ended December 31, 2000 and 1999, the Company’s net sales to customers serving the
manufactured housing market constituted approximately 11.9% and 16.2%, respectively, of the Company’s consolidated net sales.
In the Windows, Doors and Siding Segment, net sales increased approximately $69,300,000 or 16.7% in 2000, principally as a
result of 1999 acquisitions which contributed approximately $43,000,000 to the increase in net sales in 2000. The balance of the
increase in net sales in this segment of approximately $26,300,000 in 2000, principally resulted from increased sales prices and
sales volume of vinyl siding and related products and accessories, partially offset by lower sales volume of window and door products.
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Cost of products sold as a percentage of net sales increased from approximately 72.6% in 1999 to approximately 74.6% in 2000.
The increase in the percentage principally resulted from the effect of higher material costs (principally vinyl resin costs without
a proportionate increase in sales prices to customers in the Windows, Doors and Siding Products Segment), certain product mix
changes and integration costs incurred in 2000 (principally in the Residential Building Products Segment). Although the overall
cost of vinyl resin in 2000 in the Windows, Doors and Siding Products Segment was higher than 1999, the cost of resin began to
decrease slightly over the latter part of 2000. To a lesser extent, higher than anticipated costs, as a result of delays in the rational-
ization and relocation of some of NuTones manufacturing operations into the Residential Building Products Segment, were also
a factor in the increase in 2000 in the percentage of cost of products sold as a percentage of net sales. Acquisidions in the Air
Conditioning and Heating Products Segment, which have a higher cost of products sold as a percentage of net sales, had an effect
on the increase in the percentage and was offset by the effect of acquisitions in the Residential Building Products Segment which
have a lower cost of products sold as a percentage of net sales, than the overall group of businesses owned prior to these acquisi-
tions. Overall, changes in the cost of products sold as a percentage of net sales for one period as compared to another period may
reflect 2 number of factors including changes in the relative mix of products sold, the effect of changes in sales prices, material costs
and changes in productivity levels.

Selling, general and administrative expense as a percentage of net sales increased slightly from approximately 15.2% in 1999 to
approximately 15.3% in 2000. Selling, general and administrative expense in 2000 was reduced by approximately $1,700,000
from the gain on the sale of land in the second quarter of 2000. Selling, general and administrative expense as a percentage of
net sales, excluding the effect of the gain on the sale of land in the second quarter of 2000, increased from approximately 15.2%
in 1999 to approximately 15.4% in 2000. The increase in the percentage in 2000 was principally as a result of the 1999 acqui-
sitions in the Residential Building Products and the Windows, Doors and Siding Products Segments, which have a higher
expense level as a percentage of net sales than the overall group of businesses owned prior to the acquisitions, partially offset by
lower expense levels in the window and door product lines in the Windows, Doors and Siding Products Segment.

Amortization of goodwill and intangible assets, as a percentage of net sales, remained unchanged at 1.2% of net sales in 2000
and 1999 principally as a result of increased amortization related to acquisitions offset by increased sales volume.

Consolidated operating earnings decreased approximately $19,100,000 from approximately $184,700,000 in 1999 to approxi-
mately $165,600,000 in 2000 as a result of the factors discussed above. Consolidated operating earnings for 2000 include a gain,
in the second quarter, on the sale of land of approximately $1,700,000. Acquisitions contributed approximately $7,400,000 in
operating earnings in 2000, which consisted of an increase of approximately $2,200,000 in the Residential Building Products
Segment, an increase of approximately $900,000 in the Air Conditioning and Heating Products Segment and an increase of
approximately $4,300,000 in the Windows, Doors and Siding Products Segment.

Consolidated operating earnings have been reduced by depreciation and amortization expense (other than amortization of deferred
debt expense and debr discount) of approximately $54,700,000 and $51,200,000 for 2000 and 1999, respectively. Businesses
acquired contributed approximately $3,100,000 of the increase in depreciation and amortization expense in 2000, of which
approximately $900,000 was in the Residential Building Products Segment, approximately $500,000 was in the Air Conditioning
and Heating Products Segment and approximately $1,700,000 was in the Windows, Doors and Siding Products Segment.

Consolidated operating earnings, excluding earnings from acquisitions and the $1,700,000 gain on the sale of land, decreased
approximately $28,200,000 from $184,700,000 in 1999 to approximately $156,500,000 in 2000 due, in part, to a decrease of
approximately $6,000,000, in operating earnings in the Residential Building Products Segment. This decrease within the
Residential Building Products Segment was due primarily to increased manufacturing costs as a result of delays in the rationali-
zation and relocation of certain of NuTone’s manufacturing operations partially offser by increased sales volume without a pro-
portionate increase in cost and expenses. Operating earnings increased approximately $6,900,000 in 2000, excluding the effect
of acquisitions in the Air Conditioning and Heating Products Segment. This increase in operating earnings, in the Air
Conditioning and Heating Products Segment, arose from higher sales levels of commercial and site-built residential products,
partially offset by a decline in operating earnings from lower sales volume of air conditioning and heating products sold to the
manufactured housing market as compared to 1999 due to a slowdown in the manufactured housing industry. Operating earn-
ings decreased approximately $23,800,000 in 2000, excluding acquisitions, in the Windows, Doors and Siding Products
Segment. This decrease in operating earnings was primarily as a result of higher material costs, principally vinyl resin cost which
has substantially raised manufacturing costs of vinyl products in this segment. This decrease in earnings was partially offset by
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(a) increased sales prices of siding and related products and door and window products, (b) increased sales volume of siding and
related products and {c) a reduction in the level of costs and expenses of certain window and door products.

Operating earnings of foteign operations, consisting primarily of the results of operations of the Company’s Canadian and
European subsidiaries which manufacture built-in ventilation products, windows and doors and certain air conditioning and
humidification equipment, were approximately 7.0% and 7.1% of operating earnings (before corporate overhead) in 2000 and
1999, respectively. The decrease in foreign operating earnings as a percentage of total operating earnings is principally as a result
of a decline in foreign exchange rates. Sales and earnings derived from the international marker are subject to the risks of cur-
rency fluctuations.

Interest expense in 2000 increased approximately $900,000 or approximately 0.9% as compared to 1999. This increase is pri-
marily as a result of debt acquired and issued in connection with acquisitions net of payments.

Investment income decreased approximately $400,000 or approximately 5%, in 2000, as compared to 1999, primarily due to
lower average invested balances as a result of funds used for acquisitions in 1999 and 2000, partially offset by slightly higher
yields.

The provision for income taxes was approximately $34,100,000 for 2000, as compared to $42,900,000 for 1999. The income
tax rates differed from the United States federal statutory income tax rate of 35% principally as a result of state income tax pro-
visions, nondeductible amortization expense (for tax purposes) and the tax effect resulting from foreign activities. (See Note 4 of
the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere herein.)

The loss from discontinued operations was approximately $100,000 for 2000 as compared to approximately $4,000,000 for
1999. The table that follows presents a summary of the operating results of discontinued operations for 2000 and 1999. (See
Notes 1 and 9 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere herein).

Year-ended

Dec. 31, Dec. 31,

2000 1999

(Amounts in thousands)
Net sales $341,800 $316,400
Loss before income tax benefit (200) (6,200)
Income tax benefit (100) (2,200)
Loss from discontinued operations $  (100) $ (4,000)
Depreciation and amortization expense $ 5,086 $ 4,359

Liquidity and Capital Resocurces

During 2001, the Company improved its liquidity. In June 2001, the Company sold $250,000,000 principal amount of its
9 7/8% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2011 (“9 7/8% Notes”) at a slight discount. Net proceeds from the sale of the 9 7/8%
Notes, after deducting underwriting commissions and expenses amounted to approximately $241,800,000. A portion of such
proceeds, approximately $215,000,000 was held in escrow and was used to redeem on July 11, 2001, $204,822,000 principal
amount of the Company’s 9 7/8% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2004, and pay approximately $2,900,000 and $7,400,000 of
redemption premium and accrued interest, respectively. In September 2001, the Company sold SNE and Peachtree for approxi-
mately $45,000,000 and used a portion of the cash proceeds to pay down approximately $20,500,000 of outstanding debt under
the Company’s Ply Gem Credit facility. The remaining balance of approximately $53,400,000 due on August 26, 2002, under
the Ply Gem Credit facility, has been included as a current liability in current maturities of long-term debt in the Company’s
Consolidated Financial Statements at December 31, 2001. (See Notes 5 and 9 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements included elsewhere herein.)
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The Company is highly leveraged and expects to continue to be highly leveraged for the foreseeable future. The Company had
consolidated debt at December 31, 2001, of approximately $1,055,220,000 consisting of (i) $64,450,000 of short-term bor-
rowings and current maturities of long-term debt, (ii) $51,304,000 of notes, mortgage notes and other indebtedness, (iii)
$209,433,000 of 8 7/8% Senior Notes due 2008 (“8 7/8% Notes™), (iv) $308,312,000 of 9 1/8% Senior Notes due 2007 (“9
1/8% Notes™), (v) $174,358,000 of 9 1/4% Senior Notes due 2007 (“9 1/4% Notes”) and (vi) $247,363,000 of 9 7/8% Nortes.

At December 31, 2001, the Company had consolidated unrestricted cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities of approx-
imately $255,837,000 as compared to approximately $138,971,000 at December 31, 2000. The Company’s debt to equity ratio
was approximately 3.9:1 at December 31, 2001 as compared to approximately 3.7:1 at December 31, 2000. The change in the
ratio was primarily due to an increase in indebtedness, a decrease in stockholders investment relating to an increase in compre-
hensive loss, primarily, as a result of actuarial losses due to market declines in plan assets and increases in participants benefits as
a result of plan amendments and changes in the cumulative amount of currency translation adjustment. {See Notes 1 and 7 of
the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere herein.)

The Company’s ability to pay interest on or to refinance its indebtedness depends on the Company’s future performance which
is subject to general economic, financial, competitive, legislative, regulatory and other factors beyond its control. There can be
no assurance that the Company will generate sufficient cash flow from the operation of its subsidiaries or that future financings
will be available on acceptable terms or in amounts sufficient to enable the Company to service or refinance its indebtedness, or
to make necessary capital expenditures.

The Company has evaluated and expects to continue to evaluate possible acquisition transactions and possible dispositions of
certain of its businesses on an ongoing basis and at any given time may be engaged in discussions or negotiations with respect to
possible acquisitions or dispositions.

The indentures and other agreements governing the Company and its subsidiaries’ indebtedness (including the indentures for
the 8 7/8% Notes, the 9 1/8% Notes, the 9 1/4% Notes and the 9 7/8% Notes and a credit agreement for the Ply Gem Credit
facility) contain certain restrictive financial and operating covenants including covenants that restrict the ability of the Company
and its subsidiaries to complete acquisitions, pay dividends, incur indebtedness, make investments, sell assets and take cerrain
other corporate actions.

The following is a summary of the Company’s future cash obligations under debt obligations, excluding notes payable and other
short-term obligations of $6,248,000 and unamortized debt discount, and minimum annual rental obligations for non-cance-
lable lease obligations (operating leases). (See Notes 5 and 8 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements included else-
where herein.):

Operating Lease Obligations Debt Qbligations
2002 $15,911,000 $ 58,202,000
2003 13,160,000 4,809,000
2004 10,539,000 9,873,000
2005 7,401,000 2,383,000
2006 6,037,000 1,697,000
Thereafter 23,631,000 977,542,000
Total $76,679,000 $1,054,506,000

The Company and its subsidiaries have guaranteed certain obligations of various third parties that aggregate approximately
$30,800,000 at December 31, 2001. Approximately $28,100,000 relates to Ply Gem’s guarantee of base rental payments through
2016 under a facility leased by SNE, which was sold on September 21, 2001. The buyer of SNE has provided certain indemnifi-
cations and other rights to Ply Gem for any payments that it might be required to make pursuant to this guarantee. The
Company believes that no obligation to make payments by Ply Gem exists under the guarantee and accordingly has not record-
ed any liabilities at December 31, 2001 in the Company’s accompanying consolidated balance sheet in accordance with general-
ly accepted accounting principles currently in effect in the United States. As noted above, $53,400,000 is due under the
Company’s Ply Gem Credit facility on August 26, 2002 and is included in current maturities of long-term debt at December 31,
2001. In addition, approximately $30,400,000 of letters of credit have been issued under the Ply Gem Credir facility as addi-
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tional security for approximately $29,000,000 of industrial revenue bonds and capiral leases outstanding (included in mortgage
notes payable and other in Note 5 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere herein) at December
31, 2001 relating to several of the Company’s manufacturing facilities. The Company is currently exploring various financing
alternatives, including the possibility of a new credir facility with availability for issuing letters of credit.

At December 31, 2001, the Company had approximately $255,837,000 of unrestricted cash, cash equivalents and marketable
securities to fund its cash flow needs for 2002. During 2002, the Company expects that it is reasonably likely that the following
major cash requirements will occur as compared to 2001:

For the Year-ended December 37,

2002 2001
Interest payments, net $ 95,000,000 $ 102,406,000
Principal payments (excluding Senior Subordinated Notes), net 58,202,000 29,306,000
Capital expenditures 40,000,000 42,066,000
Operating lease payments 15,911,000 13,863,000
$ 209,113,000 $ 187,641,000

In the year-ended December 31, 2001, the Company had consolidated earnings before depreciation, amortization, interest, net
and income taxes of approximately $217,130,000 which was available to cover its major cash requirements. As discussed above,
the Company believes that earnings for all of 2002 could be up slightly over 2001 if recent sales trends continue. Accordingly,
the Company expects to meet its cash flow requirements through fiscal 2002 from cash generated from operations, existing cash,
cash equivalents and marketable securities, and financings, which may include securitization of accounts receivable and mort-
gage, capital lease or other financings.

On July 3, 2000, the Company acquired Eaton-Williams, of Edenbridge, England. The acquisition in 2000 was funded through
the use of unrestricted cash and investments. Eaton-Williams designs, manufactures, installs and services custom-made and stan-
dard air conditioning and humidification equipment. (See Note 2 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements includ-
ed elsewhere herein.)

Unrestricted cash and cash equivalents increased from approximately $130,929,000 at December 31, 2000 to approximately
$159,599,000 at December 31, 2001. Marketable securities available for sale increased from approximately $8,042,000 at
December 31, 2000 to approximately $96,238,000 at December 31, 2001. The Company’s investment in marketable securities
at December 31, 2001 consisted primarily of certificates of deposit, commercial paper and bank issued money market instru-
ments. The Company has classified as restricted in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet certain investments and mar-
ketable securities that are not fully available for use in its operations. At December 31, 2001, approximately $77,955,000 (of
which $4,360,000 is included in current assets) of cash, investments and markertable securities have been pledged as collateral or
are held in pension trusts or have been pledged as collateral for insurance, employee benefits and other requirements. (See Notes
1 and 7 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere herein.)

Capital expenditures were approximately $42,100,000 in 2001 and are expected to be approximately $40,000,000 in 2002. As
of December 31, 2001, the Company is obligated to fund future cash payments, primarily related to operating leases for facili-
ties and equipment, of approximately $76,679,000, of which approximately $15,911,000 will be funded in 2002. Since these
payments are for operating leases, future cash requirements and the value of the assets leased are not included in the Company’s
Consolidated Financial Statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles currently in effect in the United
States of America. {See Note 8 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere herein.)

The Company’s Board of Directors has authorized a number of programs to purchase shares of the Company’s Common and
Special Common Stock. The most recent of these programs was announced on May 4, 2000, and allows the Company to pur-
chase up to 1,000,000 shares of the Company’s Common and Special Common Stock in open market or negotiated transactions,
subject to market conditions, cash availability and provisions of the Company’s outstanding debt instruments. As of February
22, 2002, the Company has purchased approximately 461,000 shares of its Common and Special Common Stock under this
program for approximately $9,200,000 and accounted for such share purchases as treasury stock.
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At February 22, 2002, approximately $121,300,000 was available for the payment of cash dividends, stock purchases or other
restricted payments as defined under the terms of the Company’s most restrictive Indenture. (See Note 5 of the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere herein.)

The Company’s working capital and current ratio decreased from approximately $409,632,000 and 2.2:1, respectively, at December
31, 2000 to approximately $376,173,000 and 2.0:1, respectively, at December 31, 2001, principally as a result of the Ply Gem Credit
facility of approximately $53,422,000 being reclassified from long-term to current as it is payable in August 2002 and the factors
described below.

Accounts receivable decreased approximately $7,606,000 or approximately 3.4%, between December 31, 2000 and December
31, 2001, while net sales increased approximately $11,618,000 or approximately 2.7% in the fourth quarter of 2001 as compared
to the fourth quarter of 2000. The rate of change in accounts receivable in certain periods may be different than the rate of
change in sales in such periods principally due to the timing of net sales. Increases or decreases in net sales near the end of any
period generally result in significant changes in the amount of accounts receivable on the date of the balance sheet at the end of
such period, as was the situation on December 31, 2001 as compared to December 31, 2000. The Company did not experience
any significant overall changes in credit terms, collection efforts, credit utilization or delinquency in accounts receivable in 2001.

Inventories decreased approximately $8,777,000 or approximately 4.5%, between December 31, 2000 and December 31, 2001.

Accounts payable decreased approximately $4,462,000 or approximately 3.3%, between December 31, 2000 and December 31,
2001.

Unrestricted cash and cash equivalents increased approximately $28,670,000 from December 31, 2000 to December 31, 2001,
principally as a result of the following:
Condensed
Consolidated
Cash Flows (*)

Operating Activities:

Cash flow from operations, net $ 107,896,000
Decrease in accounts receivable, net 4,693,000
Decrease in inventories 8,727,000
Increase in prepaids and other current assets (637,000)
Increase in net assets of discontinued operations (4,661,000)
Decrease in accounts payable (2,557,000)
Increase in accrued expenses and taxes 28,454,000
investing Activities:
Net cash paid for a business acquired (1,900,000)
Net cash received from the sale of discontinued operations 45,000,000
Purchases of marketable securities, net (88,196,000)
Capital expenditures (42,066,000)
Increase in restricted cash and investments (34,290,000}
Financing Activities:

Sale of 9 7/8% Senior Notes due 2011 241,800,000
Redemption of 9 7/8% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2004 (207,700,000)
Payment of borrowings, net (29,306,000)
Exercise of stock options 1,307,000
Other, net 2,106,000

$ 28,670,000

(*) Prepared from the Company’s Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the year-ended December 31, 2001. (See Nortek,
Inc. and Subsidiaries Consolidated Financial Statements for 2001 included elsewhere herein.)

The impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates on cash was not material and has been included in other, net.

26




NORTEK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Income tax payments, net of refunds, were approximately $4,500,000 in 2001. During 2001 the Company utilized approxi-
mately $17,500,000 of net operating loss carry-forwards related to the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary, Ply Gem. Utilization
of these carry-forwards in 2001 resulted in a reduction of U.S. federal income tax payments of approximately $6,125,000. There
are no remaining operating loss carry-forwards that would significantly reduce future tax payments. At December 31, 2001, the
Company has approximately $25,600,000 of capital loss carry-forwards, which can be utilized to offset capiral gains, if any, in
future periods.

Infiation, Trends and General Considerations

The Company has evaluated and expects to continue to evaluate possible acquisition transactions and the possible dispositions
of certain of its businesses on an ongoing basis and at any given time may be engaged in discussions or negotiations with respect
to possible acquisitions or dispositions.

The Company’s performance is dependent to a significant extent upon the levels of new residential construction, residential
replacement and remodeling and non-residential construction, all of which are affected by such factors as interest rates, inflation,
consumer confidence and unemployment. In the first parc of 2002, the Company expects to operate in an overall environment
of construction and remodeling activity that is equal to or up slightly from 2001. Demand for the Company’s commercial air
conditioning products, however, is expected to remain weak during the first part of 2002 with improvement over the later part
of the year. Overall demand for the Company’s products sold in the manufactured housing industry in 2002 are expected to
remain at or below the levels experienced for all of 2001. Overall, the Company believes that potential exists for incremental ship-
ments for the full year 2002 and expects that consolidated net sales and earnings would be up slightly over the full year 2001 if
the trend in net sales experienced in December 2001 and January and February 2002 continues. These results may not be
achieved if conditions in 2002 fail to improve or there are declines in consumer confidence, unfavorable changes in interest rates,
higher unemployment rates resulting in a negative impact on general economic conditions and lower levels of housing con-
struction and remodeling activity which, instead, would have an adverse effect on the Company’s operating results.

The demand for the Company’s products is seasonal, particularly in' the Northeast and Midwest regions of the United States
where inclement weather during the winter months usually reduces the level of building and remodeling activity in both the
home improvement and new construction markets. The Company’s lower sales levels usually occur during the first and fourth
quarters. Since a high percentage of the Company’s manufacturing overhead and operating expenses are relatively fixed through-
out the year, operating income and net earnings tend to be lower in quarters with lower sales levels. In addition, the demand for
cash to fund the working capital of the Company’s subsidiaries is greater from late in the first quarter until early in the fourth
quarter. The Company expects increases in working capital levels in the year 2002 as its distribution of HVAC residential site-
built products continue to expand in the Air Conditioning and Heating Products Segment.

Market Risk

The Company is exposed to market risks related to changes in interest rates, foreign currencies and commodity pricing. The
Company does not use derivative financial instruments, except, on a limited basis to periodically hedge certain economic expo-
sures. The Company does not enter into derivative financial instruments or other financial instruments for trading purposes.

In June 1998, the FASB issued SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” (“SFAS No. 133”)
which was subsequently amended and establishes accounting and reporting standards requiring that every derivative instrument
be recorded in the balance sheet as either an asset or liability measured at its fair value and requires that changes in the deriva-
tive’s fair value be recognized currently in earnings unless specific hedge accounting criteria are met.

In the first quarter of 2001, the Company adopted SFAS No. 133 by recording a liability of approximately $800,000 in its bal-
ance sheet at March 31, 2001, representing the fair value of the Company’s interest rate collar agreement, The cumulative affect
of adopting this accounting method as of December 31, 2000 was not material. Interest expense for the year-ended December
31, 2001 includes a non-cash charge of approximately $1,200,000 ($.07 per share, net of tax), related to the Company’s interest
rate collar agreements.

A. Interest Rate Risk

The Company is exposed to market risk from changes in interest rates primarily through its investing and borrowing activities.
In addition, the Company’s ability to finance future acquisition transactions may be impacted if the Company is unable to obtain
appropriate financing at acceptable interest rates.
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The Company’s investing strategy, to manage interest rate exposure, is to invest in short-term, highly liquid investments and mar-
ketable securities. Short-term investments primarily consist of money market accounts and corporate commercial paper with
original marurities of 90 days or less. Marketable securities primarily consist of certificates of deposit and bank issued money
market instruments, all with original maturities of between 91 and 180 days. Restricted investments and marketable securities
primarily consist of money market accounts, certificates of deposit and commercial paper with original maturities of 90 days or
less. At December 31, 2001, the fair value of the Company’s unrestricted and restricted investments and marketable securities
approximated market value.

The Company manages its borrowing exposure to changes in interest rates by optimizing the use of fixed rate debt with extend-
ed maturities. In addition, as of December 31, 2001, the Company through its Ply Gem subsidiary hedged its exposure on a sub-
stantial portion of its variable rate debt by entering into an interest rate collar transaction to lock in the interest rate between a
floor of 5.76% and a cap of 7%. At December 31, 2001, approximately 96% of the carrying values of the Company’s long-term
debt were either art fixed interest rates or covered by the interest rate collar agreement.

See the table set forth in item D (Long-term Debt) below and Notes 1 and 5 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
included elsewhere herein for further disclosure of the terms of the Company’s debt and interest rate collar agreement.

B. Foreign Currency Rislk

The Company’s results of operations are affected by fluctuations in the value of the U.S. dollar as compared to the value of cur-
rencies in foreign markets primarily related to changes in the Euro, the Italian Lira, the Canadian Dollar and the British Pound.
In 2001, the net impact of foreign currency changes was not material to the Company’s financial condition or results of opera-
tions. The impact of foreign currency changes related to translation resulted in a decrease in stockholders’ investment of approx-
imately $4,444,000 in 2001. The Company manages its exposure to foreign currency exchange risk principally by trying to min-
imize the Company’s net investment in foreign assets through the use of strategic short and long-term borrowings at the foreign
subsidiary level. Consistent with this strategy, notes payable and other short-term obligations at December 31, 2001 consist pri-
marily of short-term borrowings by certain of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries. At December 31, 2001, the Company’s net
investment in foreign assets was approximately $100,525,000. An overall unfavorable change in foreign exchange rates of 10%
would result in an approximate $9,100,000 reduction in equity as a result of the impact on the cumulative translation adjust-
ment. The Company generally does not enter into derivative financial instruments to manage foreign currency exposure. At
December 31, 2001, the Company did not have any outstanding foreign currency hedging contracts.

Effective January 1, 2002, the Euro became the legal currency used within a number of European countries. The introduction
of the Euro has not had any material effect on the Company’s subsidiaries operating or doing business in those countries where
the Euro is now the legal currency. The Company does not expect that the transition to the Euro in certain European countries
will have any material future effects on the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements.

C. Commodity Pricing Risl

The Company is subject to significant market risk with respect to the pricing of its principal raw materials, which include, among
others, steel, copper, packaging material, plastics, resins, glass, wood and aluminum. If prices of these raw materials were to
increase dramatically, the Company may not be able to pass such increases on to its customers and, as a result, gross margins
could decline significantly. The Company manages its exposure to commodity pricing risk by continuing to diversify its prod-
uct mix, strategic buying programs and vendor partnering. The Company generally does not enter into derivative financial
instruments to manage commodity-pricing exposure. At December 31, 2001, the Company did not have any outstanding com-
modity forward contracts.

On March 5, 2002, the United States government imposed tariffs and quotas on a wide range of steel imports for a three-year
period. Many of the Company’s products are made from steel or contain steel parts. While the Company has certain contracts
in place which sert the price of steel purchases, not all purchases are covered by contract and the contracts do not extend through
the period the quotas and rariffs are imposed. Should price increases result from the imposition of these quotas and tariffs, gross
profit, net income and cash flows of the Company could decline.
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D. Long-term Debt

The table that follows sets forth as of December 31, 2001, the Company’s long-term debt obligations, principal cash flows by
scheduled marurity, weighted average interest rates and estimated fair market values. Approximately 1.04% of the Company’s
total long-term indebtedness is denominated in foreign currencies. The weighted average interest rates for variable rate debr are
based on December 31, 2001 interest rates. In addition, the tables that follow set forth the outstanding notional amounts by year
and floor and cap interest rates of the Company’s interest rate collar agreement.

Long-term Debt: Scheduled Maturity Average Interest Rate
Fixed Variable Fixed Variable
Rate Rate Total Rate Rate Total
Year-ending (Dollar Amounts In Millions)
December 31, 2002 $ 14 $ 568 § 58.2 5.78% 2.64% 2.71%
2003 1.3 3.5 4.8 5.42 4.80 4.97
2004 5.0 4.9 9.9 7.73 4.60 6.20
2005 0.9 1.5 2.4 7.24 4.85 5.69
2006 0.9 0.8 1.7 7.26 4.57 5.95
Thereafter (1) 958.3 19.2 977.5 9.24 2.79 9.12
Total Principal 967.8 86.7 1,054.5 9.22 2.93 8.70
Unamortized Debt Discount (5.5) —_— (5.5)
Total Long-term Debt at December 31, 2001 $962.3 $ 86.7 $1,049.0
Fair Market Value of Long-term -
Debt at December 31, 2001 $978.6 $ 867 $1,065.3

(1) Senior and Senior Subordinated notes with a total principal of $945,000,000 and a weighted average interest rate of 9.29%
mature at various times from 2007 through 2011. (See Note 5 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included
elsewhere herein.)

Interest Rate Collar: Notional Floor Cap
Amount Rate Rate
Qutstanding at (Dollar Amounts In Millions)
December 31, 2001 $ 45.0 5.76% (2) 7% (3)
Fair Market Value of the liability related to
Interest Rate Collar at December 31, 2001 $ 1,200,000

(2) If the interest rate is below 5.76% then the Company will pay the difference.
(3) If the interest rate is above 7% then the Company is entitled to receive the difference.

Forward-Looking Statements

This document contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.
When used in this discussion and throughout this document, words, such as “intends,” “plans,” “estimates,” “believes;” “antici-
pates” and “expects” or similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. These statements are based on
the Company’s current plans and expectations and involve risks and uncertainties, over which the Company has no control, that
could cause actual future activities and results of operations to be materially different from those set forth in the forward-look-
ing statements. Important factors that could cause actual future activities and operating results to differ include the availability
and cost of certain raw materials (including, among others, steel, copper, packaging materials, plastics, resins, glass, wood and
aluminum) and purchased components, the level of domestic and foreign construction and remodeling activity affecting resi-
dential and commercial markets, interest rates, employment, inflation, foreign currency fluctuations, consumer spending levels,
exposure to foreign economies, the rate of sales growth, price, and product and warranty liability claims. Readers are cautioned
not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date hereof. The Company under-
takes no obligation to update publicly any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or
otherwise. All subsequent written and oral forward-looking statements attributable to the Company or persons acting on its
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behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by these cautionary statements. Readers are also urged to carefully review and con-
sider the various disclosures made by the Company in this document, as well as the Company’s periodic reports on Forms 10-K,
10-Q and 8-K, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”).

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURE ABOUT MARKET RISK
Quantitative and qualitative disclosure about market risk required by this Item 7A is set forth in Item 7 — Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Market Risk.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
Financial statements and supplementary data required by this Item 8 are set forth at the pages indicated in Item 14(a) included
elsewhere herein.

ITEM 9. DISAGREEMENTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
Not applicable.

PART (il

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT
See Election of Directors in the definicive Proxy Statement for the Company’s 2002 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, incorpo-
rated herein by reference. See also Parc I, Item 1, Business-General Considerations-Executive Officers of the Registrant.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
See Executive Compensation in the definitive Proxy Statement for the Company’s 2002 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, incor-
porated herein by reference.

ITERM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
See Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management in the definitive Proxy Statement for the Company’s
2002 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS
See Election of Directors in the definitive Proxy Statement for the Company’s 2002 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, incorpo-
rated herein by reference.
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PART IV

ITEM 14. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K

(a) Financial Statements and Schedules
The following documents are filed as part of this report:

I.

Financial Statements:

Consolidated Statement of Operations for each of the three years
in the period ended December 31, 2001

Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2001 and 2000

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for each of the three years
in the period ended December 31, 2001

Consolidated Statement of Stockholders’ Investment for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 2001

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Report of Independent Public Accountants

Financijal Statement Schedules:
Schedule I Condensed Financial Information of the Registrant

Schedule II Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

3. The exhibits are listed in the Exhibit Index, which is incorporated

herein by reference

(b) Reports on Form 8-K

No reports on Form 8-K were filed by the Registrant during the last quarter of the period covered by this report.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this
report w be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized on March 13, 2002.

NORTEK, INC.

By:  /s/Richard L. Bready

Richard L. Bready
Chairman of the Board

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons
on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities indicated, as of March 15, 2002.

/s/Richard L. Bready /s/]. Peter Lyons

Richard L. Bready, Chairman J. Peter Lyons, Director
of the Board and President
(principal executive and financial officer)

/s/Almon C. Hall {/s/William I. Kelly

Almon C. Hall, Vice President William I. Kelly, Director
and Controller (principal accounting officer)

/s/Phillip L. Cohen
Phillip L. Cohen, Director

/s/Richard J. Harris
Richard ]. Harris, Director
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NORTEK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statement of Operations

For the Years Ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
(In thousands except per share amounts)
Net Sales $ 1,855,543 $ 1,853,076 $ 1,671,526
Costs and Expenses:
Cost of products sold 1,364,426 1,381,098 1,212,858
Selling, general and administrative expense 311,146 283,854 253,789
Amortization of goodwill and intangible assets 22,724 22,529 20,161
1,698,296 1,687,481 1,486,808
Operating earnings 157,247 165,595 184,718
Interest expense (101,898) (97,395) (96,490)
Investment income 10,651 7,600 7,972
Earnings from continuing operations before provision
for income taxes ’ 66,000 75,800 96,200

Provision for income taxes 31,500 34,100 42,900
Earnings from continuing operations 34,500 41,700 53,300
Loss from discontinued operations (22,900) (100) (4,000)
Extraordinary loss from debt retirement (3,600) — —
Met earnings $ 8,000 $. 41,600 $ 49,300
Earnings (Loss) Per Share:
Earnings from continuing operations:

Basic $ 3.15 $ 3.72 $ 4.53

Diluted $ 3.09 $ 3.71 $ 4.44
Loss from discontinued operations:

Basic $ (2.09) $ (.01) $ (.34)

Diluted $ (2.05) $ (.01) $ (.33)
Extraordinary loss from debt retirement:

Basic $ (.33) 3 — —

Diluted $ (.32) $ S _
Net Earnings: -

Basic ‘ $ 73 $ 3.71 $ 4.19

Dilured $ 72 $ 3.70 $ 4.11
Weighted Average Number of Shares: '

Basic 10,937 11,202 11,763

Diluted 11,151 11,246 11,982

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NORTEK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Balance Sheet

December 31,

2001 2000

ASSETS (Amounts in thousands)

Current Assets:

Unrestricted

Cash and cash equivalents $ 159,599 § 130,929
Marketable securities available for sale at fair value 96,238 8,042
Restricted
Cash, investments and marketable securities at cost, which approximates fair value 4,360 10,774
Accounts receivable, less allowances of $10,494,000 and $8,161,000 218,188 225,794
Inventories
Raw materials 72,467 69,627
Work in process 20,127 21,185
Finished goods 94,922 105,481
187,516 196,293

Prepaid expenses 10,092 10,304

Other current assets 13,054 12,940

Prepaid income taxes 45,576 42,017

Assets of discontinued operations — 126,523

Toral current assets 734,623 763,616

Property and Equipment, at Cost:

Land 16,132 16,744

Buildings and improvements 133,138 120,948

Machinery and equipment 353,577 328,301

502,847 465,993

Less accumulated depreciation 217,425 183,539

Total property and equipment, net 285,422 282,454

Other Assets:

Goodwill, less accumulated amortization of $89,246,000 and $73,235,000 557,949 582,436
Intangible assets, less accumulated amortization of $27,373,000 and $21,378,000 114,442 113,117
Deferred debt expense 18,861 18,916
Restricted investments and marketable securities held by pension trusts 73,595 32,436
Other 45,012 43,837

809,859 790,742

$ 1,829,904 $ 1,836,812

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NORTEK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Balance Sheet

December 31,

2001

2000

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' INVESTMIENT
Current Liabilities:

(Amounts in thousands)

Notes payable and other short-term obligations $ 6,248 $ 11,581
Current maturities of long-term debt 58,202 9,817
Accounts payable 129,501 133,963
Accrued expenses and taxes, net 164,499 144,832
Liabilities of discontinued operations — 53,791

Total current liabilities 358,450 353,984
Other Liabilities:

Deferred income taxes 49,957 53,934
Other 159,414 126,357

209,371 180,291
Notes, Mortgage Notes and Obligations

Payable, Less Current Maturities 990,770 1,020,326

Commitments and Contingencies (Note 8)

Stockholders’ Investment:

Preference stock, $1 par value; authorized 7,000,000 shares, none issued —_— _
Common stock, $1 par value, authorized 40,000,000 shares;

18,829,199 and 18,752,974 shares issued 18,829 18,753
Special common stock, $1 par value, auchorized 5,000,000 shares;

813,783 and 827,504 shares issued 814 828
Addicdional paid-in capital 210,214 208,813
Retained earnings '192,866 184,866
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (39,725) (19,367)
Less — treasury common stock at cost, 8,377,935 and 8,377,834 shares (109,616) (109,613)

— treasury special common stock at cost, 290,136 and 290,107 shares (2,069) (2,069)

Total stockholders’ investment 271,313 282,211

$ 1,829,904 §$ 1,836,812

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NORTEK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the Years Ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999

Cash Flows from operating activities: (Amounts in thousands)
Net earnings from continuing operations $ 34,500 $ 41,700 $ 53,300
Loss from discontinued operations (22,900) (100) (4,000
Extraordinary loss from debt retirement (3,600) — _—
Net earnings 8,000 41,600 49,300
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to cash:
Depreciation and amortization expense 59,883 54,691 51,173
Non-cash interest expense, net 5,413 3,705 3,685
Gain on sale of land — (1,730) —_—
Loss on sale of discontinued operations 34,000 _— _
Loss on debt retirement : 5,500 —_— —_—
Deferred federal income tax provision (credit) from continuing operations (900) 7,000 15,700
Deferred federal income tax provision (credit) from discontinued operations (4,000) 2,100 1,400
Changes in certain assets and liabilities, net of effects from

acquisitions and dispositions:
Accounts receivable, net 4,693 (8,324) (12,756)
Inventories 8,727 (8,499) (24,763)
Prepaids and other current assets (637) (4,080) (1,713)
Net assets of discontinued operations (4,661) 5,808 16,696
Accounts payable (2,557) 593 14,890
Accrued expenses and taxes 28,454 7,724 (14,277)
Long-term assets, liabilities and other, net 7 (1,995) (1,995)

Total adjustments to net earnings 133,922 56,993 48,040

Nert cash provided by operating activities 141,922 98,593 97,340
Cash Flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures (42,066) (32,372) (38,803)
Net cash paid for businesses acquired (1,900) (10,049)  (125,788)
Nert cash received from businesses sold or discontinued 45,000 1,241 —
Proceeds from the sale of fixed assets —_— 6,159 —_—
Purchase of investments and marketable securities (240,366) (20,013) (89,741)
Proceeds from the sale of investments and marketable securities 152,170 46,439 178,090
Change in restricted cash and investments (34,290) (14,657) (7,857)
Other, net 2,086 (3,804) (4,877)

Net cash used in investing activities (119,366) (27,056) (88,976)
Cash Flows from financing activities:
Sale of 9 7/8% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2011 241,800 — —_—
Redemption of 9 7/8% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2004 (207,700) —_— _—
Payment of borrowings, net (29,306) (6,050) (1,713)
Purchase of Nortek Common and Special Common Stock (3) (11,776) (14,524)
Exercise of stock options 1,307 19 657
Other, net 16 (156) (173)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 6,114 (17,963) (15,753)
Net increase (decrease) in unrestricted cash and cash equivalents 28,670 53,574 (7,389)
Unrestricted cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 130,929 77,355 84,744
Unrestricted cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year $ 159,599 $130,929 $ 77,355

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

36




NORTEK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statement of Stockholders’ Investment

For the Year-ended December 31, 1999

Common
Stock

Specia

|

Common

Stock

Addi-

tional
Paid-in
Capital

(Dollar amounts in thousands)
Accumulated

Other
Compre-
hensive
Retained Treasury Income
Earnings  Stock (Loss)

Compre-
hensive
Income

{Loss)

Balance, December 31, 1998 $18,428
Nert earnings —
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Currency translation adjustment —_—
Minimum pension liability net of
tax of $976 _—
Unrealized appreciation in the fair value

of marketable securities —_—

$ 855

$201,626

$ 93,966 $ (85,669) $(11,596)
49,300 _ —_

(1,891)

1,495

170

$ —
49,300

(1,891)

1,495

170

Comprehensive income

$ 49,074

14,499 shares of special common stock
converted into 14,499 shares of
common stock 14
61,198 shares of common stock issued
upon exercise of stock options 61
506,927 shares of treasury stock acquired _—
235,000 shgres of common stock issued as

partial consideration for an acquisition 235

(14)

1,049

6,080

— (14292) @ ——

Balance, December 31, 1999 $18,738

$ 841

$208,755

$143,266 $ (99,961) $(11,822)

For the Year-ended December 31, 2000

Balance, December 31, 1999 $18,738
Net earnings —
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Currency translation adjustment —
Minimum pension liability net of

tax of $2,055 -
Unrealized decline in the fair value

of marketable securities —

$ 841

$208,755 $143,266 $ (99,961) $(11,822) $§ —

41,600 _ —_

(3,631)

(3,808)

(106)

41,600

(3,631)

(3,808)

(106)

Comprehensive income

$ 34,055

12,932 shares of special common stock
converted into 12,932 shares of
common stock 13
1,750 shares of common stock issued
upon exercise of stock options 2

584,670 shares of treasury stock acquired =~ ——

(13)

58

— (11,721) —

Balance, December 31, 2000 $18,753

$ 828

$208,813

$184,866 $(111,682) $(19,367)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NORTEK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statement of Stockholders’ Investment

For the Year-ended December 31, 2001

(Dollar amounts in thousands)
Accumulated

Other
Addi- Compre- Compre-
Special tional hensive  hensive

Common Common [Paid-in Retained Treasury Income  Income
Stock Stock Capital Earnings  Stock {Loss) {Loss)

Balance, December 31, 2000 $18,753 $ 828 $208,813 $184,866 $(111,682) $(19,367) $ ——
Net earnings —_— o  — 8,000 _— _ 8,000
Other comprehensive loss:
Currency translation adjustment _ S - - _ (4,444) (4,444)
Minimum pension liability net of

tax of $8,969 —_ —_— _ _ —  (15,823) (15,823)
Unrealized decline in the fair value

of marketable securities — e — —_— —_— (91) (91)
Comprehensive loss $(12,358)

13,721 shares of special common stock
converted into 13,721 shares of
common stock 14 (14) —_— —— _— _

62,504 shares of common stock issued

upon exercise of stock options 62 R 1,401 _ S _—
130 shares of treasury stock acquired — — — — (3) S
Balance, December 31, 2001 $18,829 $ 814 $210,214 $192,866 $(111,685) $(39,725)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements,
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NORTEK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Company is a diversified manufacturer of residential and commercial building products, operating within three principal
segments: the Residential Building Products Segmeng the Air Conditioning and Heating Products Segment; and the Windows,
Doors and Siding Products Segment. Through these principal segments, the Company manufactures and sells, primarily in the
United States, Canada and Europe, a wide variety of products for the residential and commercial construction, manufactured
housing, and the do-it-yourself (“DIY”) and professional remodeling and renovation markets. In 2001, the Company sold cer-
tain subsidiaries of its wholly-owned subsidiary, Ply Gem Industries, Inc. (“Ply Gem”). The sale of these subsidiaries and their
related operating results have been excluded from earnings from continuing operations and are classified as discontinued opera-
tions for all periods presented (see Note 9).

Principles of Consolidation

The Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of Nortek, Inc. and all of its wholly-owned subsidiaries (the
“Company” or “Nortek”) after elimination of intercompany accounts and transactions. Certain amounts in the prior years
Consolidated Financial Statements have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.

Accounting Policies and Use of Estimates

The preparation of these Consolidated Financial Statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States involves estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of con-
tingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of income and expense during the
reporting periods. Certain of the Company’s accounting policies require the application of judgment in selecting the appropriate
assumptions for calculating financial estimates. By their nature, these judgments are subject to an inherent degree of uncertainty.
The Company periodically evaluates the judgments and estimates used for its critical accounting policies to ensutre that such judg-
ments and estimates are reasonable for its interim and year-end reporting requirements. These judgments are based on the
Company’s historical experience, current trends and information available from other sources, as appropriate. If different condi-
tions result from those assumptions used in the Company’s judgments, the results could be materially different from the
Company’s estimates.

Recognition of Sales and Related Cost, Incentive and Allowances

The Company primarily recognizes sales upon the shipment of its products net of applicable provisions for discounts and
allowances. Allowances for cash discounts, volume rebates, cooperative advertising programs and gross customer returns, among
others, are recorded as a reduction of sales at the time of sale based upon the estimated future outcome. Cash discounts, volume
rebates and advertising programs are based upon certain percentages agreed to with the Company’s various customers, which are
typically earned by the customer over an annual period. The Company records periodic estimates for these amounts based upon
the historical results to date, estimated future results through the end of the contract period and the contractual provisions of the
customer agreements. For calendar year customer agreements, the Company is able to adjust its periodic estimates to actual
amounts as of December 31 each year based upon the contractual provisions of the customer agreements. For those customers
who have agreements that are not on a calendar year cycle, the Company records estimates at Decemnber 31 consistent with the
above described methodology. Customer returns are recorded on an actual basis throughout the year and also include an estimate
at the end of each reporting period for future customer returns related to sales recorded prior to the erid of the period. The
Company generally estimates customer returns based upon the time lag that historically occurs between the date of the sale and
the date of the return while also factoring in any new business conditions that might impact the historical analysis such as new
product introduction. The Company also provides for its estimate of warrancy, bad debts and shipping costs at the time of sale.
Shipping and warranty costs are included in cost of products sold. Bad debt provisions are included in selling, general and admin-
istrative expense. The amounts recorded are generally based upon historically derived percentages while also factoring in any new
business conditions that might impact the historical analysis such as new product introduction for warranty and bankruprcies of
particular customers for bad debts.

Cash, Investments and Marketable Securities
Cash equivalents consist of short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less which are readily
convertible into cash.

The Company has unrestricted marketable securities, of approximately $96,238,000 and $8,042,000 at December 31, 2001 and
2000, respectively, consisting of commercial paper and bank issued money market instruments, all of which mature within one year.
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The Company has classified as restricted in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet certain investments and marketable
securities that are not fully available for use in its operations. At December 31, 2001 and 2000, approximately $77,955,000 (of
which $4,360,000 is included in current assets) and $43,210,000 (of which $10,774,000 is included in current assets), respec-
tively, of cash, investments and marketable securities have been pledged as collateral or are held in pension trusts for insurance,
employee benefits and other requirements (see Note 7).

Disclosures About Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of each class of financial instruments for which it
is practicable to estimate that value:

Cash and Cash Equivalents—
The carrying amount approximates fair value because of the short maturity of those instruments.

Investments and Marketable Securities—
The fair value of investments and marketable securities are based on quoted market prices. The fair value of investments and
marketable securities approximated the amount on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet.

Long-Term Debt—
At December 31, 2001, the fair value of long-term indebtedness was approximately $10,800,000 higher than the amount on
the Company’s consolidated balance sheet, before original issue discount, based on market quotations (see Note 3).

Inventories

Inventories in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet are valued at the lower of cost or market. At December 31, 2001
and 2000, approximately $96,734,000 and $98,068,000 of total inventories, respectively, were valued on the last-in, first-out
method (LIFO). Under the first-in, first-out method (FIFO) of accounting, such inventories would have been approximately
$1,792,000 and $2,209,000 greater at December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively. All other inventories were valued under the
FIFO method. In connection with both LIFO and FIFO inventories, the Company will record provisions, as appropriate, to write-
down the value for obsolete and excess inventory to estimated net realizable value. The process for evaluating obsolete and excess
inventory often requires the Company to make subjective judgments and estimates concerning future sales levels, quantities and
prices at which such inventory will be able to be sold in the normal course of business. Accelerating the disposal process or incor-
rect estimates of future sales potential may cause the actual results to differ from the estimates at the time such inventory is dis-
posed or sold.

Depreciation and Ameortization
Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment is provided on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives,
which are generally as follows:

Buildings and improvements 10-35 years
Machinery and equipment, including leases 3-15 years
Leasehold improvements term of lease

Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are expensed when incurred. Expenditures for renewals and betterments are capital-
ized. When assets are sold, or otherwise disposed, the cost and related accumulated depreciation are eliminated and the resule-
ing gain or loss is recognized.

Intangible Assets and Goodwill

Through June 30, 2001, the Company accounted for goodwill and intangible assets in accordance with APB No. 16, “Business
Combinations” (“APB No. 167) and subsequent to June 30, 2001, the Company accounted for goodwill and intangible assets in
accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 141, “Business Combinations” (“SFAS No. 141”)for
acquisitions. Purchase accounting required by APB No. 16 and SFAS No. 141 involves judgment with respect to the valuation of
the acquired assets and liabilities in order to determine the final amount of goodwill. For significant acquisitions, the Company
uses third party appraisers to value items such as property, plant and equipment and acquired intangibles and third party actuari-
al consultants to determine the value of assets and liabilities associated with pension and post retirement benefic plans. The
Company believes that the estimates that it has used to record prior acquisitions were reasonable and in accordance with APB No.
16 and SFAS No. 141.
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Intangible assets consist principally of patents, trademarks, copyrights and non-compete agreements and are amortized on a
straight-line basis over a weighted average estimated useful life of approximately 20 years. Amortization of intangible assets
charged to operations amounted to approximately $6,330,000, $6,024,000, and $4,568,000 for 2001, 2000 and 1999, respec-
tively. The Company has classified as goodwill the cost in excess of fair value of the net assets {including tax atcributes) of com-
panies acquired in purchase transactions. Goodwill is being amortized on a straight-line basis over 40 years through December
31, 2001. Goodwill amortization was approximately $16,394,000, $16,505,000 and $15,593,000 for 2001, 2000 and 1999,

respectively, as determined under the then applicable accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.

At each balance sheet date through December 31, 2001, in accordance with SFAS No. 121 “Accounting for the Impairment of
Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed Of” (“SFAS No. 1217) or SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” (“SFAS No. 144”) the Company evaluates the realizability of “Long-Lived Assets”
which primarily consists of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and goodwill based on expectations of non-discount-
ed future cash flows for each subsidiary having a material amount of Long-Lived Assets. If the sum of the expected non-discounted
future cash flows is less than the carrying amount of all assets including Long-Lived Assets, the Company would recognize an
impairment loss. The Company’s cash flow estimates are based upon historical cash flows, as well as future projected cash flows
received from subsidiary management in connection with the annual Company wide planning process, and include a terminal val-
uation for the applicable subsidiary based upon a multiple of earnings before interest expense, net, depreciation and amortization
expense and income taxes (“EBITDA”). The Company estimates the EBITDA multiple by reviewing comparable company infor-
mation and other industry data and, where applicable, consultation with investment bankers. The Company believes that its pro-
cedures for estimating gross future cash flows, including the terminal valuation, are reasonable and consistent with current mar-
ket conditions. Based on its most recent analysis, the Company believes that no material impairment of Long-Lived Assets exists
at December 31, 2001.

Beginning on January 1, 2002, the Company will adopt SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” (“SFAS No.
1427), and as a result, goodwill and intangible assets determined to have an indefinite useful life will no longer be amortized but
instead will be evaluated for impairment on an annual basis and whenever events or business conditions warrant. All other intan-
gible assets will continue to be amortized over their remaining estimated useful lives and will be evaluated for impairment in
accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 144. In addition, SFAS No. 142 requires additional disclosures with respect to each
major intangible asset class relative to gross and net carrying amounts, accumulated amortization, amortization expense, weight-
ed-average amortization periods and residual value assumptions, if any. SFAS No. 142 also requires that the estimated aggregate
amortization expense for each of the five succeeding years be disclosed.

The Company will have until December 31, 2002 to complete its initial evaluation of the carrying value of goodwill under SFAS
No. 142 and determine whether any impairment exists. Impairment charges, if any, associated with the initial adoption will be
retroactively recorded as a cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle in the first quarter of 2002. Thereafter, any addi-
tional goodwill impairment charges will be included in income from continuing operations unless they relate to a discontinued
operation. SFAS No. 142 also requires additional disclosures with respect to goodwill by reportable segment for changes in good-
will balances, impairment losses, if any, including the methodology for determination, and the amount of goodwill included in
the gain or loss on disposal of a reporting unit. The Company is currently evaluating the impact that SFAS No. 142 may have
with respect to its carrying value for goodwill and has not yet determined whether any impairment loss will be required to be
recorded in the Company’s consolidated financial statements in 2002.

Pensions and Post Retirement Health Benefits

The Company accounts for pension and post retirement health benefit liabilities under SFAS No. 87 “Employers’ Accounting
for Pensions” (“SFAS Ne. 87”) and SFAS No. 106, “Employers’ Accounting for Post Retirement Benefits Other Than Pensions”
(“SFAS No. 106”). SFAS No. 87 and SFAS No. 106 require the estimating of such items as the long-term average return on plan
assets, the discount rate, the rate of compensation increase and the assumed medical cost inflation rate. Such estimates require a
significant amount of judgment. As a result, the Company utilizes the expertise of third party actuarial consultants to perform
the calculations of the amounts for pension and post retirement health benefit assets, liabilities, expense and other comprehen-
sive income (loss) required to be recorded in the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements as of December 31 in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles currently in effect in the United States (see Note 7).
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Insurance Liabilities

The Company records insurance liabilities and related expenses for health, workers’ compensation, product and general liability
losses and other insurance reserves and expenses in accordance with either the contractual terms of its policies or, if self-insured,
the total liabilities that are estimable and probable as of the reporting date. Insurance liabilities are recorded as current liabilities
to the extent they are expected to be paid in the succeeding year with the remaining requirements classified as long-term liabil-
ities. The accounting for self-insured plans requires that significant judgments and estimates be made both with respect to the
future liabilities to be paid for known claims and incurred but not reported claims as of the reporting date. The Company relies
heavily on historical trends and, in certain cases, the advice and calculations of third party actuarial consultants when determin-
ing the appropriate insurance reserves to record in the balance sheet for a substantial portion of its workers’ compensation and
general and product liability losses. In certain cases where partial insurance coverage exists, the Company must estimate the por-
tion of the liability that will be covered by existing insurance policies to arrive at the net expected liability to the Company.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes using the liability method in accordance with SFAS No. 109 “Accounting for Income
Taxes” (“SFAS No. 1097), which requires that the deferred tax consequences of temporary differences between the amounts
recorded in the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements and the amounts included in the Company’s federal and state
income tax returns be recognized in the balance sheet. As the Company generally does not file their income tax returns until well
after the closing process for the December 31 financial statements is complete, the amounts recorded at December 31 reflect esti-
mates of what the final amounts will be when the actual income tax returns are filed for that fiscal year. In addition, estimates
are often required with respect to, among other things, the appropriate state income tax rates o use in the various states that the
Company and its subsidiaries are required to file, the potential utilization of operating and capiral loss carry-forwards for both
federal and state income tax purposes and valuation allowances required, if any, for tax assets that may not be realizable in the
future. SFAS No. 109 requires balance sheet classification of current and long-term deferred income tax assets and liabilities based
upon the classification of the underlying asset or liability that gives rise to a temporary difference (see Note 4).

Commitments and Contingencies

The Company provides accruals for all direct costs associated with the estimated resolution of contingencies at the earliest date
at which it is deemed probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of such liability can be reasonably estimarted.
Costs accrued have been estimated based on consultation with legal counsel and other experts and are based upon an analysis of
potential results, assuming a combination of litigation and settlement strategies and outcomes (see Note 8).

Comprehensive Income {Loss)

Comprehensive income (loss) includes net earnings and unrealized gains and losses from currency translation, marketable secu-
rities available for sale and minimum pension liability adjustments, net of tax attributes. The components of the Company’s com-
prehensive income (loss) and the effect on earnings for the three years ended December 31, 2001, are detailed in the Company’s
accompanying consolidated statement of stockholders” investment.

The balances of each classification, net of rax actributes, within accumulated other comprehensive loss as of December 31, 2001,
2000 and 1999 are as follows:

Unrealized Total
Gains Minimum Accumulated
Foreign (Losses) on Pension Other
Currency Marketable Liability Comprehensive
Translation  Securities Adjustment Loss
(Amounts in thousands)
Balance December 31, 1998 $ (6,529) $ (45) § (5,022) $ (11,596)
Change during the period (1,891) 170 1,495 (226)
Balance December 31, 1999 (8,420) 125 (3,527) (11,822)
Change during the period (3,631) (106) (3,808) (7,545)
Balance December 31, 2000 (12,051) 19 (7,335) (19,367)
Change during the period (4,444) (91) (15,823) (20,358)
Balance December 31, 2001 $ (16,495) $ (72) $ (23,158) $ (39,725)
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Foreign Currency Translation

The financial statements of subsidiaries outside the United States are generally measured using the foreign subsidiaries” local cur-
rency as the functional currency. The Company translates the assets and liabilities of its foreign subsidiaries at the exchange rates
in effect at year-end. Net sales and expenses are translated using average exchange rates in effect during the year. Gains and loss-
es from foreign currency translation are credited or charged to accumulated other comprehensive loss included in stockholders’
investment in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet. Transaction gains and losses are recorded in selling, general and
administrative expense and have not been material during any of the years ending December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999.

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivartive Instruments
and Hedging Activities,” amended in 1999 by SFAS No. 137 “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities —
Deferral of the Effective Date of SFAS No. 133 — Amendment of SFAS No. 133” and amended in June 2000 by SFAS No. 138
“Accounting for Certain Derivative Inscruments and Certain Hedging Activities — an amendment to SFAS No. 133” (combined
“SFAS No. 133”). SFAS No. 133 establishes accounting and reporting standards requiring that every derivative instrument
(including certain derivative instruments embedded in other contracts) issued, acquired, or substantially modified after
December 31, 1997 be recorded in the balance sheet as either an asset or liability measured at its fair value. SFAS No. 133 requires
that changes in the derivative’s fair value be recognized currently in earnings unless specific hedge accounting criteria are met.
Special accounting for qualifying hedges allows a derivative’s gains and losses to offset related results on the hedged item in the
income statement, and requires that a2 company formally document, designate and assess the effectiveness of transactions that
receive hedge accounting,

In the first quarter of 2001, the Company adopted SFAS No. 133 by recording a liability of approximately $800,000 in its bal-
ance sheet at March 31, 2001, representing the fair value of the Company’s interest rate collar agreement at March 31, 2001. The
cumulative affect of adopting this accounting method as of January 1, 2001 was not material. Interest expense in the Company’s
consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2001 includes a non-cash charge of approximately
$1,200,000 ($.07 per share, net of tax) related to the Company’s interest rate collar agreement.

Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share amounts have been computed using the weighted average number of common and common equivalent
shares outstanding during each year. Special Common Stock is treated as the equivalent of Common Stock in determining earn-
ings per share results. Diluted earnings per share amounts have been computed using the weighted average number of common
and common equivalent shares and the dilutive potential common and special common shares outstanding during each year.

A reconciliation between basic and diluted earnings per share from continuing operations is as follows:

For the Years Ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
(In thousands except per share amounts)

Earnings from continuing operations $ 34,500 $41,700 $53,300
Basic EPS:

Basic common shares 10,937 11,202 11,763

Basic EPS $ 3.15 $ 372 § 453
Diluted EPS:

Basic common shares 10,937 11,202 11,763

Plus: Impact of stock options (Note 6) 214 44 219

Diluted common shares 11,151 11,246 11,982

Diluted EPS $ 3.09 $ 371 $ 4.44

New Accounting Pronouncements
In July 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141, which requires all business combinations initiated after June 30, 2001 to be account-
ed for using the purchase method.
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In July 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 142, which applies to goodwill and intangible assets acquired after June 30, 2001, as well
as previously acquired goodwill and intangible assets. SFAS No. 142 became effective July 1, 2001 for all goodwill and intangible
assets acquired after June 30, 2001 and is effective for all other goodwill and intangible assets beginning January 1, 2002. Early
adoption is not permitted for calendar year-end companies. Under SFAS No. 142, goodwill, as well as certain other intangible
assets determined to have an indefinice life, will no longer be amortized. Instead these assets will be reviewed for impairment on
a periodic basis. See Intangible Assets and Goodwill within this Note for further discussion.

In July 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations™ (“SFAS No. 143”). SFAS No. 143
addresses financial accounting and reporting for obligations associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets and the
associated asset retirement costs. SFAS No. 143 requires that the fair value of a liability for an asset retirement obligation be rec-
ognized in the period in which it is incurred if a reasonable estimate of fair value can be made. The associated asset retirement
costs are capitalized as part of the carrying amount of the long-lived asset. SFAS No. 143 is effective for financial statements issued
for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2002 with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently assessing the impac, if
any, of adopting SFAS No. 143 on its Consolidated Financial Statements.

In October 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, which addresses financial accounting and reporting for the impairment or dis-
posal of long-lived assets and does not apply to goodwill or intangible assets that are not being amortized and certain other long-
lived assets. This Statement supersedes SFAS No. 121 and the accounting and reporting provisions of APB Opinion No. 30
“Reporting the Results of Operations — Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business and Extraordinary, Unusual
and Infrequently Occurring Events and Transactions,” for the disposal of a segment of a business (as previously defined in that
Opinion). This Statement also amends ARB No. 51, “Consolidated Financial Statements;” to eliminate the exception to consol-
idation for a subsidiary for which control is likely to be temporary. SFAS No. 144 is effective for financial statements issued for
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2001 with early adoption encouraged. The Company adopted SFAS No. 144 in the
third quarter of 2001 and applied this accounting standard as of the beginning of the year. Adoption of this accounting standard
did not result in any material changes in net earnings from accounting standards previously applied. Adoption of this standard
did result in the accounting for the loss on the sale of certain businesses and their related operating results in 2001 as discontin-
ued operations. Accordingly, the presentation for all periods presented has been reclassified to conform with the new standard
(see Note 9).

2. ACQUISITIONS AND BUSINESSES SOLD

Acquisitions are accounted for as purchases and, accordingly, have been included in the Company’s consolidated results of oper-
ations since the acquisition date. Purchase price allocations are subject to refinement until all pertinent information regarding
the acquisitions is obtained.

On June 15, 2001, the Company acquired Senior Air Systems (“SAS”) from a wholly-owned subsidiary of Senior Plc. The
acquired company is located in Stoke-on-Trent, England and manufactures and sells air conditioning equipment.

On July 3, 2000, the Company acquired Eaton-Williams Holdings Limited (“Eaton-Williams”), of Edenbridge, England. Eaton-
Williams designs, manufactures, installs and services custom-made and standard air conditioning and humidification equipment.
For its fiscal year-ended April 2, 2000, Eaton-Williams reported sales of approximately $41,000,000 (unaudited).

On March 8, 1999, the Company acquired Webco, Inc. (“Webco”), a designer and manufacturer of custom air handling equip-
ment for industrial, institutional and commercial customers. For the fiscal year-ended October 31, 1998, Webco had net sales of

approximately $13,900,000 (unaudited).

On April 23, 1999, the Company completed the acquisition of three businesses from Caradon plc of the United Kingdom:
Peachtree Doors and Windows, Inc. (“Peachtree”), Thermal-Gard and CWD Windows and Doors (the “Caradon Acquired
Companies”). Thermal-Gard manufactures replacement windows, patio doors and sunrooms. CWD Windows and Doors is a
provider of complete window and door systems for new homes in Western Canada. For the year-ended December 31, 1998, the
Caradon Acquired Companies had combined net sales of approximately $169,700,000 (unaudited), of which approximately
$116,800,000 (unaudited) of net sales related to Peachtree which was sold in 2001 (see Note 9).

On May 28, 1999, the Company acquired Multiplex Technologies, Inc. (“Multiplex”), a manufacturer and designer of high-per-
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formance, multi-room video distribution equipment for home automation and home entertainment. Multiplex had net sales of
approximately $10,000,000 (unaudited) for the year-ended December 31, 1998.

On September 9, 1999, the Company acquired Kroy Building Products, Inc. (“Kroy”), a manufacturer of vinyl fencing, railing
profiles and vinyl decking systems for residential and light commercial applications. Kroy had net sales of approximately

$26,000,000 (unaudited) for the fiscal year-ended June 30, 1999.

On December 3, 1999, the Company acquired Xantech Corporation (“Xantech”), a designer and manufacturer of residential
infrared remote control systems for extending control of VCR, cable, satellite and stereo systems to multiple rooms throughout an
entire household. Xantech had net sales of approximately $13,000,000 (unaudited) for the fiscal year-ended November 30, 1999.

The 1999 acquisitions were funded through the use of unrestricted cash, cash equivalents, marketable securities, the issuance of
notes payable to sellers and the issuance of 235,000 shares of Nortek Common Stock.

3. CASH FLOWS
Interest paid was $102,406,000, $93,562,000 and $92,592,000 in 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

The fair value of the assets of the businesses acquired was approximately $1,950,000, $27,010,000 and $192,719,000 in 2001,
2000 and 1999, respectively. Liabilities assumed or created from businesses acquired were approximately $50,000, $16,961,000
and $60,616,000 in 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively. In 1999, 235,000 shares of Nortek Common Stock were issued as partial
consideration for an acquisition. Net cash paid for acquisitions was approximately $1,900,000, $10,049,000 and $125,788,000
in 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

Significant non-cash financing and investing activities excluded from the accompanying consolidated statement of cash flows
include capitalized lease additions of approximately $5,701,000 in 2000 and $445,000 in 1999 and a decline of approximately
$91,000 and $106,000 and an increase of approximately $170,000 in the fair market value of marketable securities available for
sale for 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

4. INCOME TAXES

The following is a summary of the components of earnings from continuing operations before provision for income taxes:

For the Years Ended December 31,

2001 2000 1939

(Amounts in thousands)
Domestic $50,700 $60,400 $83,200
Foreign 15,300 15,400 13,000
$ 66,000 $75,800 $96,200

The following is a summary of the provision for income taxes from continuing operations included in the accompanying con-
solidated statement of operations:
For the Years Ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999

Federal income taxes (Amounts in thousands)
Current $22,700 $19,000 $18,600
Deferred ' (900) 7,000 15,700
21,800 26,000 34,300
Foreign 8,000 6,600 5,800
State 1,700 1,500 2,800
$31,500 $ 34,100 $42,900

Income tax payments, net of refunds, were approximately $4,500,000, $19,279,000 and $25,500,000 in 2001, 2000 and 1999,
respectively.
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The table that follows reconciles the federal statutory income tax rate of continuing operations to the effective tax rate of such

earnings of approximately 47.7%, 45.0% and 44.6% in 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

For the Years Ended December 31,

2001 2000 1939

Income tax provision from continuing operations at the (Amounts in thousands)
federal statutory rate $23,100 $26,530 $33,670

Net change from statutory rate:

Amortization not deductible for income tax purposes 5,464 5,432 5,189
State income tax provision, net of federal income tax effect 1,105 1,008 1,804
Change in tax reserves, net (898) (456) 807
Tax effect resulting from foreign activities 1,702 987 917
Other, net 1,027 599 513
$31,500 $34,100 $42,900

For the Years Ended December 31,
2001 2000 1939

(Amounts in thousands)

Effective tax rate %:

Income tax provision from continuing operations at the federal seatutory rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
Net change from statutory rate:
Amortization not deductible for income tax purposes 8.3 7.2 5.4
State income tax provision, net of federal income tax effect 1.7 1.3 1.9
Change in tax reserves, net (1.4) (0.6) 0.8
Tax effect resulting from foreign activities 2.6 1.3 1.0
Other, net 1.5 0.8 0.5
47.7% 45.0% 44.6%

The tax effect of temporary differences which give rise to significant portions of deferred income tax assets and liabilities as of
December 31, 2001 and December 31, 2000 are as follows:

December 31,

2001 2000
(Amounts in thousands)

Prepaid Income Tax Assets (classified current) Arising From:

Accounts receivable $ 3,389 $ 2,069
Inventories 1,785 1,809
Insurance reserves 7,577 6,181
Warranty accruals 3,897 5,019
Other reserves and assets, net 28,928 26,939
$ 45,576 $ 42,017
Deferred Income Tax Assets {Liabilities) {classified non-current) Arising From:
Property and equipment, net $ (40,951) $ (41,438)
Intangible assets, net (31,049) (29,369)
Insurance reserves 4,627 5,832
Warranty accruals 6,489 5,659
Capital loss carry-forward 8,975 7,022
Valuation allowances (8,975) (7,022)
Other reserves and assets, net 10,927 5,382
$ (49,957) $ (53,934)

46




NORTEK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

The Company has established valuation allowances related to certain capital loss carry-forwards. Of the total valuartion allowance,
approximately $1,700,000 will reduce goodwill if the tax benefic is ultimately realized. At December 31, 2001, cumulative un-
remitted foreign earnings, of approximately $8,000,000 have been invested indefinitely and accordingly, U.S. income raxes have
not been provided on these earnings. At December 31, 2001, the Company has approximately $25,600,000 of capital loss-carry-
forwatds, which can be utilized to offset capital gains, if any, in future periods.

5. NOTES, MORTGAGE NOTES AND OBLIGATIONS PAYABLE
Short-term bank obligations at December 31, 2001 and 2000 consist of the following:
December 31,
2001 2000
(Amounts in thousands)

Secured lines of credit and bank advances of the

Company’s European subsidiaries § 3,611 $ 6,639
Secured lines of credit of the Company’s Canadian subsidiaries 2,637 4,942
Short-term bank obligations $ 6,248 $ 11,581

These short-term bank obligations are secured by approximately $47,076,000 of accounts receivable, inventory and other assets,
and have an average weighted interest rate of approximately 4.1% at December 31, 2001.

Notes, mortgage notes and obligations payable, included in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2001
and 2000, consist of the following;
December 31,
2001 2000
(Amounts in thousands)

8 7/8% Senior Notes due 2008 (“8 7/8% Notes”), net of unamortized

original issue discount of $567,000 and $628,000 $ 209,433 $ 209,372
9 1/4% Senior Notes due 2007 (“9 1/4% Notes”), net of unamortized
original issue discount of $642,000 and $733,000 174,358 174,267
9 1/8% Senior Notes due 2007 (“9 1/8% Notes”), net of unamortized
original issue discount of $1,688,000 and $1,905,000 308,312 308,095
9 7/8% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2011 (“9 7/8% Notes”), net
of unamortized original issue discount of $2,637,000 in 2001 247,363 —_
9 7/8% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2004, net of unamortized
original issue discount of $703,000 in 2000 B 204,119
Ply Gem term loan 53,422 74,126
Mortgage notes payable 27,304 24,098
Other 28,780 36,066
1,048,972 1,030,143
Less amounts included in current liabilities ' 58,202 9,817
$ 990,770 $1,020,326

In June 2001, the Company sold $250,000,000 principal amount of its 9 7/8% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2011 (“9 7/8%
Notes”) at a discount of approximately $2,727,500 which is being amortized over the life of the issue. Net proceeds from the sale
of the 9 7/8% Notes, after deducting underwriting commissions and expenses amounted to approximately $241,800,000 and a
portion of such proceeds was used to redeem, on July 11, 2001, approximately $204,800,000 principal amount of the Company’s
9 7/8% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2004 (which notes were called for redemption on June 13, 2001), plus an approximate
$2,900,000 redemption premium thereon and approximately $7,400,000 of accrued interest thereon. As a result of this redemp-
tion, the Company recorded an extraordinary loss of approximately $5,500,000 ($.32 per share, net of tax) in the chird quarter
of 2001. For the year-ended December 31, 2001, the Company incurred approximately $1,250,000 ($.07 per share, net of tax)
of duplicative interest expense, net of interest income, since the redemption of the 9 7/8% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2004
did not occur on the same day as the financing.
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The indentures and other agreements governing the Company and its subsidiaries” indebtedness (including the indentures for
the 8 7/8% Notes, the 9 1/8% Notes and the 9 1/4% Notes, (collectively, the “Senior Notes”), the 9 7/8% Notes and the cred-
it agreement covering the Ply Gem Credit facility contain restrictive financial and operating covenants including covenants that
restrict, among other things, the payment of cash dividends, repurchase of the Company’s capital stock and the making of cer-
tain other restricted payments, the incurrence of additional indebtedness, the making of certain investments, mergers, consolida-
tions and sale of assets (all as defined in the indentures and other agreements). Upon certain asset sales (as defined in the inden-
tures), the Company will be required to offer to purchase, at 100% principal amount plus accrued interest to the date of purchase,
Senior Notes in a principal amount equal to any net cash proceeds (as defined in the indentures) that are not invested in proper-
ties and assets used primarily in the same or related business to those owned and operated by the Company at the issue date of the
Senior Notes or at the date of such asset sale and such net cash proceeds were not applied to permanently reduce Sentor
Indebtedness (as defined in the indentures). At February 22, 2002 approximately $121,300,000 was available for the payment of
cash dividends, stock payments or other restricted payments under the terms of the Company’s most restrictive indenture gov-
erning the Senior and Senior Subordinated Notes (see Note 6).

The Company’s Ply Gem subsidiary has a credit facility with a syndicate of banks, which provides Ply Gem with a term loan and
a letter of credit facility, which matures August 26, 2002. Interest on borrowings is at varying rates based, at Ply Gem’s option,
on (a) the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) plus a spread or (b) the higher of (i) .5% above the federal funds rate or (ii)
the bank’s prime rate. Ply Gem pays a facility fee quarterly which fluctuates between .20% and .30% of the aggregate principal
amount available under the facility. The average weighted interest rate on the credit facility for the year-ended December 31,
2001 was 4.8%. The credit facility includes customary covenants, including covenants limiting Ply Gem'’s ability to pledge assets
or incur liens on assets and maintain cerrain financial covenants. Borrowings under this credit facility are collateralized by the
common stock, inventory and accounts receivable of Ply Gem’s principal subsidiaries.

During 1999, the Company through its Ply Gem subsidiary entered into a $45,000,000 interest rate collar transaction to lock
in the interest rate on the Ply Gem credit facility between a floor of 5.76% and a cap of 7%. This collar agreement will termi-
nate on August 27, 2002. To the extent that the one month US Dollar Libor rate is below the collar floor, payment is due from
Ply Gem for the difference. To the extent the one month US Dollar Libor rate is above the collar cap, Ply Gem is entitled to
receive the difference. The one month US Dollar Libor rate at December 31, 2001 was 1.87%. Amounts received or paid as a
result of the collar agreement increase or reduce interest expense. The fair value of the liability related to the interest rate collar
is approximately $1,200,000 at December 31, 2001.

Mortgage notes payable of approximately $27,304,000 outstanding at December 31, 2001 include various mortgage notes and
other related indebtedness payable in installments through 2025. These notes bear interest at rates ranging from 1.5% t0 9.95%
and are collateralized by property and equipment with an aggregate net book value of approximately $74,308,000 at December
31, 2001.

Other obligations of approximately $28,780,000 outstanding at December 31, 2001 include borrowings relating to equipment
purchases, notes payable issued for acquisitions and other borrowings bearing interest at rates primarily ranging from 2.9% to 12%
and maturing at various dates through 2017. Approximately $20,794,000 of such indebtedness is collateralized by property and
equipment with an aggregate net book value of approximately $32,030,000 at December 31, 2001.

The table that follows is a summary of maturities of all of the Company’s debt obligations, excluding unamortized debt discount,
due after December 31, 2002:

(Amounts in thousands)

2003 $ 4,809
2004 9,873
2005 2,383
2006 1,697
Thereafter 977,542
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Approximately $30,400,000 of letters of credit have been issued under the Ply Gem Credit facility as additional security for
approximately $29,000,000 of industrial revenue bonds and capital leases outstanding (included in mortgage notes payable and
other in the table of notes, mortgage notes and obligations payable above) at December 31, 2001 relating to several of the
Company’s manufacturing facilides.

6. COMMON STOCK, SPECIAL COMMON STOCK, STOCK OPTIONS AND DEFERRED COMPENSATION

Each share of Special Common Stock has 10 votes on all matters submitted to a stockholder vote, except that the holders of
Common Stock, voting separately as a class, have the right to elect 25% of the directors to be elected at a meeting, with the
remaining 75% being elected by the combined vote of both classes. Shares of Special Common Stock are generally non-trans-
ferable, but are freely convertible on a share-for-share basis into shares of Common Stock.

The Company has a sharcholder rights plan which expires March 31, 2006. Each sharcholder right entitles shareholders to buy
1/100 of a share of a new series of preference stock of Nortek at an exercise price of $72 per share, subject to adjustments for
stock dividends, splits and similar events.

The rights, which are not currently exercisable, are attached to each share of Common Stock and may be redeemed by the
Directors at $.01 per share at any time. After a shareholder acquires beneficial ownership of 17% or more of the Company’s
Commeon Stock and Special Common Stock, the rights will trade separately and become exercisable entitling a rights holder to
acquire additional shares of the Company’s Common Stock having a market value equal to twice the amount of the exercise price
of the right. In addition, after a person or group (“Acquiring Company”) commences a tender offer or announces an intention
to acquire 30% or more of the Company’s Common Stock and Special Common Stock, the rights will trade separately and,
under certain circumstances will permit each rights holder to acquire common stock of the Acquiring Company, having a mar-
ket value equal to twice the amount of the exercise price of the right.

At December 31, 2001, a total of 3,527,159 shares of Common Stock were reserved as follows:

Stock option plans 2,713,376
Conversion of Special Common Stock 813,783

At December 31, 2001, 2,672,329 shares of Special Common Stock were reserved for stock option plans.

The Company has several Equity and Cash Incentive Plans which provide for the granting of options and other awards to cer-
tain officers, employees and non-employee directors of the Company. The Company has a cash incentive program for certain
key employees under the 2000 Equity and Cash Incentive Plan based on the performance of the Company’s stock price. No
amounts have been paid under this cash incentive program. Options granted under the Equity and Cash Incentive Plans vest
over periods ranging up to five years and expire ten years from the date of grant. At December 31, 2001, 729,367 additional
options are available for grant under these plans.

At December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, 1,854,411, 1,789,257 and 1,073,759, respectively, of options to acquire shares of
Common and Special Common stock were exercisable.
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The table that follows summarizes the Common and Special Common Stock option transactions for the three years ended
December 31, 2001:

Weighted

Average

Number QOption Price Exercise

Of Shares Per Share Price

Options outstanding at December 31, 1998 1,007,146 $ 2.88-331.88 $21.03
Granted 584,300 24.75 - 33.06 28.22
Exercised (69,833) 2.88- 2294 13.63
Canceled (20,000) 20.75- 30.38 25.05
Options outstanding at December 31, 1393 1,501,613 $ 8.75-$33.06 $24.11
Granted 561,450 20.44 - 21.63 21.56
Exercised (1,750) 8.75- 21.63 10.59
Canceled (20,650) 21.63 - 30.38 26.75
Options outstanding at December 31, 2000 2,040,663 $ 875-$33.06 $23.39
Granted 33,100 20.25 - 27.65 24.30
Exercised (65,954) 8.75—- 2294 21.45
Canceled (24,000) 21.63 - 27.65 23.07
Options outstanding at December 31, 2001 1,983,809 $ 8.75-$33.06 $ 23.47

1,047 options, all of which are exercisable, have an exercise price of $8.75 and a weighted average remaining contractual life of
2 years. 173,849 options, all of which are exercisable, have an exercise price of $14.75 and a remaining contractual life of 4 years.
1,415,713 options, 1,294,649 of which are exercisable, have exercise prices ranging berween $19.50 and $27.65 with a weighted
average exercise price of $22.79 and a remaining contractual life ranging between 2 to 10 years. The remaining 393,200 options,
384,866 of which are exercisable, have exercise prices ranging between $29.56 and $33.06, with a weighted average exercise price
of $29.82 and a remaining contractual life ranging between 6 to 8 years.

The Company accounts for stock options granted to employees pursuant to the provisions of APB Opinion No. 25, under which
no compensation cost has been recognized since options are granted with exercise prices equal to the fair market value of the
Common Stock at the date of grant. Had compensation cost for options granted under these plans been determined consistent
with SFAS No. 123, the Company’s earnings from continuing operations and diluted earnings per share from continuing opera-
tions would have been approximately $33,500,000 and $2.99 for 2001, approximately $37,400,000 and $3.33 for 2000 and
approximately $48,800,000 and $4.07 for 1999, respectively, and net earnings and diluted net earnings per share would have been
approximately $7,000,000 and $.63 for 2001, approximately $37,300,000 and $3.32 for 2000 and approximately $44,800,000
and $3.74 for 1999, respectively.

The weighted average fair value of options, on the grant date, was $8.98, $9.78 and $11.60 in 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively.
The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of the grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the
following assumptions used:

2001 2000 1999
Risk-free interest rate Between Between Between
4.33% and 4.87%  6.56% and 6.70%  4.91% and 6.31%
Expected life 5 years S years 5 years
Expected volatility 40% 40% 36%
Expected dividend yield 0% 0% 0%

The Company’s Board of Direcrors has authorized a number of programs to purchase shares of the Company’s Common and
Special Commeon Stock. The most recent of these programs was announced on May 4, 2000 to purchase up to 1,000,000 shares
of the Company’s Common and Special Common Stock in open market or negotiated transactions, subject to market condi-
tions, cash availability and provisions of the Company’s outstanding debt instruments. As of February 22, 2002, the Company
had purchased approximately 461,000 shares of its Common and Special Common Stock for approximately $9,200,000 under
this program and accounted for such share purchases as treasury stock.
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b 7. PENSION, PROFIT SHARING AND OTHER POST RETIREMENT BEMEFITS
The Company and-its subsidiaries have various pension, supplemental retirement plans for certain officers, profit sharing and
other post retirement benefit plans requiring contributions to qualified trusts and union administered funds.

Pension and profic sharing expense charged to operations aggregared approximately $16,300,000 in 2001, approximately
$13,800,000 in 2000 and approximately $10,900,000 in 1999. The Company’s policy is to fund currently the actuarially deter-
mined annual contribution of its various qualified defined benefit plans.

The table that follows provides a reconciliation of benefit obligations, plan assets and funded status of the plans in the Company’s
accompanying consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2001 and 2000:

Pension Benefits

2001 2000
Change in benefit obligation: (Amounts in thousands)
Benefit obligation at October 1, $169,612 $ 144,298
Service cost 2,402 2,021
Interest cost 12,423 11,360
Plan participant contributions 409 203
Amendments 11,190 3,754
Actuarial gain due to exchange rate (576) —_—
Actuarial loss excluding assumption changes 5,755 1,702
Actuarial loss (gain) due to assumption changes 12,407 (3,888)
Obligations from an acquisition e 19,907
Benefits and expenses paid (13,654) (9,745)
Benefit obligation at September 30, $199,968 $169,612
Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets at October 1, $138,235 $118,138
Actual return on plan assets (14,058) 10,421
Actuarial loss due to exchange rate V (511) _—
E Plan assets from an acquisition —_— 17,451
Employer contribution : 4,830 1,872
Plan participant contributions 409 98
Benefits and expenses paid (13,654) (9,745)
Fair value of plan assets at September 30, $115,251 $138,235
““““ Funded status and statement of financial position:
Fair value of plan assets at September 30, $115,251 $138,235
Benefit obligation at Seprember 30, (199,968) (169,612)
Funded status (84,717) (31,377)
Amount contributed during fourth quarter 4,458 1,039
Unrecognized actuarial loss 40,441 536
Unrecognized prior service cost 18,721 8,948
Accrued benefit cost $ (21,097) $ (20,854)
Amount recognized in the statement of financial position consists of:
(a) Prepaid benefit cost 5§ — $ 8,339
(b) Accrued benefit liabilities (75,179) (47,049)
(c) Intangible pension asset 18,455 7,857
(d) Accumulated other comprehensive loss before tax benefit 35,627 9,999
Accrued benefit cost ’ $ (21,097) $ (20,854)
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The projected benefit obligation, accumulated benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets for the pension plans with accu-
mulated benefit obligations in excess of plan assets were $199,968,000, $194,146,000 and $115,251,000, respectively, as of
December 31, 2001 and $125,947,000, $122,982,000 and $83,049,000, respectively, as of December 31, 2000.

Plan assets primarily consist of cash and cash equivalents, common stock (including approximately $6,100,000 of the Company’s
Common Stock and Special Common Stock at September 30, 2001), U.S. Government securities, corporate debt and mutual
funds, as well as other investments and include certain commingled funds. At December 31, 2001 and 2000, the Company has
recorded as long-term restricted investments and marketable securities held by pension trusts, in the accompanying consolidat-
ed balance sheet, approximately $73,600,000 and $32,400,000, respectively, which have been contributed to trusts and are avail-
able to fund obligations included in the table above relating to supplemental retirement plans. During 2001 and 2000, one of
the truses related to the Company’s supplemental retirement plans loaned funds to certain officers of the Company who have
fully vested retirement benefits in such plans. At December 31, 2001, approximately $35,190,000 of notes receivable from these
officers, consisting of $11,675,000 of notes receivable, bearing interest at 6.75% and maturing in 2015, $17,100,000 of notes
receivable, bearing interest at 5.43% and maturing in 2016 and $6,415,000 of notes receivable, bearing interest at 5.57% and
maturing in 2016, are included in restricted investments and marketable securities held by pension trusts in the Company’s
accompanying consolidated balance sheet.

The weighted average rate assumptions used in determining pension costs and the projected benefit obligation are as follows:

For The Years Ended December 37,

2001 2000 18399
Discount rate 7.00% 7.75% 7.50%
Expected long-term average return on plan assets 8.50% 8.50% 8.50%
Rate of compensation increase 5.00% 5.00% 5.00%

The Company’s net periodic benefit cost for its defined benefit plans for 2001, 2000, and 1999 consist of the following com-

ponents:
For The Years Ended December 31,
2001 2000 1299
(Amounts in thousands)
Service cost $ 2,402 $ 2,021 $ 1,722
Interest cost 12,423 11,360 10,019
Expected return on plan assets (11,074) (10,332) (9,440)
Amortization of prior service cost 1,419 1,555 795
Recognized actuarial loss 1,471 1,411 875
Settlement loss 1,921 _ S
Net periodic benefit cost $ 8,562 $ 6,015 $ 3,971

52




NORTEK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

The table thar follows provides a reconciliation of the benefit obligations, plan assets and funded status of the Post Retirement
Health Benefit Plan of one of the Company’s subsidiaries included in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet at December
31, 2001 and 2000:
Non-pension
Post Retirement
Health Benefits

2001 2000
Change in benefit obligation: (Amounts in thousands)
Benefit obligation at October 1, $ 20,486 $ 16,812
Service cost 285 236
Interest cost 1,509 1,293
Plan participant contributions 91 83
Amendments —_— 318
Actuarial loss excluding assumption changes 1,440 2,008
Actuarial loss due to assumption changes 4,170 1,301
Benefits and expenses paid (1,724) (1,563)
Benefit obligation at September 30, $ 26,257 $ 20,486
Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets at October 1, & — $ —
Employer contribution 1,633 1,482
Plan participant contributions 91 83
Benefits and expenses paid (1,724) (1,565)
Fair value of plan assets at September 30, $ — § —
Funded status and statement of financial position:
Fair value of plan assets at September 30, $§ — $ —
Benefit obligation at September 30, (26,257) (20,486)
Funded status (26,257) (20,486)
Amount contributed during fourth quarter 388 414
Unrecognized actuarial loss ‘ 9,216 3,755
Unrecognized prior service cost 257 309
Accrued benefit cost $ (16,396) $ (16,008)

The Company’s net periodic benefit cost for its subsidiary’s Post Retirement Health Benefit Plan for 2001, 2000 and 1999 consists

of the following components:
For The Years Ended December 31,

2001 2000 1998

(Amounts in thousands)
Service cost $ 285 $ 236 $ 226
Interest cost 1,509 1,293 1,189
Amortization of prior service cost 52 9 —_—
Recognized actuarial loss 149 —_— —_
Net periodic post retirement health benefit cost $ 1,995 $ 1,538 $1,415

For purposes of calculating the post retirement health benefit cost, a medical inflation rate of 11.0% was assumed for 2001. The
rate was assumed to decrease gradually to an ultimate rate of 5.0% by 2005.
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Assumed health care cost trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts reported for the post retirement health benefit plan.
A one-percentage-point change in assumed health care cost trend rate would have the following effect:

Decrease Trend 1%  Increase Trend 1%
(Amounts in thousands)

Effect on the total service and interest cost components $ (205) $ 247
Effect on the post retirement benefit obligation _ $ (2,667) $ 3,164

8. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
The Company provides accruals for all direct costs associated with the estimated resolution of contingencies at the earliest date
at which it is deemed probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of such liability can be reasonably estimated.

At December 31, 2001, the Company and its subsidiaries are abligated under lease agreements for the rental of certain real estate
and machinery and equipment used in its operations. Minimum annual rental obligations aggregate approximately $76,679,000
at December 31, 2001. The obligations are payable as follows:

2002 $15,911,000
2003 13,160,000
2004 10,539,000
2005 7,401,000
2006 6,037,000
Thereafter 23,631,000

Certain of these lease agreements provide for increased payments based on changes in the consumer price index. Rental expense
charged to operations in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations was approximately $21,100,000 $19,900,000
and $14,300,000 for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively. Under certain of these lease agreements,
the Company or its subsidiaries are also obligated to pay insurance and taxes.

The Company and its subsidiaries have guaranteed certain obligations of various third parties that aggregate approximately
$30,800,000 at December 31, 2001. Approximately $28,100,000 relates to Ply Gem’s guarantee of base rental payments through
June 30, 2016 under a facility leased by SNE Enterprises, Inc. (“SNE”), which was sold on September 21, 2001. The buyer of
SNE has provided certain indemnifications and other rights to Ply Gem for any payments that it might be required to make pur-
suant to this guarantee. The Company believes that no obligation to make payments by Ply Gem exists under the guarantee and,
accordingly, has not recorded any liabilities at December 31, 2001 in the Company’s accompanying consolidated balance sheet
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles currently in effect in the United States.

The Company is subject to other contingencies, including legal proceedings and claims arising our of its businesses that cover a
wide range of matters, including, among others, environmental matters, contract and employment claims, product liabilicy, war-
ranty and modification, adjustment or replacement of component parts of units sold, which may include product recalls. Product
liability, environmental and other legal proceedings also include matters with respect to businesses previously owned, including
litigation concerning a commercial aitline fatal accident. The Company has used various substances in its products and manu-
facturing operations which have been or may be deemed to be hazardous or dangerous, and the extent of its potential liability,
if any, under environmental, product liability and workers’ compensation statutes, rules, regulations and case law is unclear.
Further, due to the lack of adequate information and the potential impact of present regulations and any future regulations, there
are certain circumstances in which no range of potential exposure may be reasonably estimated.

A subsidiary of the Company is a defendant in a number of lawsuits alleging damage caused by alleged defects in certain pressure
treated wood products. Many of the suits have been resolved by dismissal or settlement with amounts being paid out of insurance
proceeds or other third party recoveries. The subsidiary continues to vigorously defend the remaining suits. Certain defense and
indemnity costs are being paid out of insurance proceeds and proceeds from a settlement with suppliers of material used in the
production of the treated wood products. The subsidiary has engaged in coverage litigation with certain insurers and has settled
coverage claims with several of the insurers. The Company believes that the remaining coverage disputes will be resolved on a sat-
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isfactory basis and additional coverage will be available. In reaching this belicf, the Company analyzed insurance coverage and the
status of the coverage litigation, considered the history of settlements with primary and excess insurers and consulted with coun-
sel. The Company has recorded liabilities of approximately $10,266,000 at December 31, 2001 for the estimated costs to resolve
these outstanding matters. The Company has also recorded receivables at December 31, 2001 of approximately $8,121,000 for the
estimated recoveries which are deemed probable of collection related to insurance litigation matters discussed above.

While it is impossible to ascertain the ultimate legal and financial liability with respect to contingent liabilities, including law-
suits, the Company believes that the aggregate amount of such liabilities, if any, in excess of amounts provided or covered by
insurance, will not have a material adverse effect on the consolidated financial position or results of operations of the Company.
Tt is possible, however, that future results of operations for any particular future period could be materially affected by changes
in our assumptions or strategies related to these contingencies or changes out of the Company’s control.

9. DISCONTINUED CPERATIONS

On September 21, 2001, the Company sold the capital stock of Peachtree and SNE, subsidiaries of its Ply Gem subsidiary for
approximately $45,000,000, and recorded a pre-tax loss on the sale of approximately $34,000,000 ($1.79 per share, net of tax),
including the write off of approximately $11,700,000 of unamortized intangible assets. Peachtree and SNE were previously part
of the Windows, Doors and Siding Products segment. A portion of the cash proceeds was used to pay down approximately
$20,500,000 of outstanding debt under the Company’s Ply Gem Credir facility.

The table that follows presents a summary of the results of discontinued operations for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 .
and 1999:
For The Years Ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
(Amounts in thousands)

Net sales $225,600  $341,800  $316,400
Loss before income tax benefit (4,400) (200) (6,200)
Income tax benefit (1,500) (100) (2,200)
Loss from discontinued operations (2,900) (100) (4,000)
Loss on sale of discontinued operations,

net of income tax benefits of $14,000,000 {(20,000) —_— _
Loss from discontinued operations $(22,900) $ (100) $ (4,000)
Depreciation and amortization expense $ 3,529 $ 5086 § 4,359

The table that follows presents a breakdown of the major components of assets and liabilities of discontinued operations at
December 31, 2000:
December 31, 2000

(Amounts in thousands)

Assets:

Accounts receivable, less allowances of $1,638,000 $ 24,774
Inventories 27,908
Property and equipment, net 52,323
Intangible assets, less accumulated amortization

of $900,000 - 12,415
Other assets 9,103
Total assets of discontinued operations $126,523
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Liabilities:

Accounts payable § 21418
Accrued expenses 12,246
Deferred income taxes 7,016
Notes, mortgage notes and obligations payable 266
Other liabilities 12,845
Total liabilities of discontinued operations $ 53,791

10. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION AND CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK

The Company is a diversified manufacturer of residential and commercial building products, which is organized within three
principal operating segments: the Residential Building Products Segment; the Air Conditioning and Hearing Products Segment;
and the Windows, Doors and Siding Products Segment. Individual subsidiary companies are included in each of the Company’s
three principal operating segments based on the way the chief operating decision maker manages the business and on the simi-
larity of products, preduction processes, customers and expected long-term financial performance. In the rables below, Other
includes corporate related items, results of insignificant operations, intersegment eliminations and certain income and expense
items not allocated to reportable segments.

The Residential Building Products Segment manufactures and distributes built-in products primarily for the residential new con-
struction, DIY and professional remodeling and renovation markets. The principal products sold by the Segment include, kitchen
range hoods, exhaust fans (such as bath fans and fan, heater and light combination units) indoor air quality products, bath cab-
inets, radio intercoms and central vacuum systems. The Air Conditioning and Heating Products Segment principally manufac-
tures and sells heating, ventilating and air conditioning (“HVAC”) systems for custom-designed commercial applications and for
manufactured and site-built residential housing. The Windows, Doors and Siding Products Segment principally manufactures
and distributes, for use in the residential construction, DIY and professional renovation markets: (i) vinyl siding, skirting, soffit
and accessories, (ii) vinyl and composite windows, (iii) vinyl patio and steel entry doors, (iv) vinyl blocks, vents, shutters,
sunrooms, fencing, railing and decking and (v) aluminum trim coil, soffit and accessories.

On September 21, 2001, the Company sold the capital stock of Peachtree and SNE, subsidiaries of Ply Gem. Accordingly, the
results of Peachtree and SNE, which were previously part of the Windows, Doors and Siding Products Segment, have been
excluded from earnings from continuing operations and classified separately as discontinued operations for all periods present-
ed (see Notes 1 and 9). Accordingly, the Windows, Doors and Siding Products Segment information presented below excludes
Peachtree and SNE for all periods.

The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in Note 1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.
The Company evaluates segment performance based on operating earnings before allocations of corporate overhead costs.
Intersegment net sales and intersegment eliminations are not material for any of the periods presented. The income statement
impact of all purchase accounting adjustments, including goodwill and intangible assets amortization, is reflected in the operat-
ing earnings of the applicable operating segment; however, the corresponding purchase accounting balance sheet adjustments
related to goodwill and intangible assets are not allocated to the individual operating segments. Unallocated assets consist pri-
marily of cash and cash equivalents, marketable securities, prepaid and deferred income taxes, goodwill, intangible assets, deferred
debrt expense and long-term restricted investments and marketable securities.
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Summarized financial information for the Company’s reportable segments is presented in the tables that follow for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 2001.
For The Years Ended December 31,

20017 2000 1999
Net Sales: (Amounts in thousands)
Residential Building Products $ 660,008 $ 667,394 § 639915
Air Conditioning and Heating Products 633,772 630,049 540,275
Windows, Doors and Siding Products 493,598 484,641 415,304
Other 68,165 70,992 76,032
Consolidated ner sales $1,855,543 $1,853,076 $ 1,671,526
Operating Earnings (Loss):
Residential Building Products $ 91,008 $ 90,869 $ 94,704
Air Conditioning and Heating Products 51,001 74,812 66,958
Windows, Doors and Siding Products 41,866 123,894 43,419
Other, net (26,628) (23,980) (20,363)
Consolidared operating earnings 157,247 165,595 184,718
Unallocated:
Interest expense (101,898) (97,395) (96,490)
Investment income 10,651 7,600 7,972
Earnings from continuing operations before
provision for income taxes $ 66,000 $ 75800 $ 96,200
December 31,
2001 2000 1999
Segment Assets: (Amounts in thousands)
Residential Building Products $ 242,741 $ 253,893 $§ 268,871
Air Conditioning and Heating Products 223,028 227,196 198,260
Windows, Doors and Siding Products 220,485 220,744 196,718
Other 29,577 27,272 31,639

715,831 729,105 695,488
Unallocated:

Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securicies 260,197 149,745 122,719
Goodwill and intangible assets 672,391 695,553 710,625
Prepaid income taxes 45,576 42,017 49,738
Assets of discontinued operations _ 126,523 134,421
Other assets 135,909 93,869 78,434

Consolidated assets $1,829,904 $1,836,812 $1,791,425
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For The Years Ended December 31,

2007 2000 1999
Depreciation and Amortization Expense: (Amounts in thousands)
Residential Building Products $ 22911 $ 20327 $ 20,584
Air Conditioning and Heating Products 13,798 12,153 10,625
Windows, Doors and Siding Products 21,766 20,820 18,318
Other 1,408 1,391 1,646
Consolidated depreciation and amortization expense $ 59883 $ 54691 $ 51,173
Amortization of Goodwill included in Depreciation and Amortization Expense:
Residential Building Products $ 7,401  § 7,446 $ 6,960
Air Conditioning and Heating Products 1,317 1,381 1,201
Windows, Doors and Siding Products 7,676 7,678 7,432
Consolidated goodwill amortization expense $ 16394 $ 16,505 $ 15,593
Capital Expenditures:
Residential Building Products $ 14,412 % 9,844 $§ 10,840
Air Conditioning and Heating Products 11,165 13,958 10,814
Windows, Doors and Siding Products 14,263 7,265 15,707
Other 2,226 1,305 1,442
Consolidated capital expenditures $ 42,066 $ 32,372 $ 38,803

Foreign net sales were approximately 14%, 12% and 11% of consolidated net sales for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000
and 1999, respectively. Foreign Long-Lived Assets were approximately 8%, 8% and 8% of consolidated Long-Lived Assets for the
years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively. Foreign net sales are attributed based on the location of the Company’s
subsidiary responsible for the sale. As required, Long-Lived Assets exclude financial instruments and deferred income taxes.

No single customer accounts for 10% or more of consolidated net sales or accounts receivable.

The Company operates internationally and is exposed to market risks from changes in foreign exchange rates. Financial instru-
ments which potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credir risk consist principally of temporary cash investments
and trade receivables. The Company places its temporary cash investments with high credit quality financial institutions and lim-
its the amount of credit exposure to any one financial institution. Concentrations of credit risk with respect to trade receivables
are limited due to the large number of customers comprising the Company’s customer base and their dispersion across many dif-
ferent geographical regions. At December 31, 2001, the Company had no significant concentrations of credic risk.

11. ACCRUED EXPENSES AND TAXES, NET
Accrued expenses and taxes, net, included in current liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet, consist of the
following at December 31, 2001 and 2000:

December 31,

2001 2000
(Amounts in thousands)

Payroll, pension and employee benefits $ 46,803 $ 38,532
Insurance and employee health benefit accruals 15,433 15,707
Interest 23,396 29,150
Producr warranty 15,090 15,188
Sales and marketing 27,458 20,050
Employee termination and other costs 869 943
Other, net 35,450 25,262

$ 164,499 $§ 144,832
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Long-term accrued expenses, included in other liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet, consist of the follow-
ing at December 31, 2001 and 2000:
December 31,
2001 2000

(Amounts in thousands)

Employee pension retirement benefit obligations $ 72,655 $ 45,088
Product warranty 18,382 17,205
Post retirement health benefir obligations 15,590 14,851
Insurance 13,108 15,949
Other, net 39,679 33,264

$ 159,414 $ 126,357

The Company has recorded liabilities, in connection with acquisitions, which were established between 1997 and 2000 related
to employee terminations and other exit costs associated with management’s plans to eliminate certain activities of the acquired
entities. In 2001, the Company did not provide any additional liabilities and provided approximately $300,000 and $4,700,000
in the years ended December 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively which principally related to termination of certain employees and
closing certain facilities of acquired businesses. As of December 31, 2001, plans for eliminating certain activities have been final-
ized for all significant acquisitions.

Charges to liabilities for employee termination include payroll, payroll taxes and insurance benefits related to severance packages
and were approximately $100,000, $1,200,000 and $3,200,000 for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respec-
tively. Charges to liabilities for other exit costs relate principally to lease costs and other costs of closing facilities and legal and
consulting fees that were incurred due to the implementation of the Company’s exit strategies. In 2001, there were no charges to
liabilities for other exit costs and charges were approximately $800,000 and $1,400,000 for the years ended December 31, 2000
and 1999, respectively.

12. OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSE

During 2001, the Company expensed approximately $3,000,000 of manufacturing costs incurred in connection with the start
up of a residential air conditioning facility and a vinyl fence and decking facility. Also, in the year 2001, the Company expensed
as a charge to continuing operations approximately $6,300,000 of fees and expenses associated wich the Company’s materfal pro-
curement strategy and estimates that it has realized between approximately $4,000,000 (unaudited) and $6,000,000 (unaudit-
ed) of benefits o date. In addition, the Company has also realized reductions in the cost of certain purchased materials, partic-
ularly PVC resin and steel, in part, due to declining prices. Approximately $2,700,000 of the fees and expenses associated with
the material procurement strategy was charged to the Residental Building Products Segment, $2,800,000 to the Air
Conditioning and Heating Products Segment, $600,000 to the Windows, Doors and Siding Products Segment and $200,000
to the Other Segment, in 2001. In the first half of 2001, the Company recorded, in operating earnings, a non-taxable gain of
approximately $3,200,000 ($.29 per share) from net death benefit insurance proceeds relating to life insurance maintained on
former managers. In the year 2001, the Company also incurred certain duplicative net interest expense (see Note 5). In the third
quarter of 2001, the Company recorded approximately $1,700,000 (included in investment income) of interest income resule-
ing from the favorable abarement of state income taxes. The abatement of state income taxes did not have a significant effect on
the overall annual effective income tax rate. In the second quarter of 2000, the Company sold a parcel of land resulting in a pre-
tax gain of approximately $1,700,000 ($.10 per share, net of tax) which is included in operating earnings.
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13. SUMMARIZED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)
The tables that follow summarize unaudited quarterly financial data for the years ended December 31, 2001 and December 31,

2000:
For the Quarters Ended
April 1 July 1 Sept 30 Dec 31

20017 (In thousands except per share amounts)
Ner sales $411,167 $512,436 $487,510 $444,430
Gross profit 102,518 136,921 128,292 123,386
Selling, general and administrative expense 72,139 74,803 82,800 81,404
Depreciation and amortization expense 14,633 14,700 14,603 15,947
Goodwill amortization expense included

in depreciation and amortization expense 4,167 4,102 4,030 4,095
Operating earnings 24,730 56,501 39,747 36,269
Earnings from continuing operations 1,600 18,500 6,900 7,500
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations (4,000) 1,200 (20,100) _
Net earnings (loss) $ (2,400) $ 19,700 $ (16,800) $ 7,500
Earnings {loss) per share:
Earnings from continuing operations:

Basic $ 15 $ 1.69 $ .63 $ .68

Diluted $ 15 $§ 1.65 $ .61 $ .68
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations:

Basic $  (37) $ 11 (1.84) $ —

Diluted $ (.37) $ A1 (1.79) $  —
Net earnings (loss):

Basic $ (.22) $ 1.80 $  (1.54) $ .68

Diluted $ (.22) $ 176 $  (1.50) $ .68
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For the Quarters Ended

April 3 July 3 Oct 2 Dec 31

2000 (In thousands except per share amounts)
Net sales $420,424 $505,213 $494,627 $432,812
Gross profit 109,744 130,041 127,147 105,046
Selling, general and administrative expense 69,120 70,594 72,933 71,207
Depreciation and amortization expense 14,100 13,970 13,166 13,455
Goodwill amortization expense included

in depreciation and amortization expense 4,052 4,077 4,138 4,238
Operating earnings 35,002 53,919 48,548 28,126
Earnings from continuing operations 7,400 16,900 13,000 4,400
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations : (3,400) 2,200 2,700 (1,600)
Net earnings $ 4,000 $ 19,100 $ 15,700 $ 2,800
Earnings {loss) per share:
Earnings from continuing operations:

Basic $ .64 § 149 $§ 1.18 $ .40

Diluted $ .64 $§ 148 $ 1.18 $ .40
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations:

Basic $ (.29) $ .19 24 $ (.14)

Diluted $ (.29) $ .19 .24 $ (.14)
Nert earnings:

Basic $ .35 $ 1.68 $ 1.42 $ .26

Diluted $ .35 §  1.67 $ 142 $ .26

See Notes 1, 2 and 12 and Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, Item 7 of
Part II of this report, regarding certain other quarterly transactions which impact the operating results in the above table includ-
ing dispositions, financing activities, new accounting pronouncements, acquisitions, sales volume, material costs, rationalization
and relocation of manufacturing operations, material procurement strategies, weakness in the manufactured housing industry
and an extraordinary loss from debt retirement in the third quarter of 2001.
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To Nortek, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Nortek, Inc. (a Delaware corporation} and subsidiaries as of
December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ investment and cash flows
for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2001. These financial statements and the schedules referred to below
are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
and schedules based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material mis-
statement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial state-
ments. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by managemenst, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Nortek,
Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 2001 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States.

As explained in Note 1 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, during the third quarter of 2001, the Company
adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived
Assets” Adoption of this standard did not result in any material changes in net earnings from accounting standards previously
applied. Adoption of this standard did result in the accounting for the loss on the sale of certain businesses and their related oper-
ating results in 2001 as discountinued operations. Accordingly, the presentation for all periods presented has been reclassified to
conform with the new standard.

Our audit was made for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic financial statements taken as a whole. The schedules
listed in Item 14(a)(2) are presented for purposes of complying with the Securities and Exchange Commissions rules and are not

part of the basic financial statements. These schedules have been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the
basic financial statements and, in our opinion, fairly state in all marerial respects the financial data required to be set forth there-

in in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole.

ARTHUR ANDERSEN LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
February 28, 2002
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SCHEDULE |
CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE REGISTRANT
Condensed Balance Sheet

December 31,

2001 2000

ASSETS (Amounts in thousands)
Current Assets:
Unrestricted

Cash and cash equivalents $ 83260 $ 57,218

Marketable securities available for sale art fair value 48,872 8,042
Restricted

Cash and investments at cost, which approximates fair value 2,805 8,006
Notes and accounts receivable, net 1,747 1,798
Prepaid expenses and other current assets : 255 350
Prepaid income taxes 6,300 4,900

Total current assets 143,239 80,314
Property and equipment, at cost 3,198 1,706
Less accumulated depreciation 1,432 1,340

Total property and equipment, net 1,766 366
Investments and Other Assets:
Net intercompany balance and investment in subsidiaries 1,105,010 1,120,425
Deferred debrt expense, net 18,636 18,152
Deferred tax benefit 7,000 900

- Other 36,884 35,612
1,167,530 1,175,089
$ 1,312,535 $1,255,769

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed financial statements.
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SCHEDULE |
CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF TKE REGISTRANT
Condensed Balance Sheet

December 31,

2001 2000
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' INVESTMENT (Amounts in thousands)
Current Liabilities:
Current maturities of long-term debt $ 6 $ 5,000
Accounts payable 6,472 2,241
Accrued expenses and taxes, net 34,462 31,632

Tortal current liabilities 40,940 38,873

Other long-term liabilities 56,955 34,992
Senior notes, net of unamortized discount 692,103 691,734
Senior subordinated notes, net of unamortized discount - 247,363 204,119
Other long-term debt 3,861 3,840
Commitments and Contingencies (Note 2)

Stockholders’ Investment:
Preference stock, $1 par value; authorized 7,000,000 shares, none issued e —_
Common Stock, $1 par value; authorized 40,000,000 shares, 18,829,199

and 18,752,974 shares issued 18,829 18,753
Special Common Stock, $1 par value; authorized 5,000,000 shares,

813,783 and 827,504 shares issued 814 828
Additional paid-in capital 210,214 208,813
Retained earnings 192,866 184,866
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (39,725) (19,367)
Less —treasury common stock at cost, 8,377,935 and 8,377,834 shares (109,616)  (109,613)

—treasury special common stock at cost, 290,136 and 290,107 shares (2,069) (2,069)
Total stockholders’ investment 271,313 282,211

$1,312,535 $1,255,769

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed financial statements.

64




NORTEK, INC. (PARENT COMPANY)

SCHERULE I
CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE REGISTRANT
Condensed Statement of Operations

For the Years Ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
Revenues: (In thousands except per share amounts)
Charges and allocations to subsidiaries $ 71,942 $ 79,359 $ 73,307
Investment income 5,514 2,835 5,441
Other income 234 12 508
Total revenues 77,690 82,206 79,256
Expenses:
Selling, general and administrative expense 31,173 25,710 21,885
Interest expense 95,340 88,553 87,326
Other expense 689 509 1,149
Total expenses 127,202 114,772 110,360
Loss from continuing operations before equity in subsidiaries’ earnings {(49,512) (32,566} (31,104)
Equity in subsidiaries’ earnings before provision for income taxes 115,512 108,366 127,304
: Earnings from continuing operations before provision for income taxes 66,000 75,800 96,200
: Provision for income taxes 31,500 34,100 42,900
Earnings from continuing operations 34,500 41,700 53,300
Loss from discontinued operations (22,900) (100) (4,000)
Extraordinary loss from debt retirement (3,600) —_— I
Net earnings $ 8,000 $ 41,600 $ 49,300
Earnings (loss) per share:
Earnings per share from continuing operations:
Basic $ 3.5 $ 372 $ 453
Diluted $ 3.09 $ 371 $ 4.44

Loss from discontinued operations:

Basic $§ (209 $ (01) $ (34

Diluted $§ (205 $ (01) $§ (33

Extraordinary loss from debt retirement:

Basic $ (33 $§ — $§ —

Diluted $ (32) $§ — $ —

Net earnings:

Basic $ 73 $ 371 $ 419
: Diluted $ 72 % 370 § 411

Weighted average number of shares:

Basic 10,937 11,202 11,763

Diluted 11,151 11,246 11,982

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed financial statements.
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SCHEDULE |
CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE REGISTRANT
Condensed Statement of Cash Flows

For the Years Ended December 31,

20017 2000 1999

Cash Flows from operating activities: (Amounts In Thousands)
Earnings from continuing operations $ 34,500 $ 41,700 $ 53,300
Loss from discontinued operations (22,900) (100) (4,000)
Extraordinary loss from debt retirement (3,600) e —
Net earnings 8,000 41,600 49,300
Adjustments to recoencile net earnings to cash:
Depreciation and amortization expense 380 384 446
Non-cash interest expense, net 3,529 3,508 3,253
Loss on debt retirement 5,500 — S
Equity in subsidiaries’ earnings
before provision for income taxes (115,512)  (108,366) (127,304}
Charges and allocations to subsidiaries (71,942} (79,359) (73,307)
Net transfers from subsidiaries, principally cash 200,812 167,195 103,880
Deferred federal income tax (credit) provision (900) 7,000 15,700
Deferred federal income tax (credit) provision on discontinued operations (4,000) 2,100 1,400
Changes in certain assets and liabilities, net of effects

from acquisitions and dispositions:
Notes and accounts receivable and other current assets 6 (189) (3,080)
Other assets (428) (926) (1,844)
Accounts payable 4,231 1,255 (67)
Accrued expenses and taxes 3,194 (2,714) (11,787)
Long-term liabilities 1,710 4,155 691
Other, net 80 (184) 384

Total adjustments to net earnings 26,660 (6,141) (91,635)

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 34,660 35,459 (42,335)
Cash Flows from investing activities: :
Capirtal expenditures (1,556) (191) (135)
Purchases of investments and marketable securiries (117,798) (16,009) (84,596)
Proceeds from the sale of investments and marketable securities 76,968 37,275 142,794
Cash contributed to subsidiaries for businesses acquired (1,900} (11,287) (44,737)
Change in restricted cash, investments and marketable securities 5,201 1,404 7,121
Other, net — 591 (2,802)

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (39,085) 11,783 17,645
Cash Flows from financing activities:
Sale of 9 7/8% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2011 241,800 —_ —_
Redemprion of 9 7/8% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2004 (207,700) _ P
Repayment of other long-term debt (5,005) — —
Exercise of stock options 1,307 19 657
Purchase of Nortek Common and Special Common Stock (3) (11,776) (14,524)
Other, net 68 52 —_—

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 30,467 (11,703) (13,867)
Net increase (decrease) in unrestricted cash and investments 26,042 35,537 (38,557)
Unrestricted cash and investments at the beginning of the year 57,218 21,681 60,238
Unrestricted cash and invesements at the end of the year $ 83,260 $ 57,218 $ 21,681
Interest paid on indebredness $ 93,785 § 83,946 3 83,947
Net income taxes paid, including amounts paid by subsidiaries $ 4,500 3 19,279 § 25,500

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed financial statements.
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SCHEDULE |
CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE REGISTRANT
Notes to Condensed Financial Statements
December 31, 2001

1. The accompanying condensed financial statements of Nortek, Inc. (“the Registrant”) have been prepared in accordance with
the reduced disclosure requirements permitted by Form 10-K, Part IV, Irem 14, Schedule I - Condensed Financial Information
of the Registrant. The Consolidated Financial Statements and related notes of Nortek, Inc. and Subsidiaries are included else-
where herein in this Form 10-K (Part II, Item 8) and are incorporated herein by reference. Certain amounts have been reclassi-
fied to conform to the 2001 presentation.

2. Descriptions of material contingencies, significant provisions of long-term debt obligations and commitments of the
Registrant are included in Notes 1, 5 and 8 of the Notes to the Nortek, Inc. and Subsidiaries Consolidated Financial Statements,
which are incorporated herein by reference. The following is a summary of maturities of long-term debrt of the Registrant’s debt
obligations, excluding unamortized discount, at December 31, 2001:

(Amounts in thousands)

2003 7
2004 T 3,847
2005 7
2006 —_
Thereafter 945,000

3. The Registrant’s net investment in subsidiaries is net of the cumulative amount of intercompany cash transfers and other trans-
actions, which includes approximately $93,400,000 of notes payable to a subsidiary of Nortek that bear interest at rates ranging
from 8% to 10%. Interest expense of approximately $3,900,000 and $900,000, respectively; related to these notes is included in
interest expense in the accompanying condensed statement of operations for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000.
There was no interest expense charged in 1999.

4. In October 2001, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or
Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” (“SFAS No. 144”). SFAS No. 144 addresses financial accounting and reporting for the impair-
ment or disposal of long-lived assets and does not apply to goodwill or intangible assets that are not being amortized and certain
other long-lived assets. This Statement supersedes Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 121, “Accounting for the
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of,” and the accounting and reporting provisions
of APB Opinion No. 30 “Reporting the Results of Operations — Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business
and Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently Occurring Events and Transactions;” for the disposal of a segment of a business (as
previously defined in that Opinion). This statement also amends ARB No. 51, “Consolidated Financial Statements;’ to eliminate
the exception to consolidation for a subsidiary for which control is likely to be temporary. SFAS No. 144 is effective for financial
statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2001 with early adoption encouraged. The Company adopted
SFAS No. 144 in the third quarter of 2001 and applied this accounting standard as of the beginning of the year. Adoption of this
accounting standard did not result in any material changes in net earnings from accounting standards previously applied.
Adoption of this standard did result in the accounting for the loss on the sale of certain businesses and their related operating
results in 2001 as discontinued operations. Accordingly, the presentation for all periods presented has been reclassified to con-
form with the new standard.

On September 21, 2001, the Company’s Ply Gem Industries, Inc. (“Ply Gem”) subsidiary sold the capital stock of Peachtree
Doors and Windows, Inc. (“Peachtree”) and SNE Enterprises, Inc. (“SNE”) for approximately $45,000,000 and recorded a loss
on the sale of approximately $20,000,000, which is included in the loss from discontinued operations in the accompanying con-
densed statement of operations. Ply Gem used the proceeds to pay down approximately $20,500,000 of outstanding debt under
Ply Gem’s credit facility and for general corporate purposes.

As a result, included in net intercompany balance and investment in subsidiaries as of December 31, 2000 is a net investment in
discontinued operations of $72,732,000 consisting of assets of $126,523,000 and liabilities of $53,791,000 related to the
Company’s indirect net investment in Peachtree and SNE.
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5. Included in the Registrant’s condensed statement of cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 (in
net transfers from subsidiaries, principally cash) are non-cash dividends (declared by subsidiaries’ Board of Directors) from sub-
sidiaries of approximately $280,000,000, $215,000,000 and $250,000,000, respectively.

At December 31, 2001 and 2000, the Company’s subsidiaties, principally Ply Gem, had unrestricted cash and investments and
marketable securities of approximately $123,705,000 and $73,711,000, respectively.

6. Certain of the Registrant’s subsidiaries have entered into financing agreements which contain various restrictive covenants that
place limitations on the amount of distributions and advances to the Registrant. At December 31, 2001, approximately
$394,600,000 (of which approximately $282,500,000 is goodwill) of subsidiary net assets, principally Ply Gem and its sub-
sidiaries, was restricted and approximately $70,500,000 principal amount of subsidiary indebtedness was outstanding under
these financing agreements.

7. The combined liabilities, excluding deferred income taxes, of the Company’s subsidiaries at December 31, 2001 were approx-
imately $467,400,000 consisting of $111,900,000 of short and long-term debt, $123,000,000 of accounts payable and
$232,500,000 of short and long-term accruals, taxes and other obligations (of which approximately $130,000,000 is classified
as short-term).
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§ SCHEDULE Il
“ VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Balance Charged
at to Cost Charged Deduction Balance
Beginning . and to Other From at End
Classification of Year Expense Accounts Reserves of Year

(Amounts in thousands)
For the year-ended
December 31, 1999:
Allowance for doubtful accounts

and sales allowances $ 5,834 $ 3,536 $  643(b) $ (2,206)(a) $ 7,807

For the year-ended
December 31, 2000:
Allowance for doubtful accounts

and sales allowances § 7,807 $ 5,369 $  (63)(b) $ (4,952)(a) $ 8,161

For the year-ended
December 31, 2001:
Allowance for doubtful accounts

. and sales allowances $ 8,161 $5,518 $  (42)(b) $ (3,143)(a) $ 10,494

(@) Amounts written off, net of recoveries

() Other
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Exhibit Index

Exhibits marked with an asterisk are filed herewith. The remainder of the exhibits have heretofore been filed with the
Commission and are incorporated herein by reference. Exhibits marked with a double asterisk identify each management con-

tract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
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**10.4

**10.5

**10.6

**10.7

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Nortek, Inc. (Exhibit 2 to Form 8-K filed April 23, 1987, File No. 1-6112).

Amendment to Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Nortek, Inc. effective May 10, 1989 (Exhibit 3.2 to Form
10-K filed March 30, 1990, File No. 1-6112).

By-laws of Nortek, Inc. (as amended through September 19, 1996) (Exhibit 3.3 to Form 10-Q filed November 5, 1996,
File No. 1-6112).

Amendment to By-laws of Nortek, Inc. (Exhibit 3.1 to Form 8-K filed April 23, 1999, File No. 1-6112).

Second Amended and Restated Rights Agreement dated as of April 1, 1996 between the Company and State Street
Bank and Trust Company, as Righes Agent (Exhibit 1 to Form 8-K filed April 2, 1996, File No. 1-6112).

Indenture dated as of June 12, 2001 between the Company and State Street Bank and Trust Company, as Trustee,
relating to the 9 7/8% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2011 (Exhibit 4.1 to Registration Statement No. 333-64130
filed July 11, 2001).

Indenture dated as of March 17, 1997 between the Company and State Street Bank and Trust Company, as Trustee,
relating to the 9 1/4% Series A and Series B Senior Notes due March 13, 2007 (Exhibit 4.2 to Registration Statement
No. 333-25505 filed April 18, 1997).

Indenture dated as of Augusf 26, 1997 between the Company and State Street Bank and Trust Company, as Trustee,
relating to the 9 1/8% Series A and Series B Senior Notes due September 1, 2007 (Exhibit 4.1 to Registration
Stacement No. 333-36711 filed Seprember 30, 1997).

Indenture dated as of July 31, 1998 between the Company and State Street Bank and Trust Company, as Trustee, relat-
ing to the 8 7/8% Series A and Series B Senior Notes due August 1, 2008 (Exhibit 4.1 to Registration Statement No.
333-64731 filed September 30, 1998).

Employment Agreement between Richard L. Bready and the Company, dated as of January 1, 1984 (Exhibit 10.2 to
Form 10-K filed March 31, 1986, File No. 1-6112).

Amendment dated as of March 3, 1988 to Employment Agreement between Richard L. Bready and the Company
dated as of January 1, 1984 (Exhibit 19.2 to Form 10-Q filed May 17, 1988, File No. 1-6112).

Second Amendment dated as of November 1, 1990 to Employment Agreement between Richard L. Bready and the
Company dated as of January 1, 1984 (Exhibit 10.3 to Form 10-K filed April 1, 1991, File No. 1-6112).

Employment Agreement between Richard L. Bready and the Company dated as of February 26, 1997 (Exhibit 10.3
to Form 10-Q) filed May 12, 1997, File No. 1-6112).

Amendment No. 1 dated June 13, 1997 to Employment Agreement between Richard L. Bready and the Company
dated as of February 26, 1997 (Exhibit 10.2 to Form 10-Q filed August 8, 1997, File No. 1-6112).

Amendment No. 2 dated June 30, 1998 to Employment Agreement between Richard L. Bready and the Company
dated as of February 26, 1997 (Exhibit 10.1 to Form 10-Q/A filed December 1, 1998, File No. 1-6112).

Amended and Restated Deferred Compensation Agreement dated as of June 1, 2001 between Richard L. Bready and
the Company (Exhibit 10.2 to Form 10-Q filed August 10, 2001, File No. 1-6112).
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NORTEK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Amended and Restated Deferred Compensation Agreement dated as of June 1, 2001 between Almon C. Hall and the
Company (Exhibit 10.3 to Form 10-Q filed August 10, 2001, File No. 1-6112).

1984 Stock Option Plan, as amended through May 27, 1987 (Exhibit 28.2 to Registration Statement No. 33-22527
filed June 15, 1988).

Change in Control Severance Benefit Plan for Key Employees adopted February 10,1986, and form of agreement with
employees (Exhibit 10.19 to Form 10-K filed March 31, 1986, File No. 1-6112).

Change in Control Severance Benefit Plan for Key Employees as Amended and Restated June 12, 1997, and form of
agreement with employees (Exhibit 10.1 to Form 10-Q filed August 8, 1997, file No. 1-6112).

1987 Stack Option Plan (Exhibit 28.3 to Registration Statement No. 33-22527 filed June 15, 1988).

1997 Equity and Cash Incentive Plan (Exhibit 10.1 to Form 10-Q filed May 12, 1997, File No. 1-6112).

1997 Stock Option Plan for Directors (Exhibit 10.2 to Form 10-Q filed May 12, 1997, File No. 1-6112).

1998 Equity and Cash Incentive Plan (Exhibit 10.1 to Form 10-Q filed August 18, 1998, File No. 1-6112).

1999 Equity and Cash Incentive Plan (Exhibit 4.1 to Registration Statement No. 333-79651 filed May 28, 1999).
2000 Equity and Cash Incentive Plan (Exhibit 4.1 to Registration Statement No. 333-36386 filed May 5, 2000).
2000 Stock Option Plan for Directors (Exhibit 4.2 to Registration Statement No. 333-36386 filed May 5, 2000).
2001 Equity and Cash Incentive Plan (Exhibit 4.1 to Registration Statement No. 333-66740 filed August 3, 2001).
Nortek, Inc. amended and restated Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan effective February 11, 2002.

Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Company and its directors and certain officers (Appendix C to
Proxy Statement dated March 23, 1987 for Annual Meeting of Nortek Stockholders, File No. 1-6112).

1999 Equity Performance Plan approved July 1, 1999 (Exhibir 10.21 to Form 10-K filed March 9, 2000, File No. 1-
6112).

Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of August 26, 1997 and restated as of December 30, 1998,
among Ply Gem Industries, Inc., Fleet National Bank, as Agent, and the banks signatory thereto (Exhibit 10.19 to
Form 10-K filed March 30, 1999, File No. 1-6112).

First Amendment dated as of April 22, 1999 to Second Amended & Restated Credit Agreement dated as of August
26, 1997 and restated as of December 30, 1998 among Ply Gem Industries, Inc., Fleet National Bank, as Agent, and
the banks signatory thereto (Exhibit 10.23 to Form 10-K filed March 9, 2000, File No. 1-6112).

Second Amendment dated as of September 9, 1999 to Second Amended & Restated Credit Agreement dated as of
August 26, 1997 and restated as of December 30, 1998, among Ply Gem Industries, Inc., Fleet National Bank, as
Agent, and the banks signatory thereto (Exhibit 10.24 to Form 10-K filed March 9, 2000, File No. 1-6112).

Third Amendment dated as of September 29, 2000 to Second Amended & Restated Credit Agreement dated as of
August 26, 1997 and restated as of December 30, 1998, among Ply Gem Industries, Inc., Fleet National Bank, as
Agent, and the banks signatory thereto (Exhibit 10.1 to Form 10-Q filed November 13, 2000, File No. 1-6112).

Split Dollar Agreement dated as of December 28, 2001 by and between Nortek, Inc. and Douglass N. Ellis, Jr. for
himself and his successors in office as trustee of The Richard L. Bready 1996 Irrevocable Trust (filed herewith).
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NORTEK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Confirmatory Split Dollar Agreement No. 2 dated as of December 31, 1996 between the Company and Richard
L. Bready, together with appendix prepared by the Company (Exhibit 10.5 to Form 10-Q filed August 11, 2000, File
No. 1-6112).

First Amendment dated as of September 15, 1997 to Confirmatory Split Dollar Agreement No. 2 dated as of
December 31, 1996 between the Company and Richard L. Bready (Exhibit 10.6 to Form 10-Q filed August 11, 2000,
File No. 1-6112)}.

Split Dollar Agreement dated as of June 29, 1999 berween the Company and Douglass N. Ellis, Jr. as trustee of The
Richard L. Bready and Cheryl A. Bready 1998 Irrevocable Trust, together with appendix prepared by the Company
(Exhibit 10.7 to Form 10-Q filed August 11, 2000, File No. 1-6112).

Split Dollar Agreement dated as of June 29, 1999 berween the Company and Almon C. Hall, together with appen-
dix prepared by the Company (Exhibit 10.8 to Form 10-Q filed August 11, 2000, File No. 1-6112).

Split Dollar Agreement dated as of June 29, 1999 between the Company and Mark Richard Harris and Pamela Jean
Harris as trustees of the Richard ]. and Carole M. Harris 1999 Irrevocable Trust, together with appendix prepared by
the Company (Exhibit 10.9 to Form 10-Q filed August 11, 2000, File No. 1-6112).

List of subsidiaries.

Consent of Independent Public Accountants.
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Richard L. Bready

Phillip L. Cohen
Financial Consultant
Certified Public Accountant

Richard J. Harris
Retired Executive of the Company

William 1. Kelly
Managing Director
American Express

Tax and Business Services
Boston Region

J. Peter Lyons
Chairman, The Lyons Companies
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Chairman, President

and Chief Executive Officer

Edward J. Cooney™

Treasurer

Kevin W, Donnelly*
Vice President, General Counsel
and Secretary

Bruce E. Fleming
Vice President
Corporate Development

Almon C. Hall*
Vice President, Controller
and Chief Accounting Officer
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Executive Vice President

and Chief Operating Officer
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Inquiries, including requests for single
copies of the Company’s filings with the
Securities and Exchange Commission,
may be directed as follows:

Investor Relations

Nortek, Inc.

50 Kennedy Plaza
Providence, RI 02903-2360
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